Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: July 6, 2022 ACCEPTED: August 17, 2022 PUBLISHED: September 20, 2022

# Relativistic fluids, hydrodynamic frames and their Galilean versus Carrollian avatars

Anastasios C. Petkou,<sup>a</sup> P. Marios Petropoulos,<sup>b</sup> David Rivera-Betancour<sup>b</sup> and Konstantinos Siampos<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Division of Theoretical Physics, School of Physics, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, 54124 Thessaloniki, Greece

<sup>b</sup>Centre de Physique Théorique — CPHT, Ecole Polytechnique, CNRS, Unité Mixte de Recherche UMR 7644, Institut Polytechnique de Paris 91128 Palaiseau Cedex, France
<sup>c</sup>Department of Nuclear and Particle Physics, Faculty of Physics, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, 15784 Athens, Greece
E-mail: petkou@auth.gr, marios.petropoulos@polytechnique.edu,

*L-mail*: petkou@autn.gr, marios.petropoulos@polytechnique.edu david.rivera-betancour@polytechnique.edu, konstantinos.siampos@phys.uoa.gr

ABSTRACT: We comprehensively study Galilean and Carrollian hydrodynamics on arbitrary backgrounds, in the presence of a matter/charge conserved current. For this purpose, we follow two distinct and complementary paths. The first is based on local invariance, be it Galilean or Carrollian diffeomorphism invariance, possibly accompanied by Weyl invariance. The second consists in analyzing the relativistic fluid equations at large or small speed of light, after choosing an adapted gauge, Arnowitt-Deser-Misner-Zermelo for the former and Papapetrou-Randers for the latter. Unsurprisingly, the results agree, but the second approach is superior as it effortlessly captures more elaborate situations with multiple degrees of freedom. It furthermore allows to investigate the fate of hydrodynamic-frame invariance in the two limits at hand, and conclude that its breaking (in the Galilean) or its preservation (in the Carrollian) are fragile consequences of the behaviour of transport attributes at large or small c. Both methods do also agree on the doom of Noetherian currents generated in the relativistic theory by isometries: conserved currents are not always guaranteed in Newton-Cartan or Carroll spacetimes as a consequence of Galilean or Carrollian isometries. Comparison of Galilean and Carrollian fluid equations exhibits a striking but often superficial resemblance, which we comment in relation to black-hole horizon dynamics, awkwardly akin to Navier-Stokes equations. This congruity is authentic in one instance though and turns out then to describe Aristotelian dynamics, which is the last item in our agenda.

KEYWORDS: Classical Theories of Gravity, Holography and Hydrodynamics, Space-Time Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2205.09142





# Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	Relativistic hydrodynamics	5
	2.1 Basic concepts and general equations	5
	2.2 Fluids in Zermelo coordinates	12
	2.3 Fluids in Papapetrou-Randers coordinates	16
3	Galilean fluid dynamics	19
	3.1 Newton-Cartan manifolds and general Galilean covariance	19
	3.2 Galilean hydrodynamics as a non-relativistic limit	29
	3.3 A comment on Galilean conservation versus non-relativistic limit	38
	3.4 Massless carriers and Weyl properties	41
4	Carrollian fluid dynamics	48
	4.1 Carroll structures and general Carrollian covariance	48
	4.2 Carrollian hydrodynamics from relativistic fluids — I	58
	4.3 Carrollian hydrodynamics from relativistic fluids — II	65
<b>5</b>	Aristotelian dynamics 6	
6	Conclusions	75
$\mathbf{A}$	A primer on thermodynamics	
в	Carrollian momenta and hydrodynamic-frame invariance	81
С	Free motion	82
D	From conservation to potential non-conservation	85
	D.1 Galilean law from infinite speed of light	85
	D.2 Carrollian law from zero speed of light	86

# 1 Introduction

Fluid dynamics is 19th century physics par excellence. It has been thoroughly investigated, expanded and applied in various areas, but continues to raise questions and challenges, which are sometimes conceptual. In relativistic fluids for example, the issue of hydrodynamic-frame invariance is rather subtle. It reflects the freedom to choose arbitrarily the velocity of the fluid, and is rooted in the impossibility to distinguish the mass flow from the energy flow in

a relativistic system. This invariance was made popular by Landau and Lifshitz in their formulation of dissipative relativistic hydrodynamics without heat current [1], as opposed to the first formalism for relativistic fluids due to Eckart [2]. The freedom to set freely the velocity field has drawbacks recognized long ago, when implemented in the linearized (or, more generally, truncated) constitutive relations, which accompany the fluid equations of motion. A comprehensive presentation of the subject can be found in [3–6], where the main difficulties, namely causality, stability and shock structure, are discussed in length.<sup>1</sup> More recent progress has been reported in [9–19], showing that the debate is still ongoing. It is worth stressing that the above phenomenological descriptions of out-of-equilibrium phenomena are enshrined by relativistic kinetic theory. In particular, the various quoted formalisms — Eckart, Landau-Lifshitz or others — arise using the relativistic Boltzmann's equation. Further reading on this subject is proposed in [20–23].

Hydrodynamic-frame invariance has also emerged in a slightly more formal context. The asymptotic isometries of the gravitational field in general relativity<sup>2</sup> are related to the symmetries of a fictitious fluid defined on the conformal boundary.<sup>3</sup> When the gravitational field is asymptotically anti-de Sitter, the boundary is time-like and the dual fluid is relativistic. A local transformation of the fluid velocity amounts to a diffeomorphism on the gravitational side. For an asymptotically flat gravitational field, the boundary is null and the associated fluid is Carrollian [28]. Does the hydrodynamic-frame invariance survive in that case and does it share the above relationship with the asymptotic isometries? Similarly, and irrespective of any bearing to gravity, why is hydrodynamic-frame invariance lost in ordinary Galilean fluids, where the velocity and the mass density are measurable quantities?

The purpose of the present work is to elaborate on properties of Galilean and Carrollian fluids, in the spirit and as a follow up of ref. [29]. This includes the discussion of hydrodynamic-frame invariance, the addition of a conserved current and its associated chemical potential, the interpretation of Galilean and Carrollian fluid equations as conservation laws stemming out of appropriate diffeomorphism invariances, and the dearth of conservation properties ensuing isometries.

The emergence of Carrollian physics goes back to the works of Lévy-Leblond [30] and Sen Gupta [31]. The Carroll group is an ultra-relativistic contraction of Poincaré group. It is dual to the better-known non-relativistic contraction, the Galilean group.<sup>4</sup> Carrollian symmetry has triggered interest in several directions. On the mathematical side, new geometric structures were discovered *dubbed Carrollian manifolds* [32–46], following patterns similar to those leading to the Galilean duals i.e. the Newton-Cartan geometries. From a more physical perspective, the connection of Carrollian symmetry with asymptotic isometries of Ricci-flat gravitational backgrounds and in particular its role in the growing subject of flat holography have attracted outmost attention [47–56].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Modern textbooks on fluid mechanics are e.g. [7, 8].

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ See e.g. the lecture notes [24] for a recent review and further references on this subject.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This fluid is often referred to as "dual" or "holographic" — see refs. [25-27] for the precise symmetry interplay and a complete bibliography of fluid/gravity holographic correspondence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>On a purely semantic vein, the given names "relativistic, ultra-relativistic, non-relativistic" are all unfortunate, as pointed out with brio by Jean-Marc Lévy-Leblond. Although it is probably too late to give up the first, one should try to replace the others by *Carrollian* and *Galilean*. Incidentally, Niels Obers and Stefan Vandoren rightfully insist on the ultra-local nature of the Carrollian limit.

Ordinary, Galilean fluid dynamics is the non-relativistic limit of relativistic hydrodynamics. It was originally circumscribed to three-dimensional Euclidean space with absolute time i.e. to the strict Newtonian framework with full Galilean isometry. Efforts have been made to evade this restriction [57–66] and finally reach the general equations describing a nonrelativistic viscous fluid moving on a space endowed with a spatial, time-dependent metric, and covariant under Galilean diffeomorphisms such as t' = t'(t) and  $\mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}'(t, \mathbf{x})$  [29, 67].<sup>5</sup>

The more exotic Carrollian fluids are "flowing" on Carrollian manifolds and their equations of motion are invariant under Carrollian coordinate transformations,  $t' = t'(t, \mathbf{x})$  and  $\mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}'(\mathbf{x})$ . Although particle motion is forbidden due to the shrinking of the light cone, and despite the absence of a microscopic analysis based on thermodynamics or kinetic theory, the dynamics for a continuous medium seems to make formally sense, involving an "inverse velocity," energy density, pressure etc. The first instance where Carrollian fluids were quoted is ref. [70]. There, it was realized that contrary to a forty-year lore, Einstein dynamics on black-hole horizons and the associated membrane paradigm were not related to the Navier-Stokes equations, but instead to their Carrollian duals. This observation was further discussed in [71], and aspects of Carrollian hydrodynamics were analyzed in [72–77]. It is fair to repeat that this sort of fluids lack of microscopic settlement and laboratory applications. Nevertheless, their dynamical equations emerge in various instances where null hypersurfaces are at work, and this justifies a thorough investigation.

The hydrodynamic equations for Galilean or Carrollian fluids were obtained in [29] as limits of the fully covariant relativistic equations on general pseudo-Riemannian manifolds. For the Galilean case, the suitable form of the metric was Zermelo, whereas Papapetrou-Randers was better adapted to the Carrollian limit. These metrics are indeed form-invariant under Galilean or Carrollian diffeomorphisms respectively (see [78] for further properties). Our study is performed here in the presence of a conserved current, which contributes the dynamics, and fosters the attainment of the Galilean continuity equation. The infinite or vanishing velocity limits are accompanied with some assumptions on the behaviour of the physical quantities such as energy density, heat current or stress tensor, including important sub-leading terms. We show that the resilience or the failure of the relativistic hydrodynamic-frame invariance in the non-relativistic or ultra-relativistic limits are closely tied to those behaviours. In a nutshell our conclusions can be summarized as follows. For the Carrollian case, the behaviours at vanishing velocity of light are suggested by the experience acquired with holographic fluids, and turn out to be compatible with hydrodynamic-frame invariance. This is no longer true in the Galilean limit, where the rules are dictated by non-relativistic physics and disrupt this invariance, unless one concedes to give up matter conservation and at the cost of altering the Navier-Stokes equations.

The relativistic hydrodynamic equations, namely the vanishing of the covariant energymomentum tensor divergence, translate the invariance of some effective action with respect to general diffeomorphisms  $t' = t'(t, \mathbf{x})$  and  $\mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}'(t, \mathbf{x})$ . Similarly, Galilean or Carrollian equations can be reached upon imposing the corresponding diffeomorphism invariance on the effective actions. The energy-momentum tensor is in these cases traded for other generalized

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See also [68, 69] for a discussion on symmetries.

momenta adapted to the local symmetries at hand. Our analysis, performed along the lines of [79], reveals subtleties and slightly differ in comparison with the large-c or small-c limits of the relativistic theory. This betrays that when considering these limits, as opposed to working with action principles directly in Newton-Cartan or Carrollian spacetimes, more information is stored in the equations, and more constraints emerge due to the larger original local invariance. Specifically, Galilean mass conservation (continuity equation) is built in (as shown in [29]) irrespective of extra matter current conservation. This confirms that the most striving and economical approach for reaching the dynamical equations is indeed the one based on the limiting procedure, originally used in [29], which can be even extended at wish for incorporating naturally more degrees of freedom, which would require more conjugate variables in the Galilean or Carrollian action principles.

In order to deliver a comprehensive picture of the web of dynamics emanating upon contractions of the plain relativistic group and their associate spacetimes, we briefly venture out and explore the realm of Aristotelian geometries. Introduced by Penrose in [80], they became suddenly popular because they do not possess any boost invariance (see e.g. [74, 76, 81–83]). The absence of boosts<sup>6</sup> features that both time and space are absolute in these geometries. Hence motion and light cone are trivialized, and the notion of fluid becomes even more questionable than in the Carrollian framework. Nonetheless, dynamics can be defined from invariance principles — no limit involving the speed of light exists that would connect Aristotelian spacetimes to relativistic theories — and is worth investigating as it appears to stand at the intersection of Galilean and Carrollian physics.

When discussing dynamics in general, and fluid dynamics in particular, part of the duty is to exhibit conserved quantities. These are generally the consequence of symmetries, but this concept should be scrutinized on a case-by-case basis. In a relativistic theory, any (conformal) Killing field provides a conserved current upon contraction with a (traceless) conserved energy-momentum tensor. We prove that this is no longer systematically true for Galilean or Carrollian hydrodynamics, and for instance, boosts present in flat space are not spared — this would be circumvented in Aristotelian spacetimes if boosts were available. Hence Noetherian currents in Newton-Cartan or Carroll manifolds arise for a restricted subset of isometries. This is an important spin-off of our study, that compromises former attempts to describe hydrodynamics in flat Newton-Cartan or Carroll spacetimes on the ground of Noetherian conservation laws.

An executive outline of the present work is as follows. We remind the basics on relativistic fluids in the presence of a conserved matter current with emphasis on hydrodynamic-frame invariance. This analysis is further expanded into two distinct frames, the Zermelo and Papapetrou-Randers, appropriate for the subsequent investigation about Galilean and Carrollian fluids. Galilean fluids are first studied from the conservation perspective mirroring the Galilean-diffeomorphism invariance of Newton-Cartan spacetimes with emphasis on the effect of isometries, when present in the background; next as the infinite-c limit of the relativistic hydrodynamics in Zermelo frame. Hydrodynamic-frame invariance is revisited and we move next to the Galilean massless case. The current analysis is repeated along

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ The associated group is the *static group*, introduced in [84].

cognate lines for Carrollian fluid dynamics with a paragraph specifically devoted to the possible multiplication of degrees of freedom in the zero-c limit. Finally we describe the case of Aristotelian fluids in a short section before concluding.

The subject of hydrodynamic-frame invariance and Carrollian fluids has been lately in the spotlight. Some debatable statements have been promoted in the literature, and our views are not always in line with those of other authors. Wherever necessary, we stress it and provide the adequate elements to make the comparison clear and avoid confusion. Our approach is meant to be a constructive criticism, and we intentionally supply a wealth of technical details, some appended in four sections, to back-up our conclusions, sometimes at the expense of considerably increased length.

# 2 Relativistic hydrodynamics

## 2.1 Basic concepts and general equations

# Energy-momentum and matter conservation

Fluid mechanics is the description of irreversible off-equilibrium thermodynamics under the assumption that the wave lengths of dynamical phenomena are large compared to typical kinetic scales. It is thus legitimate to assume local thermal equilibrium and use the laws of thermostatics (recalled in appendix A), although the definitions of temperature, chemical potential, entropy etc. are possibly questionable, or at least ambiguous.

Without external forces and springs or sinks of matter, the basic requirements are covariant energy-momentum and matter (rather than mass) macroscopic conservation, encoded in the following d + 2 equations:<sup>7</sup>

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

where we assume the spacetime, of dimension d + 1, be equipped with a metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . The energy-momentum tensor and the matter current can be decomposed along a vector congruence  $u^{\mu}$  playing the role of velocity field normalized as  $u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -c^2$ :

$$T^{\mu\nu} = (\varepsilon + p)\frac{u^{\mu}u^{\nu}}{c^2} + pg^{\mu\nu} + \tau^{\mu\nu} + \frac{u^{\mu}q^{\nu}}{c^2} + \frac{u^{\nu}q^{\mu}}{c^2}, \qquad (2.3)$$

$$J^{\mu} = \varrho_0 u^{\mu} + j^{\mu}. \tag{2.4}$$

The viscous stress tensor  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$  and the heat current  $q^{\mu}$  are purely transverse:

$$u^{\mu}q_{\mu} = 0, \qquad u^{\mu}\tau_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad u^{\mu}T_{\mu\nu} = -q_{\nu} - \varepsilon u_{\nu}, \qquad \varepsilon = \frac{1}{c^2}T_{\mu\nu}u^{\mu}u^{\nu}.$$
 (2.5)

They are expressed in terms of  $u^i$  and their spatial components  $q_i$  and  $\tau_{ij}$  with i = 1, 2, ..., d. Similarly is the imperfect particle current from its components  $j_i$ , since

$$u^{\mu}j_{\mu} = 0, \quad \varrho_0 = -\frac{1}{c^2}u^{\mu}J_{\mu}.$$
 (2.6)

In the above expressions — see also appendix A

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$ Matter conservation could be multiple, or even absent as e.g. in a gas of photons, although no principle forbids the existence of conserved currents in fluids made of massless carriers — see appendix A.

- $\varepsilon$  and  $\rho_0$  are the energy and the matter per unit of proper volume, as measured by an observer moving at velocity  $u^{\mu}$  (comoving);
- $\varepsilon$  and  $\rho_0$  are related and so are  $T^{\mu\nu}$  and  $J^{\mu}$ ;
- p is the local-equilibrium thermodynamic pressure obeying an equation of state of the form  $p = p(T, \mu_0)$ , where T and  $\mu_0$  are the local temperature and chemical potential;
- the quantities  $j_i$ ,  $q_i$  and  $\tau_{ij}$  capture the physical properties of the out of equilibrium state, and are usually expressed as expansions in temperature, chemical potential and velocity derivatives: the constitutive relations in their hydrodynamic expansion.

It is worth recalling that from the perspective of an effective action<sup>8</sup>  $S = \frac{1}{c} \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \mathscr{L}$ , the energy-momentum tensor is defined as

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g_{\mu\nu}},\tag{2.7}$$

whereas for the matter current, a U(1) gauge field with components  $B_{\mu}$  is needed:

$$J^{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta B_{\mu}}.$$
(2.8)

On the one hand, invariance under diffeomorphisms generated by arbitrary vector fields  $\xi = \xi^{\mu}(t, \mathbf{x})\partial_{\mu}$  as

$$\delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} = -\mathcal{L}_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = \xi^{\rho}\partial_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu} + g_{\mu\rho}\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\rho} + g_{\nu\rho}\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\rho} = \nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\mu}, \qquad (2.10)$$

implies the conservation equation (2.1). On the other hand, the matter-conservation equation (2.2) is a consequence of invariance under

$$\delta_{\Lambda}B_{\mu} = -\partial_{\mu}\Lambda \tag{2.11}$$

with  $\Lambda = \Lambda(t, \mathbf{x})$ .

It is important to stress at this early stage that we do not assume any isometry, neither here, nor in the subsequent limiting geometries. The energy-momentum tensor and the current should not be confused with any sort of Noetherian currents, and their conservation is a direct consequence of local invariances. This should be opposed to other approaches presented in the quoted literature.

#### Isometries, conformal isometries and extra conservations

If  $\xi = \xi^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}$  is a Killing field it obeys

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{2.12}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>As usual  $\frac{1}{c} \mathrm{d}^{d+1} x = \mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^d$ .

Hence, due to (2.1), the current defined as

$$I_{\mu} = \xi^{\nu} T_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.13}$$

is divergence-free

$$\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = 0. \tag{2.14}$$

Using Stokes and Gauss theorems,

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} \mathrm{d}^{d+1} x \sqrt{-g} \, \nabla_{\mu} I^{\mu} = \oint_{\partial \mathcal{W}} * \mathrm{I}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where  $\mathcal{W}$  is a domain inside  $\mathcal{M}$  and \*I is the  $\mathcal{M}$ -Hodge dual of  $I = I_{\mu} dx^{\mu}$  ( $\epsilon_{01...d} = 1$ ), we infer that

$$Q_I = \frac{1}{c} \int_{\Sigma_d} *\mathbf{I} \tag{2.16}$$

is conserved. Here,  $\Sigma_d$  is an arbitrary space-like hypersurface of  $\mathcal{M}$ , and "conserved" means that the value of  $Q_I$  is independent of the choice of  $\Sigma_d$ .<sup>9</sup>

When the energy-momentum is trace-free

$$T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = 0, \tag{2.17}$$

a conformal isometry suffices for producing a conservation, along the lines described above. The conformal Killing satisfies

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{d+1}\nabla_{\rho}\xi^{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.18)

#### Entropy current and entropy equation

The variational definitions of the energy-momentum tensor and the matter current as conjugate momenta to some elementary background fields are elegant and general as we will see in the forthcoming sections, but not indispensable. The physics of the fluid relies in fact on the decomposition of these momenta into observable quantities, expressed themselves as derivative expansions, and this requires more information than the knowledge of local symmetries. To this, one should add that the entropy current  $S^{\mu}$  is yet another physical object, which has no variational definition of the sort (2.7) or (2.8). It has actually no microscopic definition such as an expectation value of some observable, but is built order by order in the derivative expansion,<sup>10</sup> requiring among others that its divergence (or, alternatively for theories which incorporate memory effects, the integrated divergence) be non-negative. The generic form of the entropy current is

$$S^{\mu} = \frac{1}{T} \left( p u^{\mu} - T^{\mu\nu} u_{\nu} - \mu_0 J^{\mu} \right) + R^{\mu} = \Sigma^{\mu} + R^{\mu}, \qquad (2.19)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>If  $\Sigma_d$  belongs to a family of hypersurfaces defined as  $\tau(t, \mathbf{x}) = \text{const.}$ , the conservation is expressed as  $\frac{dQ_I}{d\tau} = 0$ . This needs not be so though, and the wording "conservation" is to some extent reductive, as no reference to time is needed. Care should also be taken with the behaviour of the fields at spatial infinity and if  $\Sigma_d$  has itself a boundary.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ The first order is often referred to as *classical irreversible thermodynamics*, the second *extended irreversible thermodynamics*, etc.

where  $\Sigma^{\mu}$  is a kind of universal piece of the current, and  $R^{\mu}$  depends on the specific off-equilibrium thermodynamic theory. Using (2.5), (2.6), (A.3) and (A.5),  $\Sigma^{\mu}$  is recast as follows:

$$\Sigma^{\mu} = \sigma u^{\mu} - \frac{\mu_0}{T} j^{\mu} + \frac{1}{T} q^{\mu} = \frac{\sigma}{\varrho_0} J^{\mu} - \frac{w}{T \varrho_0} \left( j^{\mu} - \frac{\varrho_0}{w} q^{\mu} \right)$$
(2.20)

with  $\sigma$  the entropy, w the relativistic enthalpy (A.3) and  $\mu_0$  the relativistic chemical potential.

It is convenient, both for the relativistic dynamics and for its Galilean or Carrollian limits, to consider the longitudinal and transverse projections of (2.1), possibly combined with (2.2) and the thermodynamic laws (A.5), (A.6) and (A.8) in order to trade the energy for the entropy. For the longitudinal projection, we find:<sup>11</sup>

$$-u_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = \mathbf{u}(\varepsilon) + \left(w + \frac{\tau}{d}\right)\Theta + \tau^{\mu\nu}\sigma_{\mu\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}q^{\nu} + \frac{a_{\nu}q^{\nu}}{c^{2}}, \qquad (2.21)$$

$$= T\nabla_{\nu}\Sigma^{\nu} + \frac{\tau}{d}\Theta + \tau^{\mu\nu}\sigma_{\mu\nu} + Tj^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}\frac{\mu_{0}}{T} + q^{\nu}\left(\frac{\partial_{\nu}T}{T} + \frac{a_{\nu}}{c^{2}}\right), \qquad (2.22)$$

where  $\tau = \tau^{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu}$  is the *relativistic non-equilibrium pressure* and u(f) stands for  $u^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}f$ . We have also introduced the following kinematical tensors:<sup>12</sup>

$$a_{\mu} = u^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} u_{\mu}, \qquad \Theta = \nabla_{\mu} u^{\mu}, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\sigma_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{(\mu} u_{\nu)} + \frac{1}{c^2} u_{(\mu} a_{\nu)} - \frac{1}{d} \Theta h_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.24)$$

$$\omega_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{[\mu} u_{\nu]} + \frac{1}{c^2} u_{[\mu} a_{\nu]}, \qquad (2.25)$$

which are the acceleration, the expansion, the shear and the vorticity of the velocity field, with  $h_{\mu\nu}$  and  $U_{\mu\nu}$  the projectors onto the space transverse and longitudinal to the velocity field:

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{u_{\mu}u_{\nu}}{c^2} + g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad U_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{u_{\mu}u_{\nu}}{c^2}.$$
 (2.26)

# Relativistic hydrodynamic-frame invariance

The absence of sharp distinction between energy and mass flow in relativistic theories brings some redundancy in the above fluid data such as  $q^{\mu}$  and  $j^{\mu}$ . In his seminal theory of relativistic fluids [2], Eckart shed this redundancy by making the choice  $j^{\mu} = 0$ , whereas Landau and Lifshitz [1] required instead  $q^{\mu} = 0$ . It is more generally admitted that one has the freedom to redefine

$$T(x) \to T'(x), \qquad \mu_0(x) \to \mu'_0(x), \qquad u^{\mu}(x) \to u^{\mu'}(x), \qquad (2.27)$$

provided we modify accordingly  $\varepsilon(x)$ , p(x),  $\varrho_0(x)$ ,  $q^{\mu}(x)$ ,  $\tau^{\mu\nu}(x)$  and  $j^{\mu}(x)$  so that the energy-momentum tensor, the conserved current and the entropy current remain unaltered. This is the gauge symmetry, associated with local Lorentz transformations, known as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>This is the generalization of eq. (127,5) in [1] for general gravitational backgrounds and in an arbitrary hydrodynamic frame.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Our conventions for (anti-) symmetrization are  $A_{(\mu\nu)} = \frac{1}{2} (A_{\mu\nu} + A_{\nu\mu})$  and  $A_{[\mu\nu]} = \frac{1}{2} (A_{\mu\nu} - A_{\nu\mu})$ .

*hydrodynamic-frame invariance*. It translates, that the velocity field has no first-principle definition in relativistic hydrodynamics.<sup>13</sup>

It should be stressed here that irrespective of the aforementioned local Lorentz freedom, dealing with out-of-equilibrium phenomena brings its share of indetermination. Once the global equilibrium is abandoned, thermodynamic functions become local and their very existence relies on local thermodynamic equilibrium. They are furthermore supposed to be slow-varying for hydrodynamics to make sense. Nonetheless, even within these assumptions, for non-perfect fluids, neither p(x),  $\varepsilon(x)$  and  $\rho_0(x)$  appearing in the fluid equations, nor T(x) and  $\mu_0(x)$  entering the constitutive relations need a priori to be identified with the corresponding local-equilibrium thermodynamic quantities. We have made that choice here, and we will not further discuss this side of hydrodynamic-frame invariance, but rather focus on the kinematical aspects. More information can be found in the already quoted literature, and in particular in [10–19].

Suppose we perform a local Lorentz transformation on the fluid, i.e. a transformation on the velocity vector field

$$\mathbf{u} \to \mathbf{u} + \delta \mathbf{u}, \quad \delta \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0.$$
 (2.28)

One can transform accordingly the various pieces that appear in the decomposition of  $T_{\mu\nu}$  (2.3) so that  $\delta T_{\mu\nu} = 0$ :<sup>14</sup>

$$\delta\varepsilon = -\frac{2}{c^2}q^{\mu}\delta u_{\mu}, \qquad (2.29)$$

$$\delta q_{\nu} = \frac{u_{\nu}}{c^2} q^{\mu} \delta u_{\mu} - w \,\delta u_{\nu} - \tau_{\nu\mu} \delta u^{\mu}, \qquad (2.30)$$

$$\delta \left( ph_{\mu\nu} + \tau_{\mu\nu} \right) = \frac{p}{c^2} \left( u_{\mu} \delta u_{\nu} + u_{\nu} \delta u_{\mu} \right) + \frac{1}{c^2} \left( u_{\mu} \tau_{\nu\rho} + u_{\nu} \tau_{\mu\rho} \right) \delta u^{\rho} - \frac{1}{c^2} \left( \delta u^{\mu} q^{\nu} + \delta u^{\nu} q^{\mu} \right).$$
(2.31)

Similarly, in the presence of a matter current, one requires  $\delta J_{\mu} = 0$ , and using (2.4) one obtains:

$$\delta j_{\mu} = -u_{\mu} \delta \varrho_0 - \varrho_0 \delta u_{\mu}. \tag{2.32}$$

The interplay between the energy-momentum tensor and the matter current is ensured by the thermodynamic laws and the entropy current. The latter must also be hydrodynamicframe-invariant, as are the thermodynamic relations, in particular the Gibbs-Duhem equation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>In fact, the two extreme options embraced by Eckart and Landau-Lifshitz may not be achievable in all systems. The former demands a time-like conserved current  $J^{\mu}$  and selects a velocity field aligned with it. The latter requires that the energy-momentum tensor has a time-like eigenvector with positive eigenvalue and alignes the velocity with this eigenvector. In both cases, the defining assumption is reasonable, and the output unique, leaving no residual hydrodynamic-frame invariance. The equivalence amongst these frames relies on a deep interplay between the energy-momentum and the conserved current, when it exists. This interplay reveals in thermodynamics and specifically in the entropy current. However, although equivalent, the two frames are not equally suited for the non-relativistic limit, as we will see in section 3.2 (see also [8]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>We cannot disentangle at this stage the transverse components p and  $\tau_{\mu\nu}$ , as their separation relies on thermodynamics (p is the equilibrium pressure,  $\tau_{\mu\nu}$  stands for the non-equilibrium stress and its trace is the non-equilibrium pressure).

and the equation of state. These requirements provide the tools for computing  $\delta\sigma$ ,  $\delta p$ ,  $\delta T$ , and  $\delta\mu_0$ , in terms of the above variations already expressed with the basic data  $\delta u_{\mu}$  and  $\delta\varrho_0$ . We will not delve in analyzing the effects induced on thermodynamic observables by the local Lorentz transformations (for that see e.g. [10–19, 85]), but will conclude this discussion with some remarks. At the first place, as already stressed, there is no microscopic definition of the entropy current. Hydrodynamic-frame invariance serves therefore as a prerequisite for completing expressions like (2.20), order by order in the derivative expansion. Secondly,  $q_{\mu}$ ,  $\tau_{\mu\nu}$  and  $j_{\mu}$  are given in the form of constitutive relations, which are asymptotic series, terminated at finite order. This blurs the fluid-frame invariance, and is at the heart of the caveats mentioned in the introduction (stability and causality). Privileged hydrodynamic frames unavoidably emerge, depending on the physical situation under consideration. Last but not least, even when the previous items are under control (as in two dimensions [25]), the question of global issues remains, in the lines discussed in refs. [25–27]: like any gauge symmetry, hydrodynamic-frame invariance suffers from possible global breaking.

# A remark on perfect fluids

For a perfect fluid, the heat current, the viscous stress tensor and the transverse part of the matter current vanish. From an intrinsic view, given an energy-momentum tensor and a matter current, these requirements are met if the matter current is an eigenvector of the energy-momentum tensor, and if the transverse part of the energy-momentum tensor with respect to this eigenvector is proportional to the projector orthogonal to the current. Given the normalisation of the velocity, here aligned with the current, this provides unambiguously  $\rho_0$ , p and  $\varepsilon$  (see (2.3), (2.4), (2.5) and (2.6)), and guarantees at the same time the absence of  $j^{\nu}$ ,  $q^{\nu}$  and  $\tau^{\mu\nu}$ . The entropy current (2.19) in now given by (2.20) and is proportional to the velocity. From (2.22) we infer it has zero divergence.

Formally, one could perform local hydrodynamic-frame transformations. However, following the rules (2.28), (2.29), (2.30), (2.31) and (2.32), no transformation exists, which preserves the perfect forms of the matter current and of the energy-momentum tensor. They all generate non-perfect components, which should in this case be considered spurious because they do not reflect any genuine microscopic interaction.<sup>15</sup> In the absence of dissipative phenomena and heat transport, energy is carried by matter and there is no ambiguity in defining a physical fluid velocity, in line with the presentation of ref. [1].

#### Weyl-invariant fluids

A physical system such as a fluid can be invariant under Weyl transformations. Those act on the background metric and fluid velocity as

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 \to \mathfrak{B}^{-2}\mathrm{d}s^2, \qquad u^\mu \to \mathfrak{B}u^\mu,$$
(2.33)

and more general tensors are Weyl-covariant if they rescale with some power of  $\mathfrak{B}$  (weight w) — not to be confused with the relativistic enthalpy w). A Weyl-covariant derivative  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Although unphysical, this formal freedom is important from a holographic perspective, and was discussed extensively in [25–27].

maintains the canonical Weyl transformation of a Weyl-covariant tensor, and calls for a Weyl connection one-form:  $^{16}$ 

$$\mathbf{A} = \frac{1}{c^2} \left( \mathbf{a} - \frac{\Theta}{d} \mathbf{u} \right). \tag{2.34}$$

The Weyl covariant derivative is metric-compatible:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (2.35)$$

$$\left(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\nu}-\mathcal{D}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\right)f=wfF_{\mu\nu},\tag{2.36}$$

where the action on a weight-w scalar f is

$$\mathcal{D}_{\lambda}f = \nabla_{\lambda}f + wA_{\lambda}f, \qquad (2.37)$$

and

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} \tag{2.38}$$

is the Weyl curvature (weight-0). For concreteness, the action of  $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda}$  on a weight-w form  $v_{\mu}$ and a weight-w tensor  $t_{\mu\nu}$  is

$$\mathcal{D}_{\lambda}v_{\mu} = \nabla_{\lambda}v_{\mu} + (w+1)A_{\lambda}v_{\mu} + A_{\mu}v_{\lambda} - g_{\mu\lambda}A^{\rho}v_{\rho}, \qquad (2.39)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{\lambda}t_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\lambda}t_{\mu\nu} + (w+2)A_{\lambda}t_{\mu\nu} + A_{\mu}t_{\lambda\nu} + A_{\nu}t_{\mu\lambda} - g_{\mu\lambda}A^{\rho}t_{\rho\nu} - g_{\nu\lambda}A^{\rho}t_{\mu\rho}.$$
 (2.40)

Commuting the Weyl-covariant derivatives acting on vectors, as usual one defines the Weyl-covariant Riemann tensor

$$\left(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\nu}-\mathcal{D}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\right)v^{\rho}=\mathcal{R}^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu}v^{\sigma}+wv^{\rho}F_{\mu\nu}$$
(2.41)

 $(v^{\rho} \text{ are the components of a weight-} w \text{ vector})$  and the usual subsequent quantities. The Weyl-covariant Ricci (weight 0) and scalar (weight 2) curvatures read:

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} + (d-1)\left(\nabla_{\nu}A_{\mu} + A_{\mu}A_{\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}A_{\lambda}A^{\lambda}\right) + g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}A^{\lambda} - F_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.42)$$

$$\mathcal{R} = R + 2d\nabla_{\lambda}A^{\lambda} - d(d-1)A_{\lambda}A^{\lambda}.$$
(2.43)

The fluid dynamics captured by (2.1) and (2.2) is Weyl-invariant under the necessary and sufficient condition that the energy-momentum tensor and the matter current are Weyl-covariant and such that

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{D}_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}, \qquad \nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = \mathcal{D}_{\mu}J^{\mu}.$$
(2.44)

This demands the conformal weights of  $T_{\mu\nu}$  and  $J_{\mu}$  be d-1, and  $T_{\mu\nu}$  be traceless. The required weight for the energy-momentum tensor is the translation of Weyl invariance for the underlying action, as one infers from eq. (2.7); this Weyl invariance also imposes the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The explicit form of A is obtained by demanding  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}u^{\mu} = 0$  and  $u^{\lambda}\mathcal{D}_{\lambda}u_{\mu} = 0$ . The Weyl connection is not unique. Any weight-*w* conformal vector V is associated with a bona fide Weyl connection  $A_V = \frac{1}{\|V\|^2} \left(\frac{(2-w)\Theta_V}{d+1-w}V - a_V\right)$  with  $\Theta_V$  and  $a_V$ , the expansion and acceleration of V. An example of alternative Weyl connection will be presented in section 3.4.

weight	observables
d+1	$\varepsilon, p$
d	$q_{\mu}, \ \varrho_0$
d-1	$ au_{\mu u},j_{\mu}$

 Table 1. Conformal weights.

absence of trace.<sup>17</sup> In the decomposition (2.3) the latter condition reads  $-\varepsilon + dp + \tau^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = 0$ , usually split into the conformal global-equilibrium equation of state plus a condition on the piece associated with dynamical irreversible phenomena:

$$\varepsilon = dp, \quad \tau^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = 0. \tag{2.45}$$

Furthermore we learn from eq. (2.8) that the gauge field  $B_{\mu}$  conjugate to  $J^{\mu}$  is weight-zero to comply with the expected weight for  $J_{\mu}$ . We have summarized the weights of the various physical quantities in the table 1.

## 2.2 Fluids in Zermelo coordinates

# Zermelo frame

In a pseudo-Riemannian manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  of d + 1 dimensions, one can always assume the Arnowitt-Deser-Misner form of the metric

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -\Omega^2 c^2 \mathrm{d}t^2 + a_{ij} \left( \mathrm{d}x^i - w^i \mathrm{d}t \right) \left( \mathrm{d}x^j - w^j \mathrm{d}t \right) \tag{2.46}$$

with  $a_{ij}$ ,  $w^i$  and  $\Omega$  functions of  $x = (ct, \mathbf{x}) = \{x^{\mu}, \mu = 0, 1, \dots, d\}$  and  $\mathbf{x}$  stands for  $\{x^1, \dots, x^d\}$ . These coordinates are well-suited for the implementation of the Galilean limit [29]. Indeed, *Galilean diffeomorphisms* 

$$t' = t'(t), \qquad \mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}'(t, \mathbf{x}) \tag{2.47}$$

have Jacobian

$$J(t) = \frac{\partial t'}{\partial t}, \qquad j^{i}(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\partial x^{i\prime}}{\partial t}, \qquad J^{i}_{j}(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\partial x^{i\prime}}{\partial x^{j}}, \tag{2.48}$$

and the transformation of the metric components is nicely reduced:

$$a'_{ij} = a_{kl} J^{-1k}_{\ i} J^{-1l}_{\ j}, \qquad w'^k = \frac{1}{J} \left( J^k_i w^i + j^k \right), \qquad \Omega' = \frac{\Omega}{J}.$$
 (2.49)

This fits with the Newton-Cartan structure emerging at infinite c.

We call Zermelo metrics (see [78]) the restricted class of (2.46) for which  $\Omega$  depends on t only. This class is stable under Galilean diffeomorphisms because J in (2.49) does not depend on spatial coordinates. The corresponding Newton-Cartan geometries reached in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>We recall that  $\delta S = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2}T^{\mu\nu}\delta g_{\mu\nu} + J^{\mu}\delta B_{\mu}\right)$ . Hence for an infinitesimal Weyl rescaling (i.e.  $\mathfrak{B}$  close to the identity),  $\delta_{\mathfrak{B}}S = -\int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \ln \mathfrak{B}T_{\mu}{}^{\mu}$ .

Galilean limit are torsion-free (see [42]) and they feature an absolute, invariant Newtonian time  $\int dt \,\Omega(t) = \int dt' \,\Omega'(t')$ .

The above reduction with respect to the Galilean diffeomorphisms (2.48), can be completed as follows. Any tensor component with an upper time index transforms as a Galilean density, and thus is a scalar upon multiplication by  $\Omega$ . Similarly the components with lower spatial indices transform as Galilean tensors. As an example, the transformation of the d + 1 vector components  $u^{\mu}$  under a Galilean diffeomorphism leads to<sup>18</sup>

$$u'^0 = J u^0, \qquad u'_i = u_k J^{-1k}_i.$$
 (2.50)

A relativistic fluid moving in (2.46) is described by the components of its velocity u, normalized as  $||\mathbf{u}||^2 = -c^2$ :

$$u^{\mu} = \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} \Rightarrow \quad u^{0} = \gamma c, \ u^{i} = \gamma v^{i},$$
 (2.51)

where the Lorentz factor  $\gamma$  is, in the Zermelo frame<sup>19</sup>

$$\gamma = \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \frac{1}{\Omega\sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{c\Omega}\right)^2}}.$$
(2.52)

Under a Galilean diffeomorphism (2.48), the transformation of  $u^{\mu}$  (see footnote 18) induces the expected transformation on  $v^{i}$ :

$$v'^{k} = \frac{1}{J} \left( J_{i}^{k} v^{i} + j^{k} \right).$$
(2.53)

Orthogonality conditions (2.5) and (2.6) imply that the fundamental data for the non-perfect matter current, the heat current and the stress tensor are  $j_i$ ,  $q_j$  and  $\tau_{kl}$ . Other components are e.g.

$$j^{0} = \frac{(v^{i} - w^{i})j_{i}}{c\Omega^{2}}, \quad q^{0} = \frac{(v^{i} - w^{i})q_{i}}{c\Omega^{2}}, \quad \tau^{00} = \frac{(v^{k} - w^{k})(v^{l} - w^{l})\tau_{kl}}{c^{2}\Omega^{4}}, \quad \tau^{0}{}_{j} = \frac{(v^{k} - w^{k})\tau_{kj}}{c\Omega^{2}}, \quad (2.54)$$

which transform as tensors under Galilean diffeomorphisms.

## Hydrodynamic-frame transformations and invariants

The fluid velocity is parameterized in (2.51) with d components  $v^i$ . We can thus formulate the relativistic hydrodynamic-frame transformations in terms of arbitrary  $\delta v^i(x)$ . In the Zermelo frame, we obtain:

$$\delta\gamma = \frac{\gamma^3}{c^2} \delta v^i \left( v_i - w_i \right), \qquad (2.55)$$

hence

$$\delta \mathbf{u} = \gamma \delta v^{i} \left( \partial_{i} + \frac{\gamma^{2}}{c^{2}} \left( v_{i} - w_{i} \right) \left( \partial_{t} + v^{k} \partial_{k} \right) \right).$$
(2.56)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>When the indices are inverted, the transformations are of the connection type:  $u'^i = J_k^i u^k + J^i u^0$ ,  $u'_0 = \frac{1}{J} \left( u_0 - u_j J^{-1j}_k J^k \right)$ . For those, the tensorial structure is restored at the infinite-*c* limit, where indices are lowered and raised with  $a_{ij}$  and its inverse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Expressions as  $\mathbf{v}^2$  stand for  $a_{ij}v^iv^j$ , not to be confused with  $\|\mathbf{u}\|^2 = g_{\mu\nu}u^{\mu}u^{\nu}$ .

Using eqs. (2.29), (2.30) and (2.31) together with (2.54) and (2.56) we find:<sup>20</sup>

$$\delta \varepsilon = -2\frac{\gamma}{c^2} \delta v^i q_i, \qquad (2.57)$$

$$\delta q_i = \gamma \delta v^k \left( \frac{\gamma}{c^2} \left( v_i - w_i \right) q_k - w h_{ki} - \tau_{ki} \right), \qquad (2.58)$$

$$\delta(ph_{ij} + \tau_{ij}) = \frac{\gamma^2}{c^2} \delta v^k \left( (v_i - w_i) \left( \tau_{jk} + ph_{jk} \right) + (v_j - w_j) \left( \tau_{ik} + ph_{ik} \right) \right) - \frac{\gamma}{c^2} \delta v^k \left( q_i h_{jk} + q_j h_{ik} \right),$$
(2.59)

where (see (2.26))

$$h_{ik} = a_{ik} + \frac{\gamma^2}{c^2} \left( v_i - w_i \right) \left( v_k - w_k \right).$$
(2.60)

When a matter current is available, the above is completed with (2.32), which gives

$$\delta\varrho_0 = -\frac{\gamma}{c^2}\delta v^i j_i \tag{2.61}$$

and

$$\delta j_i = \delta v^k \left( \frac{\gamma^2}{c^2} j_k \left( v_i - w_i \right) - \gamma \varrho_0 h_{ki} \right).$$
(2.62)

The transformations at hand translate the invariance of the energy-momentum tensor and current components. The latter define therefore *invariants*, which are simply the energy density, the heat current, the stress tensor, the matter density and the matter non-perfect current in a privileged frame, that we will call "at rest" or "proper,"<sup>21</sup> borrowing the standard expressions of special relativity:

$$T^{00} = \frac{\varepsilon_{\rm r}}{\Omega^2}, \qquad T^0_{\ i} = \frac{1}{c\Omega} q_{\rm ri}, \qquad T_{ij} = p_{\rm r} a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij}$$
(2.63)

with trace

$$T_{\mu}^{\ \mu} = -\varepsilon_{\rm r} + dp_{\rm r} + a^{ij}\tau_{\rm rij}, \qquad (2.64)$$

and

$$J^0 = \frac{c}{\Omega} \varrho_{0\mathbf{r}}, \qquad J_i = j_{\mathbf{r}i}. \tag{2.65}$$

, .

• 、

We find explicitly

$$\varepsilon_{\rm r} = \varepsilon \gamma^2 \Omega^2 + \frac{2}{c^2} \gamma q_i \left( v^i - w^i \right) + \left( p h_{ij} + \tau_{ij} \right) \frac{\left( v^i - w^i \right) \left( v^j - w^j \right)}{c^2 \Omega^2}, \qquad (2.66)$$

$$q_{\rm ri} = \varepsilon \gamma^2 \Omega \left( v_i - w_i \right) + \gamma \Omega q_j \left( \delta^j_i + \frac{\left( v^j - w^j \right) \left( v_i - w_i \right)}{c^2 \Omega^2} \right) + \left( p h_{ij} + \tau_{ij} \right) \frac{v^j - w^j}{\Omega}, \qquad (2.67)$$

$$p_{r}a_{ij} + \tau_{rij} = \frac{\varepsilon\gamma^{2}}{c^{2}} (v_{i} - w_{i}) (v_{j} - w_{j}) + \frac{\gamma}{c^{2}} (q_{i} (v_{j} - w_{j}) + q_{j} (v_{i} - w_{i})) + ph_{ij} + \tau_{ij}, \qquad (2.68)$$

<sup>20</sup>Notice that  $q_{\mu}\delta u^{\mu} = \gamma \delta v^{i} q_{i}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>We call this frame "fiducial" in section 3.2 and show it is associated with an observer at velocity  $u_z = e_t$ given in (3.3).

and

$$\varrho_{0\mathrm{r}} = \varrho_0 \Omega \gamma + j_i \frac{v^i - w^i}{c^2 \Omega},\tag{2.69}$$

$$j_{\mathrm{r}i} = j_i + \varrho_0 \gamma \left( v^i - w^i \right). \tag{2.70}$$

It should be stressed that the above quantities are hydrodynamic-frame invariant but also covariant under Galilean diffeomorphisms. This latter property will be useful when considering the Galilean limit.

## Killings and conserved currents

Consider a Killing field on  $\mathcal{M}$  satisfying (2.12)

$$\xi = \xi^t \partial_t + \xi^i \partial_i = \xi^{\hat{t}} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} + \xi^{\hat{i}} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{i}}, \qquad (2.71)$$

where we have introduced a somewhat more convenient frame and coframe

$$\mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t + w^j \partial_j \right), \qquad \mathbf{e}_{\hat{\imath}} = \partial_i, \qquad \boldsymbol{\theta}^{\hat{t}} = \Omega \mathrm{d}t, \qquad \boldsymbol{\theta}^{\hat{\imath}} = \mathrm{d}x^i - w^i \mathrm{d}t, \tag{2.72}$$

so that the metric (2.46) reads:

$$ds^{2} = -c^{2} \left(\theta^{\hat{t}}\right)^{2} + a_{ij}\theta^{\hat{\imath}}\theta^{\hat{\jmath}}.$$
(2.73)

Hence

$$\xi^{\hat{t}} = \xi^t \Omega, \quad \xi^{\hat{i}} = \xi^i - \xi^t w^i, \quad \xi_{\hat{t}} = -c^2 \xi^{\hat{t}}, \quad \xi_{\hat{i}} = a_{ij} \xi^{\hat{j}} = \xi_i.$$
(2.74)

With these data, the components of the conserved current (2.13) are<sup>22</sup>

$$I^0 = \frac{c}{\Omega} \iota_{0\mathbf{r}}, \qquad I_i = i_{\mathbf{r}i}, \tag{2.75}$$

where

$$u_{0\mathrm{r}} = \frac{1}{c^2} \xi^{\hat{i}} q_{\mathrm{r}i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \varepsilon_{\mathrm{r}}, \qquad (2.76)$$

$$i_{\rm ri} = \xi^{\hat{j}} \left( p_{\rm r} a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij} \right) - \xi^{\hat{t}} q_{\rm ri}.$$
(2.77)

The associated conserved charge is obtained using (2.16):

$$Q_{I} = \int_{\Sigma_{d}} \sqrt{a} \iota_{0r} \left( \mathrm{d}x^{1} - w^{1} \mathrm{d}t \right) \wedge \ldots \wedge \left( \mathrm{d}x^{d} - w^{d} \mathrm{d}t \right) - \int_{\Sigma_{d}} \sqrt{a} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \left( \mathrm{d}x^{1} - w^{1} \mathrm{d}t \right) \wedge \ldots \wedge a^{ij} i_{rj} \Omega \mathrm{d}t \wedge \ldots \wedge \left( \mathrm{d}x^{d} - w^{d} \mathrm{d}t \right),$$
(2.78)

where  $a^{ij}i_{rj}\Omega dt$  is the *i*th factor in the exterior product of the last term.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>We use the standard decomposition  $I^{\mu} = \iota_0 u^{\mu} + i^{\mu}$  with  $u^{\mu} i_{\mu} = 0$  and  $\iota_0 = -u^{\mu} I_{\mu}$ , and introduce  $\iota_{0r}$  as a proper or fiducial density, following the footsteps of the energy-momentum tensor and the matter current, eqs. (2.63) and (2.65).

# 2.3 Fluids in Papapetrou-Randers coordinates

# Papapetrou–Randers frame

An alternative frame for a d + 1-dimensional pseudo-Riemannian manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  is defined as

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -c^2 \left(\Omega \mathrm{d}t - b_i \mathrm{d}x^i\right)^2 + a_{ij} \mathrm{d}x^i \mathrm{d}x^j, \qquad (2.79)$$

where all functions are x-dependent — again  $x \equiv (x^0 = ct, \mathbf{x})$ . It is known as Papapetrou-Randers, and this form is stable under Carrollian diffeomorphisms

$$t' = t'(t, \mathbf{x})$$
 and  $\mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}'(\mathbf{x})$  (2.80)

with Jacobian

$$J(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\partial t'}{\partial t}, \qquad j_i(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\partial t'}{\partial x^i}, \qquad J_j^i(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\partial x^{\prime\prime}}{\partial x^j}.$$
 (2.81)

Under Carrollian diffeomorphisms,  $\Omega$  and the metric transform as in (2.49) i.e.

$$\Omega' = \frac{\Omega}{J}, \quad a'^{ij} = J^i_k J^j_l a^{kl}, \tag{2.82}$$

while  $b^i$  obeys a connection transformation

$$b'_{k} = \left(b_{i} + \frac{\Omega}{J}j_{i}\right)J^{-1i}_{k}.$$
(2.83)

The Papapetrou-Randers frame realizes a reduction with respect to the Carrollian diffeomorphisms (2.80). Any tensor component with a lower time index transforms as a Carrollian density and provides a scalar upon division by  $\Omega$ ; the components with upper spatial indices transform as Carrollian tensors. The d + 1 vector components  $u^{\mu}$  transform under a Carrollian diffeomorphism as

$$u'_0 = \frac{u_0}{J}, \qquad u'^i = u^k J^i_k.$$
 (2.84)

One can again express the components of a velocity field normalized to  $-c^2$  as  $u^0 = \gamma c$ and  $u^i = \gamma v^i$ . It is furthermore convenient to parameterize  $v^i$  as

1

$$v^{i} = \frac{c^{2}\Omega\beta^{i}}{1 + c^{2}\beta^{j}b_{j}} \Leftrightarrow \beta^{i} = \frac{v^{i}}{c^{2}\Omega\left(1 - \frac{v^{j}b_{j}}{\Omega}\right)},$$
(2.85)

because of future use in the Carrollian limit, and due to the simple Carrollian transformation property this definition leads  $to^{23}$ 

$$\beta^{i\prime} = J^i_j \beta^j. \tag{2.86}$$

Now the Lorentz factor reads:

$$\gamma = \frac{1 + c^2 \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{b}}{\Omega \sqrt{1 - c^2 \boldsymbol{\beta}^2}}.$$
(2.87)

In Papapetrou-Randers frame (2.79), the fundamental hydrodynamic variables are naturally chosen as  $j^i$ ,  $q^j$  and  $\tau^{kl}$ . Using the transversality conditions (2.5) we find:

$$j_0 = -c\Omega\beta_i j^i, \qquad q_0 = -c\Omega\beta_i q^i, \qquad \tau_{00} = c^2\Omega^2\beta_k\beta_l\tau^{kl}, \qquad \tau^i_0 = -c\Omega\beta_k\tau^{ik}. \tag{2.88}$$

These are all Carrollian tensors (or densities).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>This is easily proven by observing that  $\beta_i + b_i = -\frac{\Omega u_i}{c u_0}$ . We define as usual  $b^i = a^{ij}b_j$ ,  $\beta_i = a_{ij}\beta^j$ ,  $v_i = a_{ij}v^j$ ,  $b^2 = b_ib^i$ ,  $\beta^2 = \beta_i\beta^i$  and  $b \cdot \beta = b_i\beta^i$ .

# Hydrodynamic-frame transformations and invariants

Following the same pattern as for the Zermelo frame, we investigate the hydrodynamic-frame transformations, i.e. local Lorentz transformations captured here in the d components  $\delta\beta^i(x)$ . We obtain

$$\delta u^0 = c \delta \gamma, \qquad \delta u^i = c^2 \frac{h^{ik} \delta \beta_k}{\sqrt{1 - c^2 \beta^2}}$$
(2.89)

with

$$\delta\gamma = c^2\gamma\delta\beta^i \left(\frac{b_i}{1+c^2\boldsymbol{\beta}\cdot\boldsymbol{b}} + \frac{\beta_i}{1-c^2\boldsymbol{\beta}^2}\right),\tag{2.90}$$

and

$$h^{ik} = a^{ik} + \frac{c^2 \beta^i \beta^k}{1 - c^2 \beta^2}.$$
 (2.91)

Using the general transformation rules (2.29), (2.30) and (2.31) together with (2.88) and (2.89) we find (w is the relativistic enthalpy (A.3)):<sup>24</sup>

$$\delta\varepsilon = -2\frac{q^i\delta\beta_i}{\sqrt{1-c^2\beta^2}},\tag{2.92}$$

$$\delta q^{i} = \frac{c^{2} \delta \beta_{k}}{\sqrt{1 - c^{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}}} \left( \frac{q^{k} \beta^{i}}{\sqrt{1 - c^{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}}} - w h^{ki} - \tau^{ki} \right), \qquad (2.93)$$

$$\delta\left(ph^{ij} + \tau^{ij}\right) = \frac{c^2\delta\beta_k}{1 - c^2\beta^2} \left(\beta^i \left(ph^{jk} + \tau^{jk}\right) + \beta^j \left(ph^{ik} + \tau^{ik}\right)\right) - \frac{\delta\beta_k}{\sqrt{1 - c^2\beta^2}} \left(q^i h^{jk} + q^j h^{ik}\right).$$

$$(2.94)$$

Similarly, using eq. (2.32), we obtain:

$$\delta\varrho_0 = -\frac{j^i \delta\beta_i}{\sqrt{1 - c^2 \beta^2}},\tag{2.95}$$

and

$$\delta j^{i} = \frac{c^{2} \delta \beta_{k}}{\sqrt{1 - c^{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}}} \left( \frac{j^{k} \beta^{i}}{\sqrt{1 - c^{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}}} - \varrho_{0} h^{ki} \right).$$

$$(2.96)$$

The energy-momentum tensor is by definition invariant under hydrodynamic-frame transformations. This invariant can be nicely tamed in three canonical objects, which are the energy density  $\varepsilon_{\rm r}$ , the heat current  $q_{\rm r}^i$  and the stress tensor  $\tau_{\rm r}^{ij}$ , in the fluid proper hydrodynamic frame:<sup>25</sup>

$$T_{00} = \varepsilon_{\rm r} \Omega^2, \qquad T_0^{\ i} = -\frac{\Omega}{c} q_{\rm r}^i, \qquad T^{ij} = p_{\rm r} a^{ij} + \tau_{\rm r}^{ij}$$
(2.97)

with trace

$$T_{\mu}^{\ \mu} = -\varepsilon_{\rm r} + dp_{\rm r} + a_{ij}\tau_{\rm r}^{ij}, \qquad (2.98)$$

<sup>24</sup>Notice in passing  $q_{\mu}\delta u^{\mu} = c^2 \frac{q^i \delta_{\beta_i}}{\sqrt{1-c^2 \beta^2}}$ .

 $<sup>^{25}</sup>$ In section 4.2 this frame is referred to as "fiducial" and is associated with an observer moving at velocity  $u_{PR}$  given in (4.72).

and

$$J_0 = -c\Omega \varrho_{0\mathbf{r}}, \quad J^i = j^i_{\mathbf{r}}.$$
(2.99)

It is easy to relate these *invariants* to the fluid data in an arbitrary frame encoded in  $\beta^i$ . We find

$$\varepsilon_{\rm r} = \frac{\varepsilon}{1 - c^2 \beta^2} + \frac{2\beta_i q^i}{\sqrt{1 - c^2 \beta^2}} + c^2 \beta_i \beta_j \left( p h^{ij} + \tau^{ij} \right), \qquad (2.100)$$

$$q_{\rm r}^{i} = \frac{c^2 \varepsilon \beta^{i}}{1 - c^2 \beta^2} + \frac{q^{j}}{\sqrt{1 - c^2 \beta^2}} \left( \delta_j^{i} + c^2 \beta^{i} \beta_j \right) + c^2 \beta_j \left( p h^{ij} + \tau^{ij} \right), \qquad (2.101)$$

$$p_{\rm r}a^{ij} + \tau_{\rm r}^{ij} = \frac{c^2\varepsilon\beta^i\beta^j}{1 - c^2\beta^2} + \frac{\beta^i q^j + \beta^j q^i}{\sqrt{1 - c^2\beta^2}} + ph^{ij} + \tau^{ij}, \qquad (2.102)$$

and similarly

$$\varrho_{0\mathrm{r}} = \frac{\varrho_0}{\sqrt{1 - c^2 \boldsymbol{\beta}^2}} + \beta_i j^i, \qquad (2.103)$$

$$j_{\rm r}^{i} = j^{i} + \frac{c^2 \varrho_0 \beta^{i}}{\sqrt{1 - c^2 \beta^2}}.$$
 (2.104)

# Killings and conserved currents

Consider a Killing field of the generic form (2.71), satisfying (2.12) on  $\mathcal{M}$  in Papapetrou-Randers coordinates, where the convenient frame and coframe are now<sup>26</sup>

$$\mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t, \qquad \mathbf{e}_{\hat{\imath}} = \partial_i + \frac{b_i}{\Omega} \partial_t, \qquad \mathbf{\theta}^{\hat{\imath}} = \Omega \mathrm{d}t - b_i \mathrm{d}x^i, \qquad \mathbf{\theta}^{\hat{\imath}} = \mathrm{d}x^i, \qquad (2.105)$$

so that the metric (2.79) becomes (2.73). The Killing components are

$$\xi^{\hat{t}} = \xi^t \Omega - \xi^i b_i, \qquad \xi^{\hat{i}} = \xi^i, \qquad \xi_{\hat{t}} = -c^2 \xi^{\hat{t}}, \qquad \xi_{\hat{i}} = a_{ij} \xi^{\hat{j}} = \xi_i + \xi_{\hat{t}} b_i, \qquad (2.106)$$

and those of the conserved current (2.13), following the familiar decomposition procedure in a proper frame:

$$I_0 = -c\Omega\iota_{0r}, \qquad I^i = i_r^i,$$
 (2.107)

where

$$\iota_{0\mathbf{r}} = \frac{1}{c^2} \xi_{\hat{\imath}} q_{\mathbf{r}}^i - \xi^{\hat{\imath}} \varepsilon_{\mathbf{r}}, \qquad (2.108)$$

$$i_{\rm r}^{i} = \xi_{\hat{\jmath}} \left( p_{\rm r} a^{ij} + \tau_{\rm r}^{ij} \right) - \xi^{\hat{t}} q_{\rm r}^{i}.$$
(2.109)

Using (2.16), one can express the conserved charge in the Papapetrou-Randers frame as follows:

$$Q_I = \int_{\Sigma_d} \sqrt{a} \iota_{0r} \mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^d - \int_{\Sigma_d} \sqrt{a} \sum_{i=1}^d \mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge i_r^i \left(\Omega \mathrm{d}t - b_j \mathrm{d}x^j\right) \wedge \ldots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^d, \quad (2.110)$$

where in the exterior product of the second term,  $i_{\rm r}^i \left( \Omega dt - b_j dx^j \right)$  is the *i*th factor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Later on  $e_i$  will be alternatively displayed as  $\hat{\partial}_i$ .

## 3 Galilean fluid dynamics

## 3.1 Newton-Cartan manifolds and general Galilean covariance

## Newton–Cartan in a nutshell

The natural geometric framework for describing non-relativistic fluids is torsionless Newton-Cartan — see e.g. [37–44] for a comprehensive presentation and further reading suggestions. Newton-Cartan manifolds are members of a wide web including Bargmann spaces or Leibnizian structures (see [34, 39, 40]). We will here consider a manifold  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times S$  equipped with coordinates  $(t, \mathbf{x})$  and a degenerate cometric<sup>27</sup>

$$\partial_a^2 = a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j, \quad i, j \dots \in \{1, \dots, d\}, \tag{3.1}$$

as well as a *clock form* 

$$\theta^{t} = \Omega \mathrm{d}t. \tag{3.2}$$

The dual vector of the latter, referred to as a *field of observers*, is

$$\mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t + w^j \partial_j \right). \tag{3.3}$$

Here,  $a^{ij}$  and  $w^i$  are general functions of  $(t, \mathbf{x})$  whereas  $\Omega = \Omega(t)$ . This last feature makes the clock form  $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  in (3.2) exact and this qualifies for the torsionless nature of the Newton-Cartan manifold. As pointed out in section 2.2, this guarantees the existence of an absolute time  $\int dt \Omega(t) = \int dt' \Omega'(t')$ , invariant under Galilean diffeomorphisms (2.47) — the only allowed now. For completeness, one should emphasize that even in general, torsionfull Newton-Cartan spacetimes the time interval is invariant but depends on the location  $\mathbf{x}$  of the clock:  $\int dt \Omega(t, \mathbf{x})$ . One still — abusively — call it absolute as a way to stress that the differences are due to the location of the clock and not directly to its motion, if any. Motion affects directly the measurements of spatial distances.

The submanifold S plays the role of d-dimensional Newtonian space, endowed with a positive-definite metric, inverse of  $a^{ij}$ 

$$\mathrm{d}\ell^2 = a_{ij}(t, \mathbf{x}) \mathrm{d}x^i \mathrm{d}x^j, \tag{3.4}$$

and observed from a frame with respect to which the locally inertial frame has velocity  $\mathbf{w} = w^i \partial_i$  (see footnote 39). A moving particle or a fluid cell will have velocity  $\mathbf{v} = v^i \partial_i$  with  $v^i = \frac{\mathrm{d}x^i}{\mathrm{d}t}$ . Under Galilean diffeomorphisms (2.47) with Jacobian (2.48), the transformation rules are as in (2.49), (2.53), and

$$\partial_t' = \frac{1}{J} \left( \partial_t - j^k J^{-1i}_{\ k} \partial_i \right), \tag{3.5}$$

$$\partial_j' = J^{-1i}_{\ \ j} \partial_i. \tag{3.6}$$

The clock form and the field of observers remain invariant:

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}^{t\prime} = \boldsymbol{\theta}^{t}, \qquad \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}}^{\prime} = \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}}. \tag{3.7}$$

 $<sup>^{27}\</sup>mathrm{We}$  systematically omit the tensor product symbol  $\otimes$  in the metric and in the cometric.

Galilean tensors carry only spatial indices  $i, j, \ldots \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ , which are lowered and raised with  $a_{ij}$  and  $a^{ij}$ . They transform covariantly under Galilean diffeomorphisms (2.47) with Jacobian  $J_i^j$  and  $J_j^{-1i}$  defined in (2.48).<sup>28</sup> Tensors depend generically on time t and space **x**. Connections can be defined on the geometries at hand, which lead to space and time derivatives, covariant with respect to Galilean diffeomorphisms. These are not uniquely defined (see the literature quoted above) as are torsion-free and metric-compatible connections in Riemannian geometries. We will here make the specific choice, which naturally emerges when the present geometry is reached as an infinite-c limit of a pseudo-Riemannian manifold in the Zermelo frame (2.46) (see appendix A.1 of ref. [29]). This choice makes a sharp separation between space materialized in S and time. Our spatial connection is

$$\gamma_{jk}^{i} = \frac{a^{il}}{2} \left( \partial_{j} a_{lk} + \partial_{k} a_{lj} - \partial_{l} a_{jk} \right).$$
(3.8)

The associated covariant derivative is spelled  $\hat{\nabla}_i$ , as opposed to  $\nabla_i$ , the spatial component of the Levi-Civita covariant derivative  $\nabla_{\mu}$  defined on the ascendent pseudo-Riemannian spacetime.<sup>29</sup> This connection is torsionless

$$\hat{t}^{k}_{\ ij} = 2\gamma^{k}_{[ij]} = 0, \tag{3.9}$$

and metric-compatible

$$\hat{\nabla}_i a_{jk} = 0. \tag{3.10}$$

Its Riemann, Ricci and scalar curvature tensors are defined as usual d-dimensional Levi-Civita curvature tensors would be on S, except that they are t-dependent:

$$\left[\hat{\nabla}_{k},\hat{\nabla}_{l}\right]V^{i} = \left(\partial_{k}\gamma_{lj}^{i} - \partial_{l}\gamma_{kj}^{i} + \gamma_{km}^{i}\gamma_{lj}^{m} - \gamma_{lm}^{i}\gamma_{kj}^{m}\right)V^{j} = \hat{r}_{jkl}^{i}V^{j}.$$
(3.11)

It is worth stressing that Galilean tensors can be constructed from an object which is not a vector but rather transforming like a connection,

$$A'^{k} = \frac{1}{J} \left( J_{i}^{k} A^{i} + j^{k} \right).$$
(3.12)

Indeed

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\nabla}^{(k}A^{l)} - \frac{1}{2\Omega}\partial_{t}a^{kl} = -\frac{1}{2\Omega}\left(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{A}}a^{kl} + \partial_{t}a^{kl}\right)$$
(3.13)

 $(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{A}} \text{ is the Lie derivative along } \mathbf{A} = A^i \partial_i)$  and

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\nabla}_{(k}A_{l)} + \frac{1}{2\Omega}\partial_{t}a_{kl} = \frac{1}{2\Omega}\left(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{A}}a_{kl} + \partial_{t}a_{kl}\right)$$
(3.14)

have tensorial transformation rules, and their trace is a scalar.<sup>30</sup> We can apply this to  $\mathbf{w}$  or  $\mathbf{v}$  (see (2.49) and (2.53)) and define

$$\hat{\gamma}^{w}_{ij} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \hat{\nabla}_{(i} w_{j)} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{t} a_{ij} \right), \qquad \hat{\gamma}^{v}_{ij} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \hat{\nabla}_{(i} v_{j)} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{t} a_{ij} \right), \tag{3.15}$$

 $<sup>^{28} {\</sup>rm For}$  a vector e.g. the transformation is  $V'^k = J^k_i V^i.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>In [29] the hat was not used in the Galilean covariant derivative, and this might have caused confusion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Observe that neither  $\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t$  nor  $\frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{A}}$  acting on Galilean tensors give separately tensors because of (3.5) and  $A^i$  transforming as (3.12).

where the upper indices refer to the vectors  $\mathbf{w}$  and  $\mathbf{v}$ , corresponding to the geometry and fluid respectively. The former is purely geometrical (and emerges in the large-*c* expansion of the relativistic-spacetime Levi-Civita connection in Zermelo frame<sup>31</sup>); the latter is associated with a fluid of velocity  $v^i$ . They coincide for a fluid at rest in the locally inertial frame, i.e. for  $v^i = w^i$ . From these tensors, one defines their traceless relatives and the traces: the geometric Galilean shear

$$\xi^{w}{}_{ij} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \hat{\nabla}_{(i} w_{j)} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_t a_{ij} \right) - \frac{1}{d} a_{ij} \theta^w, \qquad (3.16)$$

and the geometric Galilean expansion

$$\theta^{w} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_{t} \ln \sqrt{a} + \hat{\nabla}_{i} w^{i} \right), \qquad (3.17)$$

as well as the *fluid Galilean shear* 

$$\xi^{v}{}_{ij} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \hat{\nabla}_{(i} v_{j)} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_t a_{ij} \right) - \frac{1}{d} a_{ij} \theta^v, \qquad (3.18)$$

and the fluid Galilean expansion

$$\theta^{v} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_{t} \ln \sqrt{a} + \hat{\nabla}_{i} v^{i} \right).$$
(3.19)

One similarly defines a time, metric-compatible covariant derivative (again emerging in the Galilean expansion of the spacetime Levi-Civita covariant derivative in the time direction of a Zermelo frame). For a scalar function  $\Phi$  it is simply

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}\Phi}{\mathrm{d}t} = \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}}(\Phi) = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t \Phi + \frac{w^j}{\Omega}\partial_j \Phi, \qquad (3.20)$$

whereas for vectors one finds

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}V^{i}}{dt} = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}V^{i} + \frac{w^{j}}{\Omega}\partial_{j}V^{i} - V^{j}\partial_{j}\frac{w^{i}}{\Omega} + \hat{\gamma}^{wi}_{\ \ j}V^{j} \\
= \frac{1}{\Omega}\left(\partial_{t}V^{i} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}}V^{i}\right) + \hat{\gamma}^{wi}_{\ \ j}V^{j}.$$
(3.21)

More generally, the Leibniz rule leads to

$$\frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{D}K^{i\ldots}_{j\ldots}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t K^{i\ldots}_{j\ldots} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} K^{i\ldots}_{j\ldots} \right) + \hat{\gamma}^{wi}_{\ \ k} K^{k\ldots}_{\ \ j\ldots} + \dots - \hat{\gamma}^{wk}_{\ \ j} K^{i\ldots}_{\ \ k\ldots} - \dots , \quad (3.22)$$

and as a consequence

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}a^{ij}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}a_{ij}}{\mathrm{d}t} = 0.$$
(3.23)

 $<sup>^{31}</sup>$ As a general comment, valid both in the present section on Galilean dynamics as well as in the next on Carrollian, the *c*-dependence of our relativistic metrics is always explicit and in line with the Galilean (or Carrollian) reduction. Hence, every term in the power expansions is Galilean-covariant (or Carrollian-covariant).

In the presence of a fluid one can also introduce the more physical material derivative

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \partial_t + v^i \hat{\nabla}_i, \qquad (3.24)$$

which produces a scalar density (or a scalar upon division by  $\Omega$ ) when acting on a scalar function. When acting on arbitrary tensors, it should be supplemented with appropriate **w** and/or **v** terms in order to maintain the tensorial transformation properties. Several options exist and we here quote the most physical (see [29]):<sup>32</sup>

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathbf{D}V^{i}}{\mathbf{d}t} = \frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathbf{d}V^{i}}{\mathbf{d}t} - \frac{1}{\Omega}V^{j}\hat{\nabla}_{j}w^{i}, \qquad \frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathbf{D}V_{i}}{\mathbf{d}t} = \frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathbf{d}V_{i}}{\mathbf{d}t} + \frac{1}{\Omega}V_{j}\hat{\nabla}_{i}w^{j}, \tag{3.25}$$

resulting in genuine tensors under Galilean diffeomorphisms. As opposed to (3.22), this time-covariant derivative is not metric compatible:

$$\frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{D}a_{ij}}{\mathrm{d}t} = 2\hat{\gamma}^{w}_{\ ij}.\tag{3.26}$$

Space and time Galilean covariant derivatives do not commute. They define a Galilean tensor, rooted in the Riemann tensor of the ascendent relativistic spacetime at finite velocity of light. We find

$$\left[\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t},\hat{\nabla}_i\right]\Phi = -\hat{\gamma}^{wk}_{\ i}\partial_k\Phi,\tag{3.27}$$

$$\left[\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t},\hat{\nabla}_{i}\right]V^{j} = -\hat{\gamma}^{wk}_{\ i}\hat{\nabla}_{k}V^{j} + \hat{r}^{j}_{\ ik}V^{k}, \qquad (3.28)$$

and similarly for higher-rank Galilean tensors, where

$$\hat{r}^{j}_{\ ik} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \gamma^{j}_{ik} + \hat{\nabla}_i \hat{\nabla}_k w^{j} - \hat{\nabla}_i \hat{\gamma}^{wj}_{\ k} + w^{l} \hat{r}^{j}_{\ kli} \right).$$
(3.29)

# Galilean diffeomorphisms and conservation equations

Without referring specifically to a fluid, one may consider an effective action describing the dynamics of a system defined on the geometry  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times S$  discussed previously. This effective action is thus a functional of  $a^{ij}$ ,  $\Omega$  and  $w^i$ :  $S = \int dt d^dx \sqrt{a} \Omega \mathscr{L}$ . The standard relativistic energy-momentum tensor (2.7) is now traded for the following *Galilean momenta*, namely the *energy-stress tensor*, the *momentum* and the *energy density*:

$$\Pi_{ij} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{a}\Omega} \frac{\delta S}{\delta a^{ij}},\tag{3.30}$$

$$P_i = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{a\,\Omega}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \frac{w^i}{\Omega}},\tag{3.31}$$

$$\Pi = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{a}\Omega} \left( \Omega \frac{\delta S}{\delta\Omega} - \frac{w^i}{\Omega} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \frac{w^i}{\Omega}} \right), \qquad (3.32)$$

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$ For a detailed and general presentation of Galilean affine connections see [39, 40].

which can likewise be combined as  $\frac{\delta S}{\delta \Omega} = -\sqrt{a} \left( \Pi + \frac{w^i}{\Omega} P_i \right)$ . These momenta are summarized in the following variation — at least for the gravitational sector:

$$\delta S = -\int \mathrm{d}t\,\Omega \int \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{a} \left(\frac{1}{2}\Pi_{ij}\delta a^{ij} + P_i\delta\frac{w^i}{\Omega} + \left(\Pi + \frac{w^i}{\Omega}P_i\right)\delta\ln\Omega\right). \tag{3.33}$$

The above momenta obey conservation equations as a consequence of the assumed invariance of the action under Galilean diffeomorphisms, which simultaneously guarantees their Galilean-covariant transformation rules. Galilean diffeomorphisms (2.47) are generated by vector fields on  $\mathcal{M}$  whose time component depends only on t:

$$\xi = \xi^t \partial_t + \xi^i \partial_i = \xi^{\hat{t}} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} + \xi^{\hat{i}} \partial_i \tag{3.34}$$

(this is the same expression as (2.71)), where  $\xi^{\hat{t}}(t) = \xi^t(t)\Omega(t)$  is a Galilean scalar, and  $\xi^{\hat{i}}(t, \mathbf{x}) = \xi^i - \xi^t w^i$  are the components of a Galilean vector. The variation under diffeomorphisms is implemented through the Lie derivative (the minus sign is conventional):

$$-\delta_{\xi}a^{ij} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi}a^{ij} = -2\left(\hat{\nabla}^{(i}\xi^{\hat{j})} + \hat{\gamma}^{wij}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \frac{1}{\Omega}w^{(i}a^{j)k}\partial_{k}\xi^{\hat{t}}\right),\tag{3.35}$$

where the last term drops for Galilean diffeomorphisms. Furthermore

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = -\frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{t}} \right) \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} - \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{i}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{i}} \right) \partial_i, \qquad (3.36)$$

from which, using (3.3), we infer

$$-\delta_{\xi}\Omega = \mathcal{L}_{\xi}\Omega = \partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}}\xi^{\hat{t}}, \qquad \delta_{\xi}w^{i} = -\mathcal{L}_{\xi}w^{i} = \partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{i}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}}\xi^{\hat{i}}.$$
(3.37)

Notice also the action on the clock form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} \theta^{\hat{t}} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{t}} \right) \theta^{\hat{t}} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D} \xi^{\hat{t}}}{\mathrm{d}t} \theta^{\hat{t}} = \mu \theta^{\hat{t}}, \qquad (3.38)$$

where we introduced

$$\mu(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}} \xi^{\hat{t}}}{\mathrm{d}t}$$
(3.39)

not to be confused with the chemical potential introduced in thermodynamics.

We can now determine the variation of the action under Galilean diffeomorphisms:

$$\delta_{\xi}S = \int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \Omega \left\{ -\xi^{\hat{t}} \left[ \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}\Pi}{dt} + \theta^{w}\Pi + \Pi_{ij}\hat{\gamma}^{wij} \right] \right. \\ \left. + \xi^{\hat{i}} \left[ \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}P_{i}}{dt} + \theta^{w}P_{i} + P_{j}\hat{\gamma}^{wj}{}_{i}^{i} + \hat{\nabla}^{j}\Pi_{ij} \right] \right\} \\ \left. + \int dt d^{d}x \left\{ \partial_{t} \left( \sqrt{a} \left( \Pi\xi^{\hat{t}} - P_{j}\xi^{\hat{j}} \right) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \partial_{i} \left( \sqrt{a} w^{i} \left( \Pi\xi^{\hat{t}} - P_{j}\xi^{\hat{j}} \right) - \sqrt{a} \Omega \Pi^{i}{}_{j}\xi^{\hat{j}} \right) \right\}.$$

$$(3.40)$$

Requiring that  $\delta_{\xi}S$  vanishes and ignoring the boundary terms (last two lines in eq. (3.40)), we reach two equations. The momentum equation is the simplest because  $\xi^{\hat{j}}$  being functions of both t and **x**, their factor must vanish:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^w\right)P_i + P_j\hat{\gamma}^{wj}{}_i + \hat{\nabla}^j\Pi_{ij} = 0.$$
(3.41)

The energy equation is more subtle because  $\xi^{\hat{t}}$  depends on t only. As a consequence it is enough to require that its factor be the Galilean divergence of a vector:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^w\right)\Pi + \Pi_{ij}\hat{\gamma}^{wij} = -\hat{\nabla}_i\Pi^i,\tag{3.42}$$

where  $\Pi^i$  is undetermined a priori. Indeed,  $\sqrt{a} \Omega \xi^{\hat{t}} \hat{\nabla}_i \Pi^i = \partial_i \left( \sqrt{a} \Omega \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi^i \right)$ , which leads to a boundary term and vanishes inside the integral. One can interpret  $\Pi^i$  as the *energy current* (also *energy flux*).

# Gauge invariance and matter conservation

Besides Galilean covariance, the action might also be invariant under a local U(1) symmetry, parameterized by  $\Lambda(t, \mathbf{x})$  and acting on the components of a gauge field  $\mathbf{B} = B(t, \mathbf{x})dt + B_i(t, \mathbf{x})dx^i$  as

$$\delta_{\Lambda}B_i = -\partial_i\Lambda, \quad \delta_{\Lambda}B = -\partial_t\Lambda. \tag{3.43}$$

The conjugate momenta are now the *matter density* and the *matter current*:

$$\varrho = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta B},\tag{3.44}$$

$$N^{i} = \frac{1}{\Omega\sqrt{a}} \left( w^{i} \frac{\delta S}{\delta B} - \frac{\delta S}{\delta B_{i}} \right)$$
(3.45)

with  $\frac{\delta S}{\delta B_i} = -\sqrt{a} \left(\Omega N^i + \rho w^i\right)$ , and

$$\delta S = -\int \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{a} \left( \varrho \delta B + \left( \Omega N^i + \varrho w^i \right) \delta B_i \right) \tag{3.46}$$

for the matter sector. The gauge variation of the action reads:

$$\delta_{\Lambda}S = \int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \left( \varrho \partial_{t}\Lambda + \left( \Omega N^{i} + \varrho w^{i} \right) \partial_{i}\Lambda \right)$$
  
$$= -\int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \Omega \Lambda \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}\varrho}{dt} + \theta^{w} \varrho + \hat{\nabla}_{i}N^{i} \right)$$
  
$$+ \int dt d^{d}x \left\{ \partial_{t} \left( \sqrt{a}\Lambda \varrho \right) + \partial_{i} \left( \sqrt{a}\Lambda \left( \Omega N^{i} + \varrho w^{i} \right) \right) \right\}.$$
(3.47)

Invariance of S leads to the Galilean continuity equation:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^w\right)\varrho + \hat{\nabla}_i N^i = 0.$$
(3.48)

The continuity equation can be alternatively presented in an integral form, using Stokes and Gauss theorems:  $^{33}$ 

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} dt d^{d}x \Omega \sqrt{a} \left( \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}}{dt} + \theta^{w} \right) \varrho + \hat{\nabla}_{i} N^{i} \right) = \\
\oint_{\partial \mathcal{W}} \sqrt{a} \varrho \left( dx^{1} - w^{1} dt \right) \wedge \ldots \wedge \left( dx^{d} - w^{d} dt \right) \\
- \oint_{\partial \mathcal{W}} \sqrt{a} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \left( dx^{1} - w^{1} dt \right) \wedge \ldots \wedge N^{i} \theta^{\hat{t}} \wedge \ldots \wedge \left( dx^{d} - w^{d} dt \right),$$
(3.49)

where  $\mathcal{W} \subset \mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}$  and  $N^i \theta^{\hat{t}}$  is the *i*th factor in the exterior product of the last term  $(\theta^{\hat{t}} \text{ is the clock form given in (3.2)})$ . From this we obtain a conserved charge — under the usual assumptions for the behaviour of the fields — expressed as an integral over an arbitrary hypersurface  $\Sigma_d$  of  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}$ . It coincides with the relativistic Zermelo result captured e.g. in (2.78).

Although not compulsory, it is convenient to chose  $\Sigma_d \equiv S$  i.e. a constant-*t* hypersurface. We then find

$$Q_N = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{a} \,\varrho, \tag{3.50}$$

which fits the usual definition of charge in Galilean physics. In this case, the conservation of  $Q_N$  is often phrased as independence with respect to ordinary time t, although it is actually a stronger statement, even in Newton-Cartan spacetimes, where there is a privileged time direction (for the relativistic case, see the comment in footnote 9). Time-independence appears explicitly if one trades S in the integral (3.50) with  $\mathcal{V} \subset S$ . Assuming for simplicity that the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{V}$  of that domain does not depend on t and using (3.48), the time evolution of the matter/charge content of  $\mathcal{V}$  is

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\int_{\mathcal{V}}\mathrm{d}^{d}x\sqrt{a}\,\varrho = -\int_{\mathcal{V}}\mathrm{d}^{d}x\,\partial_{i}\left(\sqrt{a}\left(N^{i}+\varrho\frac{w^{i}}{\Omega}\right)\right) = -\int_{\partial\mathcal{V}}\star\left(\mathbf{N}+\varrho\frac{\mathbf{w}}{\Omega}\right),\qquad(3.51)$$

where  $\star$  stands for the *d*-dimensional S-Hodge dual based on  $\sqrt{a}$  and on the antisymmetric symbol  $\epsilon_{i_1...i_d}$  with  $\epsilon_{1...d} = 1$ . If the integral is performed over the entire S it vanishes (assuming a reasonable asymptotic behaviour), and  $Q_N$  in (3.50) is conserved.

Equation (3.48) and its variables are a priori independent of the energy-momentum equations (3.41), (3.42) and their variables. As we will see, thermodynamics sets a relationship among the momentum  $P_i$  and the current  $N_i$ .

#### Isometries, conservation and non-conservation laws

In (pseudo-)Riemannian geometry, isometries are diffeomorphisms generated by vectors leaving the metric invariant, i.e. requiring (2.12).<sup>34</sup> Newton-Cartan spacetimes may also have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Stokes theorem is valid irrespective of the metric. Gauss' requires a dual exterior derivative  $d^{\dagger}$ , which can be introduced consistently despite the cometric being degenerate. We will not elaborate on this matter here. For the Carrollian case, this was discussed for d = 1 in ref. [26].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>For historical reasons, some authors use the name "Killing fields" for generators of isometries in a (pseudo-)Riemannian manifold exclusively. We take the freedom here to call every isometry generator a Killing field, be it for weak or strong, Newton-Cartan or Carrollian manifolds.

isometries. Due to the degenerate cometric, however, their definition and the determination of the Killing fields are more subtle. This subject has been abundantly discussed in the literature. We will summarize the features important for our purpose regarding the Galilean fluid dynamics.

The Killing fields are of the Galilean type (3.34) and are required to obey

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} a^{ij} = 0, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\xi} \theta^{i} = 0, \tag{3.52}$$

since the fundamental geometric data are the cometric (3.1) and the clock form (3.2). Using expressions (3.35) and (3.38) for Galilean diffeomorphisms ( $\xi^{\hat{t}}$  is only *t*-dependent), we obtain the Galilean Killing equations:

$$\hat{\nabla}^{(i}\xi^{\hat{j})} + \hat{\gamma}^{wij}\xi^{\hat{t}} = 0, \qquad \frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}\xi^{\hat{t}}}{dt} = 0.$$
(3.53)

These equations generally admit an infinite number of solutions. The reason is that they refer to the *weak definition* of Newton-Cartan spacetimes [36] in terms of the cometric and the clock form, and express exclusively the invariance of these data. A strong definition exists and requires additionally a symmetric affine connection, which is metric-compatible and parallel-transports the clock form.<sup>35</sup> Isometries are thus restricted to comply with the strong definition, and leave the affine connection invariant. This reduces the set of generators to a finite number [87].

Notice also that the fundamental geometric piece of data for a Newton-Cartan spacetime is genuinely the clock form  $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  rather than the field of observers  $e_{\hat{t}}$ . The latter is not required to have a vanishing Lie derivative along Killing vectors, and using (3.36) and (3.53) we indeed find

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = -\frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{\imath}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{\imath}} \right) \partial_i, \qquad (3.54)$$

for a generic Killing field  $\xi$ .

Consider as an example the Newton-Cartan manifold with  $a^{ij} = \delta^{ij}$ ,  $\Omega = 1$  and  $w^i$  constant. This is our familiar  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{E}_3$  spacetime, which is flat for the connection introduced earlier. Equations (3.53) possess an infinite number of solutions:

$$\xi = \left(\Omega_i^{\ j}(t)x^i + Z^j(t)\right)\partial_j + T\partial_t \tag{3.55}$$

with T a constant and  $\Omega_{ij} = \Omega_i^k \delta_{kj}$  antisymmetric. Imposing the invariance of the affine connection, one recovers [87] the (d+2)(d+1)/2-dimensional Galilean algebra  $\mathfrak{gal}(d+1)$  with contant  $\Omega_{ij}$  generating the  $\mathfrak{so}(d)$  rotations,  $Z^j(t) = V^j t + X^j$  for the Galilean boosts and spatial translations, and T for the time translations. We find in particular that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = -\left(V^i + w^k \Omega_k^{\ i}\right) \partial_i \neq 0, \tag{3.56}$$

showing among others that the boosts produce a displacement in the field of observers. This is expected because  $w^i$  describes the constant velocity of the original inertial frame, which

 $<sup>^{35}</sup>$ It turns out that the connection we have introduced in this section obeys these properties.

is shifted during a Galilean boost, and nicely illustrates why it would have been unnatural to impose the invariance of  $e_{f}$  under the action of an isometry.

Assuming the existence of an isometry, we can now address the conservation law that would take the Galilean form (3.48) with a Galilean scalar  $\kappa$  and a Galilean vector  $K^i$  determined from the Killing components  $\xi^{\hat{t}}$  and  $\xi^{\hat{i}}$ , and from the Galilean momenta, i.e. the energy density  $\Pi$ , the momentum  $P_i$  and the energy-stress tensor  $\Pi_{ij}$  defined in eqs. (3.30), (3.31), (3.32), as well as the energy flux  $\Pi_i$ , and satisfying the conservation equations (3.41) and (3.42). The Galilean scalar

$$\mathscr{K} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^w\right)\kappa + \hat{\nabla}_i K^i \tag{3.57}$$

would then vanish on-shell. The components of the Galilean current  $\kappa$  and  $K^i$  are read off in the boundary terms of  $\delta_{\xi}S$  given in (3.40) and set on-shell:<sup>36</sup>

$$\kappa = \xi^{\hat{i}} P_i - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi, \tag{3.58}$$

$$K_i = \xi^{\hat{j}} \Pi_{ij} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi_i. \tag{3.59}$$

Using the conservation equations (3.41) and (3.42) we obtain the following result:

$$\mathcal{K} = -\frac{\Pi}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}\xi^{\hat{t}}}{dt} + \frac{P_i}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{i}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{i}} \right) + \Pi_{ij} \left( \hat{\nabla}^i \xi^{\hat{j}} + \hat{\gamma}^{wij} \xi^{\hat{t}} \right)$$
(3.60)

$$= \frac{P_i}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{\imath}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{\imath}} \right).$$
(3.61)

We have used the Killing equations (3.53) to reach (3.61) from (3.60), which shows that in Newton-Cartan spacetimes, a Killing field fails to systematically support an on-shell conservation law for Galilean dynamics. This could have been anticipated, actually. Indeed,  $P_i$  is conjugate to  $w^i/\Omega$  (see (3.31)) and  $w^i$  transforms under diffeomorphisms according to (3.37), even when this diffeomorphism is generated by a Killing vector field. This is precisely what eq. (3.61) conveys. Still, a conservation law exists for those Killing fields, which happen to satisfy  $\mathcal{L}_{\xi} e_{\hat{t}} \equiv [\xi, e_{\hat{t}}] = 0$  — using Jacobi identity, one checks that the commutator of two such Killings leaves also  $e_{\hat{t}}$  invariant. As we mentioned earlier, ordinary Galilean boosts in  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{E}_3$  do not, eq. (3.56). In other instances with multiple degrees of freedom arising from a Laurent expansion in powers of  $c^2$  (see section 3.3), several currents coexist in the presence of a Killing, and some can be conserved due to the accidental — as opposed to a priori demanded — absence of a  $P_i$ -like component.

The above result sounds iconoclastic, in view of the robustness and generality of Noether's theorems. In ref. [42], for instance, the existence of an isometry-related conserved current in torsional Newton-Cartan spacetimes has not been demonstrated, not even questioned — it was just assumed to be true. However, *it is not ipso facto*, for the simple reason that isometries are less restraining in Newton-Cartan spacetimes, so that only a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>They are in fact inherited from the relativistic-current components i.e. as a large-c expansion of (2.76) and (2.77), and the precise computation is performed at the end of section 3.3, eq. (3.129).

restricted class of Galilean Killing fields might indeed be eligible for conservation laws — boosts in flat spacetime aren't.

One may naturally contemplate that  $\xi$  being a Killing field, the right-hand side of eq. (3.61) is associated with a *boundary term*. If this happens, the boundary term contributes the current components  $\kappa$  and  $K^i$ , leading to an effective  $\kappa'$  and  $K^{i\prime}$ , truly conserved. However, this does not seem to be the rule, not even in flat space, where  $\mathcal{K} = P_i \left( V^i + w^k \Omega_k^{\ i} \right)$ , obtained using eqs. (3.55) and (3.56).<sup>37</sup>

The same conclusion will be reached for Carrollian spacetimes in section 4.1, and further discussed from the large-c perspective in the upcoming paragraphs, as well as in appendix D.

#### Weyl invariance, conformal isometries, conservation and non-conservation laws

Fluids involving massless excitations have observables with remarkable scaling properties. We can introduce Weyl transformations acting as follows on the fundamental geometric data of a Newton-Cartan geometry:

$$a^{ij} \to \mathfrak{B}^2 a^{ij}, \qquad \Omega \to \frac{1}{\mathfrak{B}}\Omega, \quad w^i \to w^i, \qquad w_i \to \frac{1}{\mathfrak{B}^2}w_i.$$
 (3.62)

Since  $\Omega$  is a function of t only, the second of (3.62) imposes  $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B}(t)$ . Weyl-invariance requirement of an effective action S leads to following weights for the Galilean momenta in (3.30), (3.31), (3.32): the energy-stress tensor  $\Pi_{ij}$  has weight d-1, the momentum  $P_i$ , d, and the energy density  $\Pi$ , d+1. The energy flux  $\Pi_i$  introduced in (3.42) has also weight d. Furthermore, using (3.33) with  $\delta_{\mathscr{B}}S = 0$  implies that

$$\Pi_i^{\ i} = \Pi. \tag{3.63}$$

On the matter sector, the gauge fields B and  $B_i$  are weight-zero, whereas  $\rho$  is weight-d and  $N_i$ , d-1.

Weyl covariance can be implemented with the appropriate Galilean-Weyl covariant derivatives for both time and space. These will be introduced latter in section 3.4, our aim being here to foster on the case of conformal Killing fields and their possible role in supporting conservation laws within Weyl-invariant Galilean dynamics.

Following [34, 36] a conformal isometry is generated by a vector field  $\xi$  satisfying

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}a^{ij} = \lambda a^{ij}, \tag{3.64}$$

where

$$\lambda(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{2}{d} \left( \hat{\nabla}_i \xi^{\hat{\imath}} + \theta^w \xi^{\hat{t}} \right).$$
(3.65)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>For the conservation to occur in flat space,  $P_i$  should be a *potential flow* (also called *irrotational*, see [1] section 9) i.e. obey  $P_i = (\partial_t + w^j \partial_j) \phi_i + \partial_i \phi$  for some set of functions  $\phi(t, \mathbf{x})$  and  $\phi_i(t, \mathbf{x})$  — scalar and vector potentials. Then  $\mathcal{K} = (\partial_t + w^j \partial_j) \phi_i W^i + \partial_i \phi W^i$  with  $W^i = V^i + w^k \Omega_k^i$  and the conservation works out ((3.57) vanishes) with current components  $\kappa - \phi_i W^i$  and  $K^i - \phi W^i$ . Notice that in contrast to the present framework, the conservation is generally valid for free-particle motion on Newton-Cartan flat spacetimes, as in that case the momentum is a total derivative (typically  $\dot{x}^i$ ). Appendix C summarizes this instance and provides the necessary details for making the statement sound.

This set of partial differential equations is not sufficient for defining conformal Killing vectors — again a consequence of the cometric degeneration. Besides, imposing a requirement similar to (3.64) on the clock form  $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  does not help since according to (3.38), the Lie derivative of  $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  is already proportional to  $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  with factor (3.39). What is rather natural is to tune  $\mu$ versus  $\lambda$  so that the scaling of the metric be twice that of the clock form:<sup>38</sup>

$$2\mu + \lambda = 0. \tag{3.66}$$

This is a consistent Weyl-covariant condition, leading to a reasonable set of conformal Killing fields. Using the strong versus the weak definition of Newton-Cartan structures further reduces the freedom for conformal isometries, and opens the Pandora box for investigating conformal Galilean algebras in flat Newton-Cartan spacetimes: cga(d+1) and their multiple variations. Discussing these in detail is beyond our scope and ample information can be found in the quoted references.

Assuming Weyl invariance i.e. (3.63), and the presence of a conformal Killing field, the conservation equations (3.41) and (3.42) can be exploited for computing  $\mathcal{K}$  defined in (3.57), (3.58) and (3.59):

$$\mathscr{K} = -\Pi\left(\frac{\lambda}{2} + \mu\right) + \frac{P_i}{\Omega}\left(\partial_t \xi^{\hat{\imath}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{\imath}}\right).$$
(3.67)

The extra condition (3.66) defining the conformal Killing vectors of Newton-Cartan spacetimes emerges naturally in the quest of conserved Galilean currents and gives  $\mathcal{K} = \frac{P_i}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{\imath}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{\imath}} \right) \neq 0$ . As for the ordinary Killings, a conformal Killing vector does not guarantee a conservation law for Weyl-invariant Galilean dynamics.

# 3.2 Galilean hydrodynamics as a non-relativistic limit

#### Philosophy and large-c behaviour

Equations (3.41), (3.42) and (3.48) summarize the conservation properties of Galilean dynamics on a general, curved and time-dependent space S, spatial section of a torsionless Newton-Cartan spacetime  $\mathbb{R} \times S$ . They are general-Galilean-covariant and are a consequence of this invariance, as much as the relativistic equations (2.1) and (2.2) reflect general Riemannian covariance.

Fluid dynamics is more. Its description requires expressing the momenta in terms of the velocity field  $\mathbf{v}$ , the heat current  $\mathbf{Q}$ , the stress tensor  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}$ , together with local-equilibrium thermodynamic variables such as  $e, p, h, \varrho, \mu, T$  and s, obeying further thermodynamic laws (see appendix A), and ultimately entering the constitutive relations. A systematic approach to this programme is based on the large-c expansion of relativistic hydrodynamics in Zermelo frame, which is the natural pseudo-Riemannian ascendent of the present Galilean framework. This method was applied successfully in [29], where the Eckart frame was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>More generally, one considers  $2\mu + z\lambda = 0$ , where z is the *dynamical exponent* i.e. minus the conformal weight of  $\Omega$ . Here, due to the close relationship of our Newton-Cartan spacetimes with relativistic ascendents, the weight of  $\Omega$  is inherited from the latter and z = 1. One also defines the level N = 2/z, which appears in the conformal algebras emerging in flat Newton-Cartan spacetimes.

implicitly assumed on the relativistic side, subsequently ignoring the role of the current and the chemical potential. We will generalize it here in order to address the issue of the non-relativistic hydrodynamic-frame invariance, which relies intimately on the behaviour of the various observables.

The dependence with respect to the velocity of light is explicit in the relativistic geometric data (see the metric (2.46)). This is our choice for making the bridge with Newton-Cartan straightforward. As a consequence, the behaviour of kinematical observables is also known — see (2.23), (2.24), (2.25), (2.51) and (2.52). We find in particular

$$u^{0} = \frac{c}{\Omega} + O(1/c), \quad u_{i} = \frac{v_{i} - w_{i}}{\Omega} + O(1/c^{2}), \quad (3.68)$$

and

$$\sigma_{ij} = \xi^{v}_{\ ij} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^{2}}\right), \tag{3.69}$$

$$\Theta = \theta^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right),\tag{3.70}$$

$$\omega_{ij} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_{[i} (v - w)_{j]} \right) + \mathcal{O} \left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right).$$
 (3.71)

The non-relativistic limit of thermodynamic variables is standard and is recalled in appendix A. The precise relation of the Galilean density  $\rho$  to the proper density  $\rho_0$  deserves however a comment. Indeed, the density measured by an observer is the projection of the current (2.4) onto the observer's velocity. For instance, an observer at rest with respect to the fluid, i.e. running with velocity u, finds

$$\varrho_0 = -\frac{1}{c^2} J_\mu u^\mu. \tag{3.72}$$

The density  $\rho$  is the one measured by a fiducial observer of Zermelo frame. Since  $\rho$  is the "non-relativistic density," this fiducial observer should have some "absolute" status. In Minkowski spacetime we would have simply taken the inertial observer at rest in the inertial frame at hand. In Zermelo it is natural to consider an observer with velocity  $u_Z \equiv e_{\hat{t}}$  as given in (3.3) because

$$u_{\rm Z}^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}u_{\rm Z}^{\nu} = 0, \qquad (3.73)$$

and thus this observer indeed defines a locally inertial frame.<sup>39</sup> Hence we obtain

$$\varrho = -\frac{1}{c^2} J_\mu u_Z^\mu = \frac{\Omega}{c} J^0 = \Omega \gamma \varrho_0 + j_i \frac{v^i - w^i}{c^2 \Omega}, \qquad (3.74)$$

which naturally coincides with the hydrodynamic-frame invariant  $\rho_{0r}$  introduced in (2.69). This expression agrees with ref. [29] only in the *Eckart frame*, i.e. when  $j_i = 0$ .

The behaviour of  $\rho_0$  in terms of  $\rho$  at large c depends on the behaviour of  $j_i$  and this brings us to the heart of the discussion of the non-relativistic limit in hydrodynamics:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>This is precisely why it was stated earlier that a frame with velocity  $\mathbf{w} = w^i \partial_i$  was inertial in the Newton-Cartan geometry (3.3), (3.4). Notice that the property (3.73) holds because  $\Omega$  is a function of time only, which is the emanation of the torsionless nature of the limiting Newton-Cartan structure, and enables to define in turn an absolute Newtonian time in this Galilean limit. This framework, where no isometry is assumed, is the closest we can go to the standard classical Newtonian physics on  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{E}_d$  with clock form dt.

how do the stress tensor  $\tau_{ij}$ , the heat current  $q_i$  and the non-perfect current  $j_i$  behave at large c? There is no absolute answer to these questions, it depends on the microscopic properties of the system (the interactions in particular). These properties are encapsulated in the transport coefficients appearing in the constitutive relations for  $\tau_{ij}$ ,  $q_i$  and  $j_i$  as derivative expansions. For instance, at first-derivative order  $\tau_{(1)ij} = -2\eta\sigma_{ij} - \zeta h_{ij}\Theta$ ,  $q_{(1)i} = -\kappa h_i^{\nu} \left(\partial_{\nu}T + \frac{T}{c^2} a_{\nu}\right)$  and  $j_{(1)i} = -h_i^{\nu} \sigma_T T \partial_{\nu} \frac{\mu_0}{T}$  with a typical relationship among the transport coefficients:  $\kappa = \frac{\sigma_T w^2}{T \varrho_0^2}$  (see e.g. ref. [10], where  $\sigma_T$  is referred to as the charge conductivity). Under the reasonable assumption that  $\eta$ ,  $\zeta$  and  $\kappa$  (the shear and bulk viscosities, and the heat conductivity) are of dominant order 1,  $\sigma_T$  is of order  $1/c^4$ (due to  $w^2$ ). Since  $\mu_0$  is of order  $c^2$  (rest-mass contribution in (A.4)) we conclude that  $\tau_{ij}$ and  $q_i$  are of order 1, whereas  $j_i$  is of order  $1/c^2$ . For reasons that will become clear in the discussion on hydrodynamic-frame invariance, we would like to be slightly more general at this stage, and assume the following behaviour:

$$\tau_{ij} = -\Sigma_{ij} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right),\tag{3.75}$$

$$q_l = c^2 r_l + k_l + O(1/c^2), \qquad (3.76)$$

$$j_l = n_l + \frac{m_l}{c^2} + O(1/c^4).$$
 (3.77)

Following the above discussion,  $r_l$  and  $n_l$  are expected to vanish for ordinary non-relativistic fluids. Their presence will disclose some interesting properties though.

Before we proceed with the Galilean fluid equations a comment should be made. Considering several distinct orders in the expansion of the relativistic data amounts to allow for a multiplication of the degrees of freedom in the Galilean limit (see the end of section 3.3). This is accompanied with further dynamical (or possibly constraint) equations. Sometimes, these degrees of freedom and their dynamics can emerge separately, by performing an appropriate  $c^2$  rescaling in the relativistic data before taking the limit. This is how the electric versus magnetic options occur, as e.g. in refs. [34, 101].

Inserting the expression (3.77) in (3.74), we find:<sup>40</sup>

$$\varrho_0 = \varrho - \frac{1}{c^2} \left( \frac{\varrho}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^2 + \frac{\mathbf{n} \cdot (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w})}{\Omega} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left( \frac{1}{c^4} \right).$$
(3.78)

The latter can in turn be used inside (A.2) leading to

$$\varepsilon = c^2 \rho + \rho \left( e - \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^2 \right) - \frac{\mathbf{n} \cdot (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w})}{\Omega} + \mathcal{O}\left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right), \tag{3.79}$$

where the first term is the rest energy, the second is the internal energy corrected by the kinetic energy with respect to the local inertial frame, and the third is a contribution originating from the leading term in the matter current (3.77). We already foresee that this amounts to the presence of a spring or a sink that create or consume matter, and this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>Although  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \Omega \gamma = 1$ , we must keep terms of order  $1/c^2$  because of the rest mass contributions.

will be confirmed when reaching the conservation equation. This situation is usually not considered except when discussing diffusion or similar phenomena (see for instance [86], chapter VI).

A last comment concerns the role of (A.2), or its large-*c* emanation (3.79). This equation of thermodynamic nature, makes the bridge between energy-momentum and matter conservations. As we will see soon, it establishes a relationship amongst  $P_i$  and  $N_i$  respectively defined in (3.32) and (3.45) as the fluid momentum and the matter current.

Notice that if several charges and associated conserved currents are present, only one will have a privileged relationship with the energy-momentum, being therefore affiliated with mass conservation — and entering the thermodynamic relation (A.2), as mentioned in appendix A.

#### Galilean momenta

The Galilean momenta defined earlier in (3.30), (3.31), (3.32), (3.44) and (3.45) will now appear in the large-*c* expansion of the relativistic energy-momentum and current components (2.63) and (2.65) in Zermelo frame, as explicit expressions in terms of the various hydrodynamic and thermodynamic observables. This includes the energy current  $\Pi^i$  introduced in eq. (3.42) — and not a priori defined as a variation of the effective action with respect to some conjugate variable. As we have already emphasized, the thermodynamic laws set relationships amongst the energy-momentum and the matter.

Using eqs. (2.66), (2.67), (2.68), (2.69), (2.70) and (3.74), we obtain:

$$\varrho_{0r} = \varrho, \tag{3.80}$$

$$j_{\rm ri} = N_i + \frac{1}{c^2} p_i + O(1/c^4),$$
 (3.81)

where we introduced the leading and subleading matter currents

$$N^{i} = \varrho \frac{v^{i} - w^{i}}{\Omega} + n^{i}, \qquad (3.82)$$

$$p_i = m_i - \frac{\mathbf{n} \cdot (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \left( v_i - w_i \right)}{\Omega^2}.$$
(3.83)

The subleading terms must be kept because they are multiplied in the expansions by the rest-mass term and contribute the equations. Anticipating the next steps, we set

$$P^{i} = \varrho \frac{v^{i} - w^{i}}{\Omega} + r^{i}. \tag{3.84}$$

We recognize in  $P_i$  (defined generically in (3.31) — indices raised with  $a^{ij}$ ) a slight extension of the usual fluid momentum, while the matter current  $N^i$  (introduced in (3.45)) is related to the former as

$$N^{i} = P^{i} + n^{i} - r^{i}. (3.85)$$

The more standard equality  $N^i = P^i$  occurs when  $n^i = r^i$ .

Similarly we find for the energy-momentum

$$\varepsilon_{\rm r} = c^2 \rho + \Pi + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right),\tag{3.86}$$

$$q_{\rm ri} = c^2 P_i + \Pi_i + p_i + O(1/c^2), \qquad (3.87)$$

$$p_{\rm r}a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij} = \Pi_{ij} + O\left(1/c^2\right)$$
 (3.88)

 $\mathrm{with}^{41}$ 

$$\Pi_{ij} = \rho \frac{(v_i - w_i)(v_j - w_j)}{\Omega^2} + pa_{ij} - \Sigma_{ij} + 2\frac{(v_{(i} - w_{(i)})r_{j)}}{\Omega}, \qquad (3.89)$$

$$\Pi = \rho \left( e + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^2 \right) + \frac{(2\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{n}) \cdot (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w})}{\Omega}, \qquad (3.90)$$

$$\Pi_{i} = \varrho \frac{v_{i} - w_{i}}{\Omega} \left( h + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^{2} \right) - \frac{v^{j} - w^{j}}{\Omega} \Sigma_{j}^{i} + \frac{r_{i}}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^{2} + \frac{\mathbf{r} \cdot (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \left( v_{i} - w_{i} \right)}{\Omega^{2}} + k_{i} - m_{i}, \qquad (3.91)$$

the explicit expressions for (3.30) and (3.32). Observe that we have split the order-1 contribution in (3.87) as  $\Pi_i + p_i$ . This is not arbitrary because  $p_i$ , defined in (3.83), occurs also as subleading term in the matter current (3.81), and these will annihilate in the final equations, which will turn exactly as (3.41), (3.42) and (3.48). We recover in the above formulas the fluid energy-stress tensor, energy density and energy current, as defined in ref. [1] §§ 15 and 49, generalized though in a covariant fashion for arbitrary torsionless Newton-Cartan geometries. They all receive exotic contributions from the  $n_i$  and  $r_i$ , absent in standard Galilean fluids. The combination

$$Q_l = k_l - m_l, \tag{3.92}$$

inside the energy current, appears as the Galilean heat current. It receives contributions from both the relativistic heat current  $q_i$  and the relativistic non-perfect matter current  $j_i$  (see (3.76) and (3.77)). This is exactly how it should: in Landau-Lifshitz frame  $q_i = 0$ and the Galilean heat current originates exclusively from the relativistic non-perfect matter current, whereas in Eckart frame where  $j_i = 0$  it is the other way around. A more complete discussion on hydrodynamic frames will be brought off in a short while. As anticipated in footnote 13, we can however notice that for fluids without conserved current, although sensible, the Landau-Lifshitz hydrodynamic frame is not suited for the Galilean limit — it leads to  $Q_i = 0$  and Eckart frame is always preferred [8].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>The energy current  $\Pi_i$  defined in (3.91) differs slightly from the expression (3.44) of [29], even at vanishing **r**. In that reference, neither were the momenta defined as variations of an effective action, nor was the hydrodynamic-frame invariance a guide.

# Hydrodynamic equations

The fluid equations (2.1) and (2.2) translate the vanishing of

$$c\Omega\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu0} = c^{2}\left(\mathscr{C} + \hat{\nabla}_{i}\left(r^{i} - n^{i}\right)\right) + \hat{\nabla}_{i}p^{i} + \mathscr{C} + O\left(\frac{1}{c^{2}}\right), \qquad (3.93)$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\ i} = \mathcal{M}_i + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right),\tag{3.94}$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = \mathscr{C} + \frac{1}{c^2}\hat{\nabla}_i p^i + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^4}\right), \qquad (3.95)$$

with

$$\mathscr{E} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\Pi}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^w \Pi + \Pi_{ij} \hat{\gamma}^{wij} + \hat{\nabla}_i \Pi^i, \qquad (3.96)$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{i} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\dot{\mathrm{D}} P_{i}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^{w} P_{i} + P_{j} \hat{\gamma}^{wj}{}_{i} + \hat{\nabla}^{j} \Pi_{ij}, \qquad (3.97)$$

$$\mathscr{C} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\dot{\mathcal{D}}\varrho}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^w \varrho + \hat{\nabla}_i N^i.$$
(3.98)

Two fluid equations emerge from (3.93) because of the presence of order-1 and order- $c^2$  terms that should both be zero in the infinite-*c* limit. The latter should be taken after we combine (3.95) with (3.94) as

$$c\Omega\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu0} = c^{2}\hat{\nabla}_{i}\left(r^{i} - n^{i}\right) + \mathscr{E} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^{2}}\right), \qquad (3.99)$$

leading to

$$\hat{\nabla}_i \left( r^i - n^i \right) = 0, \qquad (3.100)$$

and

$$\mathscr{E} = 0, \tag{3.101}$$

which is the fluid energy equation. Using (3.85), eq. (3.100) is recast as

$$\hat{\nabla}_i \left( N^i - P^i \right) = 0, \tag{3.102}$$

which is a constraint equation for the divergences of the matter current and the fluid momentum. Finally, (3.94) provides the fluid momentum equation

$$\mathcal{M}_i = 0, \tag{3.103}$$

whereas (3.95) exhibits the continuity equation, which thanks to (3.102) also reads:<sup>42</sup>

$$\mathscr{C} = 0, \tag{3.104}$$

possibly recast in several forms

$$\mathscr{C} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\dot{D}\varrho}{dt} + \theta^w \varrho + \hat{\nabla}_i P^i = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}\varrho}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^v \varrho + \hat{\nabla}_i r^i = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}\varrho}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^v \varrho + \hat{\nabla}_i n^i = 0.$$
(3.105)

 $<sup>^{42}</sup>$ This is the typical equation describing phenomena, where several fluid components are present but are not separately conserved. Examples are diffusion or superfluid dynamics (e.g. [86], chapters VI and XVI, eqs. (58,3) or (139,3)).

We can now summarize our findings. The Galilean fluid equations on a general background are by essence fully covariant under Galilean diffeomorphisms (alternative views about this statement are available in ref. [29]) and extend the standard hydrodynamic equations on flat Euclidean space with absolute time. The momentum equation (3.103) coincides with (3.41), whereas the energy equation (3.101) is (3.42). Similarly, the continuity equation (3.105) is identified with (3.48), provided the matter current and the fluid momentum have equal divergence (3.102). This requirement is subsequent to the relationship (3.79), which finally relates the energy-momentum equations with the matter equation.

Strictly speaking, eq. (3.105) is not a conservation law. Integrated inside a static domain  $\mathcal{V}$ , the density  $\rho$  varies in time, not only because of the expansion or the contraction of  $\mathcal{V}$  (term  $\rho\theta^{\nu}$ ), but also due to the flux of **n** through  $\partial\mathcal{V}$ . Using (3.51) we find:

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\int_{\mathcal{V}}\mathrm{d}^{d}x\sqrt{a}\,\varrho + \int_{\partial\mathcal{V}}\varrho\frac{\star\mathbf{v}}{\Omega} = -\int_{\partial\mathcal{V}}\star\mathbf{n}.$$
(3.106)

Allegedly, **n** appears as the flux of matter brought about by a sink or a spring. Furthermore, eq. (3.100) transcribes that matter loss or gain goes along with heat loss or gain. In usual Galilean hydrodynamics  $r^i$  is required to vanish, which then forbids such spring or of matter. At the same time, in those cases  $n^i = 0$ , and the fluid momentum and matter current are identical:  $P_i = N_i$ . The systems under investigation here are more general and possess a remarkable property, which is broken in ordinary non-relativistic fluids: Galilean hydrodynamic frame invariance.

## The fate of hydrodynamic-frame invariance

The relativistic fluid equations are invariant under arbitrary unimodular transformations of the velocity field u, captured in<sup>43</sup>  $v^k \rightarrow v^k + \delta v^k(t, \mathbf{x})$ , provided they are accompanied with the transformations of all other dynamical quantities, as described in eqs. (2.57), (2.58), (2.59), (2.61) and (2.62). Does this survive in the Galilean limit?

The intuitive answer to this question is no. The velocity field is a physical and observable quantity and only variations by constant values in directions associated with isometries of the underlying Galilean spacetime, if any, might leave the equations invariant. The fluid density  $\rho$  is also physical and has furthermore a microscopic definition in terms of an observable expectation value. It is hard to imagine how one could maintain the continuity equation invariant without altering the density. Although this might still be considered as an abstract field redefinition,<sup>44</sup> it would be at the expense of giving up the physical meaning of the various quantities at hand.

The above intuitive answer seems to contradict the mathematical structure of the equations describing the dynamics. Indeed, on the one hand the operators entering equations (3.96), (3.97) and (3.98) are velocity-independent; on the other hand, the momenta  $\rho$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>The infinitesimal local Lorentz transformations are parameterized with Lorentz boost and rotation generators,  $V^i(t, \mathbf{x})$  and  $\Omega^{ij}(t, \mathbf{x})$  — antisymmetric, as follows:  $\delta v^i = V^i - V^j \frac{(v_j - w_j)(v^i - w^i)}{c^2 \Omega^2} + \Omega^{ij} (v_j - w_j)$ . In the Galilean limit the general local velocity transformation is thus  $\delta v^i = V^i + \Omega^{ij} (v_j - w_j)$  — Galilean boosts and rotations.

 $<sup>^{44}</sup>$ This point of view, slightly different from ours, is adopted to some extent in [63, 64]. We acknowledge a rich exchange with P. Kovtun on that matter.
$N_i$ ,  $P_i$ ,  $\Pi$ ,  $\Pi_i$  and  $\Pi_{ij}$ , appear as coefficients in the expansion of the hydrodynamic-frameinvariant relativistic momenta (3.80), (3.81), (3.86), (3.87) and (3.88). It is however too naive to infer that the Galilean momenta are automatically invariant. They are obtained assuming a behaviour of the stress, and of the heat and matter currents with respect to  $c^2$  (eqs. (3.75), (3.76), (3.77), (3.78), (3.79)), and this behaviour may or may not be stable under velocity transformations.

The precise answer calls for a thorough examination of the transformations (2.57), (2.58), (2.59), (2.61) and (2.62) in the infinite-*c* limit, and of their effect on the non-relativistic quantities introduced through (3.75), (3.76), (3.77), (3.78) and (3.79). We find the following transformations under the action of general local Galilean boosts and rotations:<sup>45</sup>

$$a_{ij}\delta p - \delta\Sigma_{ij} = -\frac{2}{\Omega}r_{(i}\delta v_{j)}, \qquad (3.107)$$

$$\delta r_i = -\frac{\varrho}{\Omega} \delta v_i, \tag{3.108}$$

$$\delta k_i = \frac{\delta v_i}{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\Omega} + \frac{\delta v^j}{\Omega} \left( \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} r_j - \varrho \frac{(v_i - w_i)(v_j - w_j)}{\Omega^2} - \varrho h a_{ij} + \Sigma_{ij} \right),$$
(3.109)

$$\delta Q_i = \frac{\delta v^j}{\Omega} \left( (r_j - n_j) \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} - \rho h a_{ij} + \Sigma_{ij} \right), \qquad (3.110)$$

$$\rho \delta e = (n_i - 2r_i) \frac{\delta v^i}{\Omega}, \qquad (3.111)$$

$$\delta \varrho = 0, \tag{3.112}$$

$$\delta n_i = -\frac{\varrho}{\Omega} \delta v_i, \tag{3.113}$$

$$\delta m_i = \frac{\delta v^j}{\Omega} \left( n_j - \rho \frac{v_j - w_j}{\Omega} \right) \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} + \frac{\delta v_i}{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\Omega}, \qquad (3.114)$$

and thus

$$\delta\left(n^{i}-r^{i}\right)=0. \qquad (3.115)$$

In turn, this action translates into the invariance of the fundamental momenta, i.e. the fluid energy density, the fluid energy current, the fluid energy-stress tensor, the fluid momentum, the matter density and the matter current:

$$\delta \Pi = 0, \qquad \delta \Pi^{i} = 0, \qquad \delta \Pi^{ij} = 0, \qquad \delta P^{i} = 0, \qquad \delta \varrho = 0, \qquad \delta N^{i} = 0. \tag{3.116}$$

These imply that the Galilean fluid equations are invariant under an arbitrary local redefinition of the fluid velocity field  $v^i(t, \mathbf{x})$ .

This result is important but should be reckoned with great care. On the one hand, the non-relativistic density  $\rho$  is not sensitive to the velocity field **v** (in contrast with the relativistic result (2.61)). On the other hand, the standard momentum  $\rho \frac{v^i - w^i}{\Omega}$  does depend on the velocity. The actual momentum emerging here,  $P^i$  displayed in eq. (3.84), is therefore invariant thanks to  $n^i$ . Hence, the non-conservation of matter discussed previously saves

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Notice the following useful formulas:  $\delta\theta^v = \frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\nabla}_i\delta v^i$  and  $\delta\xi_{ij}^v = \frac{1}{\Omega}\left(\hat{\nabla}_{(i}\delta v_{j)} - \frac{1}{d}a_{ij}\hat{\nabla}_k\delta v^k\right)$ , whereas  $\delta\theta^w = \delta\xi_{ij}^w = 0$ .

hydrodynamic-frame invariance. Put differently, this invariance is disabled upon demanding a genuine conservation i.e.  $n^i = 0$ : truly conserved, ordinary non-relativistic fluids are not hydrodynamic-frame-invariant. For these fluids the behaviours of the relativistic heat and matter currents are  $q_l = k_l + O(1/c^2)$  and  $j_l = \frac{m_l}{c^2} + O(1/c^4)$ . Following our earlier discussion these behaviours are physical, but are at the same time unstable under velocity transformations.<sup>46</sup>

Although negative, our last conclusion makes clear the origin of the physically expected breaking of velocity invariance in non-relativistic fluids obeying an authentic conservation equation. In this respect, it is worth quoting a substantial literature on trials to explore the symmetries of Navier-Stokes equations (i.e. first-derivative truncated Galilean fluid equations) in their compressible or incompressible form. A nice overview is given in [69], from which it comes out that most of these extra symmetries are probably accidental, and bound to the specific truncation or system (compressible/incompressible), rather than emanating from the original relativistic hydrodynamic-frame invariance.

### Heat and entropy equations

As we have emphasized in section 2.1, the investigation of hydrodynamic-frame transformations should be completed with the analysis of the entropy current, which is also invariant in the relativistic theory. We will not pursue this endeavour any further, which provides ultimately the transformations  $\delta s$ ,  $\delta p$ ,  $\delta T$ , and  $\delta \mu$ . Instead, we will combine the above results in order to reach the non-relativistic entropy equation.

As a first step we can perform the usual combination  $\mathscr{C} - \frac{v^i - w^i}{\Omega} \mathscr{M}_i$ , which leads to the heat equation. It takes the following form:

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\left(e\varrho + \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{n})}{\Omega}\right) + \left(h\varrho + \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{n})}{\Omega} - \frac{\Sigma}{d}\right)\theta^{v} - \xi^{v}{}_{ij}\Sigma^{ij} + \hat{\nabla}_{i}\left(Q^{i} - \frac{v^{i} - w^{i}}{\Omega}\frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{n})}{\Omega}\right) + \frac{r^{i}}{\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{v_{i} - w_{i}}{\Omega} - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega}\right)^{2}\hat{\nabla}_{j}r^{j} = 0.$$
(3.117)

This equation can be alternatively established within the relativistic framework, by considering  $-u_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}$  as in (2.21), and its subsequent Galilean limit. Notice that due to the explicit appearance of the velocity field  $(u_{\nu} \text{ or } v^{i})$ , the equation at hand is hydrodynamic-frame invariant only on-shell.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>The requirements  $r^i = 0$  or  $n^i = 0$  are not compatible with the transformations (3.108) or (3.113). Observe however that a choice, stable under hydrodynamic-frame transformations, is  $n_i = r_i$ , thanks to (3.115). With this,  $P^i = N^i$  and we are the closest possible to ordinary non-relativistic fluids, without genuine conservation though.

Assuming the thermodynamic properties<sup>47</sup> of section A and using in particular eq. (A.15) together with the continuity equation (3.105), eq. (3.117) is recast as follows:

$$\frac{\varrho T}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{\mathrm{d}t} + \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{n})}{\Omega} \right) = \left( \frac{\Sigma}{d} - \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{n})}{\Omega} \right) \theta^v + \xi^v{}_{ij} \Sigma^{ij} \\
- \hat{\nabla}_i \left( Q^i - \frac{v^i - w^i}{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{n})}{\Omega} - r^i \left( h + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^2 \right) \right) \\
- r^i \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{d}t} \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} + \hat{\nabla}_i \left( h + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^2 \right) \right), \quad (3.118)$$

which can also be reached from the relativistic equation (2.22) in the infinite-*c* limit. This equation is intricate and can be somehow simplified by setting  $\mathbf{n} = \mathbf{r}$ , which does not spoil the Galilean hydrodynamic-frame invariance (again realized on-shell):

$$\frac{\varrho T}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\Sigma}{d} \theta^v + \xi^v{}_{ij} \Sigma^{ij} - \hat{\nabla}_i \left( Q^i - r^i \left( h + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^2 \right) \right) - r^i \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{d}t} \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} + \hat{\nabla}_i \left( h + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega} \right)^2 \right) \right).$$
(3.119)

The latter resembles the entropy equations found when studying diffusion phenomena or dissipative processes in superfluids (see eqs. (58,6) and (140,4) in [86]). The combination  $h + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}-\mathbf{w}}{\Omega}\right)^2$  materializes a sort of effective chemical potential for the current **r**. For vanishing **r**, (3.119) is the standard non-relativistic entropy equation in arbitrary Galilean backgrounds. We will not pursue this discussion any longer.

# 3.3 A comment on Galilean conservation versus non-relativistic limit

# The hidden local U(1)

We have so far pursued two distinct approaches. The first (section 3.1) relies on the requirement of Galilean general covariance for a system defined on a (torsionless) Newton-Cartan spacetime — possibly but not necessarily — obtained as an infinite-c limit of a pseudo-Riemannian geometry in Zermelo frame. The second (section 3.2) amounts to taking the  $c \to \infty$  limit after the general-covariance conservation has been imposed on the relativistic system.

It is legitimate to wonder whether the two approaches are equivalent, in other words, whether the conservation requirement and the  $c \to \infty$  limit commute.

In order to present a clean answer to this question, we must consider the simplest possible situation. Aiming at this, we focus on the energy and momentum only (no matter) and make no reference to their expressions in terms of fluid variables such as density, thermodynamic quantities, velocity etc. Starting with a Newton-Cartan set up, we define

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>This might turn naive due to the extra underlying degrees of freedom carried by the *effective* creation/destruction currents  $\mathbf{n}$  and  $\mathbf{r}$ . Investigating this issue in not in our agenda here.

the energy-stress  $\Pi_{ij}$ , the momentum  $P_i$  and the energy density  $\Pi$  as in (3.30), (3.31) and (3.32). General Galilean covariance translates into two equations, (3.41) and (3.42), which reveal a novel, a priori undetermined vector  $\Pi_i$ , interpreted as the energy current.

Alternatively, one may work in a relativistic spacetime equipped with Zermelo coordinates, and a full-fledged and conserved energy-momentum tensor  $T_{\mu\nu}$  with the following large-*c* expansion:

$$\begin{cases} \Omega^2 T^{00} = \varepsilon_{\rm r} = \Pi + {\rm O} \left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right) \\ c\Omega T^0_{\ i} = q_{\rm ri} = c^2 P_i + \Pi_i + {\rm O} \left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right) \\ T_{ij} = p_{\rm r} a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij} = \Pi_{ij} + {\rm O} \left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right). \end{cases}$$
(3.120)

This determines the energy current  $\Pi_i$  as a subleading term with respect to the momentum  $P_i$  in the expansion of the relativistic heat current. Furthermore, the expansion of the relativistic equations is now

$$\begin{cases} c\Omega \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu 0} = c^{2} \hat{\nabla}_{j} P^{j} + \mathcal{E} + \mathcal{O}(1/c^{2}) = 0\\ \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu}_{\ i} = \mathcal{M}_{i} + \mathcal{O}(1/c^{2}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.121)

with  $\mathscr{C}$  and  $\mathscr{M}_i$  given in eqs. (3.96) and (3.97). We recover, as in the first way, the Galilean conservation equations (3.41) and (3.42), supplemented now by an extra constraint on the current  $P_i$ :

$$\hat{\nabla}_j P^j = 0. \tag{3.122}$$

The punch line of the current discussion is that taking the  $c \to \infty$  limit followed by the general-covariance requirement is less restrictive than following the pattern in the reverse order. With this latter order, not only the energy current is provided explicitly but the fluid current obeys an extra constraint equation. The reason for this is simple. When the infinite-c limit is the last step, the system secretly remembers the full diffeomorphism invariance present at the first step, which contracts during the limit into the Galilean covariance accompanied with a central extension [88]. This extra hidden local U(1) invariance accounts for the supplementary equation (3.122). When the Galilean diffeomorphism invariance is the second step, the **x**-independence of  $\xi^t$  leaves  $\Pi_i$  undetermined, and no further equation is found.

All this shows how the full — as opposed to (3.122) — continuity equation (3.105)

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}\varrho}{\mathrm{d}t} + \theta^{w}\varrho + \hat{\nabla}_{i}P^{i} = 0, \qquad (3.123)$$

can emerge provided  $\varepsilon_{\rm r}$  contains an extra  $c^2 \rho$  term, without introducing a relativistic conserved current with a local U(1) symmetry, as in [29].<sup>48</sup> When such an explicit U(1) current is present, as in sections 3.1 and 3.2, it is promptly identified with the hidden one through (3.102), originating in the deep relationship between energy and mass, eq. (A.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>With this method, however, the relativistic hydrodynamic frame is locked to Eckart's since the Galilean heat current  $Q^i$  in (3.92) receives only the contribution  $k^i$ .

### More general abstract equations

The large-*c* behaviours (3.80), (3.81), (3.86), (3.87) and (3.88) (or a simpler version of the latter without  $\rho$  (3.120)) are motivated by the physics standing behind these momenta, captured in the behaviours of transport coefficients and materialized in (3.75), (3.76) and (3.77). As an echo to the comments made when setting the latter, one could be more abstract and consider order- $c^2$  terms in the stress tensor  $\tau_{ij}$  as we have already introduced in the heat and matter currents, and possibly further powers in those ( $r_l$  and  $n_l$  were already beyond normalcy, but introduced as a mean of restoring hydrodynamic-frame invariance — or demonstrating its breaking in genuine non-relativistic fluids). The net effect of this sort of options is to bring the energy-momentum tensor in the form

$$\begin{cases} \Omega^2 T^{00} = \varepsilon_{\rm r} = c^2 \varrho + \Pi + {\rm O} \left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right) \\ c \Omega T^0_{\ i} = q_{\rm ri} = c^4 \tilde{P}_i + c^2 P_i + \Pi_i + {\rm O} \left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right) \\ T_{ij} = p_{\rm r} a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij} = c^2 \tilde{\Pi}_{ij} + \Pi_{ij} + {\rm O} \left( \frac{1}{c^2} \right), \end{cases}$$
(3.124)

and produce at infinite c a genuine hierarchy of equations, which are replicas of those we have already met:

$$\begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}}{dt} + \theta^{w}\right)\Pi + \Pi_{ij}\hat{\gamma}^{wij} + \hat{\nabla}_{i}\Pi^{i} = 0\\ \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}}{dt} + \theta^{w}\right)\varrho + \tilde{\Pi}_{ij}\hat{\gamma}^{wij} + \hat{\nabla}_{i}P^{i} = 0\\ \hat{\nabla}_{j}\tilde{P}^{j} = 0\\ \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}}{dt} + \theta^{w}\right)P_{i} + P_{j}\hat{\gamma}^{wj}{}_{i}^{i} + \hat{\nabla}^{j}\Pi_{ij} = 0\\ \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}}{dt} + \theta^{w}\right)\tilde{P}_{i} + \tilde{P}_{j}\hat{\gamma}^{wj}{}_{i}^{i} + \hat{\nabla}^{j}\tilde{\Pi}_{ij} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.125)

This sort of situation is the archetype of multiplication of degrees of freedom, mentioned earlier. It comes naturally thanks to the existence of a parameter c, which makes it possible to organize a Laurent expansion. It is more artificial to interpret this system as conservation equations portraying local symmetries, because this would require introducing further variables, conjugate to the new momenta, such as  $\tilde{a}^{ij}$ ,  $\tilde{w}^i$ ,  $\tilde{\Omega}$  etc. We will not elaborate on that, but keep the structure in mind for comparison with the forthcoming analysis of section 4.3 about Carrollian fluids. For the latter, no physical intuition can possibly serve a as guide — basic thermodynamics is even missing. Only a blind  $1/c^2$  expansion applies, as suggested by the only known application field of Carrollian fluids, which is flat holography [25–28]. Then the hierarchy obtained is dual to (3.125), and this plainly justifies our present excursion from standard, physical non-relativistic fluids.

Multiplication of degrees of freedom occurs also in the matter sector. On could indeed abstractly assume that some matter current behaves like

$$\frac{\Omega}{c}I^{0} = \iota_{0r} = c^{2}\tilde{\kappa} + \kappa + O(1/c^{2}), \qquad I_{k} = i_{rk} = c^{4}\tilde{\tilde{K}}_{k} + c^{2}\tilde{K}_{k} + K_{k} + O(1/c^{2}).$$
(3.126)

Using these expansions in the relativistic divergence of the matter current  $J^{\mu}$  in Zermelo background we find:

$$\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = c^{4}\tilde{\tilde{\mathcal{K}}} + c^{2}\tilde{\mathcal{K}} + \mathcal{K} + O\left(\frac{1}{c^{2}}\right)$$
(3.127)

with

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\tilde{\mathcal{K}}} = \hat{\nabla}_j \tilde{K}^j \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}}{dt} + \theta^w\right) \tilde{\kappa} + \hat{\nabla}_j \tilde{K}^j \\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}}{dt} + \theta^w\right) \kappa + \hat{\nabla}_j K^j, \end{cases}$$
(3.128)

which must vanish if  $\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = 0$ .

As an aside application of the latter results, we can insert the behaviour (3.124) inside the components (2.76) and (2.77) of a relativistic conserved current resulting from the combination of the energy-momentum tensor with a Killing field. We find thus

$$\begin{cases} \kappa = \xi^{\hat{i}} P_{i} - \xi^{\hat{i}} \Pi \\ \tilde{\kappa} = \xi^{\hat{i}} \tilde{P}_{i} - \xi^{\hat{i}} \varrho \\ K_{i} = \xi^{\hat{j}} \Pi_{ij} - \xi^{\hat{i}} \Pi_{i} \\ \tilde{K}_{i} = \xi^{\hat{j}} \tilde{\Pi}_{ij} - \xi^{\hat{i}} P_{i} \\ \tilde{K}_{i} = -\xi^{\hat{i}} \tilde{P}_{i}, \end{cases}$$
(3.129)

where  $\kappa$  and  $K_i$  are precisely as anticipated in (3.58) and (3.59). On-shell i.e. assuming (3.125), and using (3.53) we find for (3.128)

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\mathcal{K}} = 0\\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}} = \frac{\tilde{P}_i}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{\imath}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{\imath}} \right)\\ \mathcal{K} = \frac{P_i}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{\imath}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{\imath}} \right), \end{cases}$$
(3.130)

in agreement with the result (3.61) for the last two. The first vanishes, and this shows that even though the existence of a Killing field does not guarantee the conservation of a Galilean current, such a conservation can occur if the appropriate vector vanishes. Ordinary Galilean fluids as those studied in section 3.2 have  $\tilde{P}_i = \tilde{\Pi}_{ij} = 0$  in (3.124) so that  $\tilde{K}^j = 0$ . Hence two currents survive, one with  $\mathcal{K} \neq 0$  (non-conserved) and another, which is conserved  $(\tilde{\mathcal{K}} = 0)$  but already known. Indeed, it is the very same that appears inside the ordinary continuity equation, and no extra conservation arises as a consequence of isometries.

One might be legitimately skeptical about the validity of the above conclusion on non-conservation: how can the bona fide law  $\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = 0$  of a relativistic current  $I^{\mu} = \xi_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu}$ based on a Killing field  $\xi$  of a pseudo-Riemannian spacetime, break down suddenly in the infinite-*c* limit? The answer is captured by the very definition of a Galilean Killing, which ultimately leaves non-vanishing terms in the divergence. The precise way this comes about is exposed in appendix D.1.

# 3.4 Massless carriers and Weyl properties

## Generic hydrodynamic equations

Although massless particles are ultra-relativistic, a macroscopic collection of them forming a fluid can be compatible with Galilean symmetries. The latter appear as a phenomenological emanation and are agnostic on their microscopic origin. Such a system can also have a conserved current and a chemical potential, which are not related to mass, but to some charge. Some examples of this sort are mentioned in appendix A (see ref. [89]) together with their basic thermodynamic properties.

The difference with respect to the previous section (section 3.2) is the Galilean limit. Here, instead of (3.78), we can simply consider

$$\varrho_0 = \varrho + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right), \quad \varepsilon = \varrho e + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right), \tag{3.131}$$

where e is the energy per charge unit and  $\rho$  is the charge volume density — as opposed to proper volume — and  $\varepsilon = \rho e$  the non-relativistic energy density (see also appendix A). Again, our goal is to find the fundamental variables as well as the dynamical equations, and probe the behaviour of the latter under Galilean hydrodynamic-frame transformations.

Why do we expect this sort of system be potentially Galilean hydrodynamic-frame invariant? A gas of photons, perhaps under some isotropy and homogeneity requirement regarding interactions, gives no handle for measuring a global velocity. In other words, we do not expect  $v^i$  to enter the hydrodynamic equations. This reasoning is not a proof, but a guideline to pursue here. For that, we will adopt again the behaviours (3.75), (3.76) and (3.77) for the stress tensor, the heat and the charge currents, even though we are aware that on physics grounds  $r_i$  and  $n_i$  are bound to vanish. For the charge current, the subleading term  $m_l$  turns out to be irrelevant here because of the absence of rest mass.

Equations (2.66), (2.67), (2.68), (2.69) and (2.70), now give:

$$\varrho_{0r} = \varrho, \quad j_{ri} = N_i + O(1/c^2)$$
(3.132)

with Galilean charge current

$$N^{i} = \varrho \frac{v^{i} - w^{i}}{\Omega} + n^{i}. \tag{3.133}$$

From the energy-momentum tensor one obtains

$$\varepsilon_{\mathbf{r}} = \Pi + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right),\tag{3.134}$$

$$q_{\rm ri} = c^2 P_i + \Pi_i + O(1/c^2), \qquad (3.135)$$

$$p_{\rm r}a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij} = \Pi_{ij} + O(1/c^2),$$
 (3.136)

which coincides with (3.120), where

$$\Pi_{ij} = pa_{ij} - \Sigma_{ij} + 2\frac{(v_{(i} - w_{(i)})r_{j)}}{\Omega}, \qquad (3.137)$$

$$P^i = r^i, (3.138)$$

$$\Pi = \varepsilon + \frac{2\mathbf{r} \cdot (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w})}{\Omega}, \qquad (3.139)$$

$$\Pi_{i} = \left((\varepsilon + p)a_{ij} - \Sigma_{ij}\right)\frac{v^{j} - w^{j}}{\Omega} + \frac{r_{i}}{2}\left(\frac{\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}}{\Omega}\right)^{2} + \frac{\mathbf{r} \cdot (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w})\left(v_{i} - w_{i}\right)}{\Omega^{2}} + k_{i}, \quad (3.140)$$

are the explicit expressions for (3.30), (3.31) and (3.32), as well as for the energy current  $\Pi_i$ , which will appear in the energy equation (3.42). The Galilean heat current receives now a single contribution as

$$Q_l = k_l. aga{3.141}$$

For the fluid under consideration, the structure of the conservation equations is as follows (actually as in (3.121) because the energy-momentum (3.134), (3.135), (3.136) is as in (3.120)):

$$c\Omega \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu 0} = c^2 \hat{\nabla}_j r^j + \mathcal{E} + \mathcal{O}(1/c^2), \qquad (3.142)$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\ i} = \mathcal{M}_i + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\right),\tag{3.143}$$

$$\nabla_{\mu} J^{\mu} = \mathscr{C} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1/c^2}{c^2}\right), \qquad (3.144)$$

with  $\mathcal{E}$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_i$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  as in (3.96), (3.97), (3.98). At infinite *c* the hydrodynamic equations are again (3.101), (3.103), (3.104), and we recover eqs. (3.41), (3.42) and (3.48), as expected, plus the extra equation (same as (3.122))

$$\hat{\nabla}_j r^j = 0, \tag{3.145}$$

which is absent when the unphysical vector  $r^j$  originating from the  $c^2$  term of the relativistic heat current vanishes. The difference with respect to the massive case studied in the previous section dwells in the expression of the momenta (energy-stress tensor, fluid current, fluid energy density and fluid energy current — the charge current is the same as the matter current before).

We can now combine the above results in order to reach the heat and next the entropy equations. Equivalently these are obtained as infinite-c limits of eqs. (2.21) and (2.22). We find for the former

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{C} &- \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} \mathscr{M}_i = \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( \varepsilon + \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) + \left( \varepsilon + p + \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} - \frac{\Sigma}{d} \right) \theta^v - \xi^v{}_{ij} \Sigma^{ij} \\ &+ \hat{\nabla}_i \left( Q^i - \frac{v^i - w^i}{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) + \frac{r^i}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{d}t} \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} = 0. \end{aligned}$$
(3.146)

For the entropy equations there are two options. If no conserved charge current exists, the equation (3.104) is immaterial, the chemical potential vanishes and (A.19) gives  $d\varepsilon = T d\sigma$ , which can be substituted in (3.146). This happens e.g. for a gas of photons. If a conserved charge current is available then  $\varepsilon$  can be traded for  $\rho e$ ,  $\varepsilon + p$  for  $\rho h$ ,  $\sigma$  for  $\rho s$ , and using (A.18), (A.19) and (3.104) one obtains

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}\varrho e}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\varrho T}{\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}s}{\mathrm{d}t} - \varrho h\theta^v - h\hat{\nabla}_i n^i, \qquad (3.147)$$

which can be inserted back in (3.146):

$$\frac{\varrho T}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{\mathrm{d}t} + \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) + \left( \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} - \frac{\Sigma}{d} \right) \theta^v - \xi^v{}_{ij} \Sigma^{ij} - h \hat{\nabla}_i n^i + \hat{\nabla}_i \left( Q^i - \frac{v^i - w^i}{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) + \frac{r^i}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{d}t} \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} = 0.$$
(3.148)

Given the above Galilean hydrodynamical equations, one may reconsider their behaviour under velocity local transformations. The absence of rest mass for the carriers modifies the scalings with respect to the speed of light, and possibly the invariance properties. Bringing together the transformations (2.57), (2.58), (2.59), (2.61) and (2.62), and the scalings (3.75), (3.76), (3.77) and (3.131), we find in the infinite-*c* limit that  $\delta \rho$  and  $\delta n_i$  are still as in (3.112) and (3.113), while

$$a_{ij}\delta p - \delta\Sigma_{ij} = -\frac{2}{\Omega}r_{(i}\delta v_{j)}, \qquad (3.149)$$

$$\delta r_i = 0, \tag{3.150}$$

$$\delta k_i = \delta Q_i$$

$$= \frac{\delta v^{j}}{\Omega} \left( \frac{v_{i} - w_{i}}{\Omega} r_{j} - \rho h a_{ij} + \Sigma_{ij} \right), \qquad (3.151)$$
$$\delta \epsilon = \rho \delta e$$

$$= -2r_i \frac{\delta v^i}{\Omega}.\tag{3.152}$$

These transformations ensure the invariance of the Galilean momenta as in eqs. (3.116), which thus implies that for fluids consisting of massless particles, the Galilean fluid equations established above are invariant under arbitrary hydrodynamic frame transformations.<sup>49</sup>

One should stress that, thanks to (3.150), the hydrodynamic-frame invariance holds even when  $r_i = 0$ , which is the physically interesting situation, following our previous discussion on the behaviour of the relativistic heat current. The momentum equation obtained from (3.97) greatly simplifies in this case:

$$\mathcal{M}_i = \partial_i p - \nabla_j \Sigma_i^{\ j} = 0. \tag{3.153}$$

Nonetheless, due to (3.113), hydrodynamic-frame invariance does not resist when  $n_i$  is required to vanish in the charge current, which is necessary for the continuity equation (3.98), (3.104) to be a genuine conservation. This caveat, which opposes again hydrodynamic-frame invariance to conservation, is evaded precisely for fluids without conserved charge, as are photon gases, which are therefore truly hydrodynamic-frame-invariant in the Galilean regime with entropy equation (for the physical situation where  $r_i = 0$ )

$$\frac{T}{\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}t} + \left(\varepsilon + p - \frac{\Sigma}{d}\right)\theta^{v} - \xi^{v}{}_{ij}\Sigma^{ij} + \hat{\nabla}_{i}Q^{i} = 0.$$
(3.154)

### Weyl invariance

Galilean groups can accommodate conformal extensions. The subject has generated an abundant literature, part of which is already quoted here [33, 34, 38, 52, 53] — more can be found in those references. The analysis of conformal symmetry in non-relativistic fluid dynamics has been in the agenda of many groups. No real guiding principle has been followed though, the search has been usually blind and the output often looks accidental.<sup>50</sup> From the fluid perspective on non-isometric and non-conformal-isometric backgrounds, conformal

 $<sup>^{49}</sup>$ Equations (3.146) and (3.148) are hydrodynamic-frame-invariant only on-shell.

 $<sup>^{50}</sup>$ Reference [69] makes better contact with the relativistic fluid equations, and provides a nice and critical overview of the field.

symmetry is rather meant to be Weyl symmetry, which is expected to portray the dynamics when no massive excitations are present. This instance was touched upon in section 3.1, when presenting the basic features of Newton-Cartan geometry, and will be considered in the present section from the perspective of the large-c limit in Zermelo backgrounds.

The fundamental quantities of the Zermelo geometry (2.46) behave as follows under a Weyl transformation:

$$a_{ij} \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}^2} a_{ij}, \qquad w^i \to w^i, \qquad w_i \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}^2} w_i, \qquad \Omega \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}} \Omega, \qquad (3.155)$$

and since  $\Omega$  depends on time only, the last of (3.155) imposes  $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B}(t)$ . The velocity components  $u^{\mu}$  have weight 1. This gathers the following for the ordinary spatial fluid velocity:

$$v^i \to v^i, \qquad v_i \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}^2} v_i.$$
 (3.156)

With this at hand, one can wonder what is the Galilean Weyl-covariant derivative, acting on Galilean Weyl-covariant tensors. From a purely mathematical perspective taming the connections on Newton-Cartan (or Carrollian) geometries is a thriving subject (see e.g. [38-40]). We will here answer modestly this question by examining the infinite-c limit of the connection (2.34) and the corresponding Weyl-covariant derivative used in the relativistic case. As we will also witness later in the Carrollian side, this splits into time and space Weyl derivatives, associated with time and space Weyl connections, inherited from the limit of A given in (2.34). Owing to the fact that

$$\lim_{c \to \infty} \Omega c A^0 = -\frac{\theta^v}{d}, \qquad \lim_{c \to \infty} A_i = 0, \qquad (3.157)$$

there is no spatial Weyl connection in the Galilean limit. The ordinary Galilean spatial covariant derivative  $\hat{\nabla}_i$  used here as the usual *d*-dimensional metric-compatible and torsion-less covariant derivative with connection coefficients (3.8) (possibly time-dependent since generally  $a_{ij} = a_{ij}(t, \mathbf{x})$ ) is thus Weyl-covariant on its own right. This is not a surprise since a Weyl rescaling with  $\mathfrak{B}(t)$  leaves the Christoffel symbols (3.8) unaltered.

The Galilean time covariant derivative  $\frac{D}{dt}$  given in (3.25) is not Weyl-covariant, though. It can be promoted to a Weyl-covariant Galilean time derivative  $\mathcal{D}_t$  thanks to  $\theta^v$ , which transforms indeed as a connection:

$$\theta^v \to \mathfrak{B}\theta^v - \frac{d}{\Omega}\partial_t \mathfrak{B}.$$
(3.158)

Consequently, if  $S^{ij\dots}_{\ \ kl\dots}$  are the components of a weight-w Galilean tensor, then

$$\frac{1}{\Omega} \mathcal{D}_t S^{ij\dots}_{\ kl\dots} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \frac{w}{d} \theta^v\right) S^{ij\dots}_{\ kl\dots}$$
(3.159)

are the components of Galilean tensor with weight w + 1. Observe that the components of the Galilean shear given in (3.18) is of weight -1:

$$\xi^{v}_{\ ij} \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}} \xi^{v}_{\ ij}. \tag{3.160}$$

The Weyl transformation (3.158) holds equally for  $\theta^w$  defined in (3.17), and so does in fact (3.160) for  $\xi^w_{ij}$  defined in (3.16). One can therefore introduce an alternative Galilean Weyl-covariant time derivative, defined in purely geometrical terms:<sup>51</sup>

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \Phi = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \frac{w}{d}\theta^w\right)\Phi,\tag{3.161}$$

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t V_i = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \frac{w+1}{d}\theta^w\right)V_i,\tag{3.162}$$

for weight-w Galilean scalars or forms, extendable by the Leibniz rule. For convenience, both  $\mathcal{D}_t$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t$  will be used in the following and should not be confused.

Equipped with the above tools and imposing Weyl invariance (3.63), the fundamental equations (3.41), (3.42) and (3.48) are recast as follows:<sup>52</sup>

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_{t}P_{i} + P_{j}\xi^{wj}{}_{i} + \hat{\nabla}^{j}\Pi_{ij} = 0, \qquad (3.163)$$

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t\Pi + \Pi_{ij}\xi^{wij} + \hat{\nabla}_i\Pi^i = 0, \qquad (3.164)$$

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \varrho + \hat{\nabla}_i N^i = 0. \tag{3.165}$$

They are Weyl-covariant of weights d + 1, d + 2 and d + 1.

When dealing with Galilean fluids, the Galilean momenta  $\rho$ ,  $N_i$ ,  $P_i$ ,  $\Pi$ ,  $\Pi_i$  and  $\Pi_{ij}$ emerge in the large-*c* expansion of  $\rho_{r0}$ ,  $j_{ri}$ ,  $\varepsilon_r$ ,  $q_{ri}$  and  $p_r a_{ij} + \tau_{rij}$  (see eqs. (3.132), (3.134), (3.135), (3.136)). The weights inherited in this limiting procedure (the relativistic weights are available in table 1) are in agreement with those previously defined through the effectiveaction definition of the momenta. These momenta are expressed in terms of the Galilean velocity  $v^i$  together with the usual list of variables emanating from the relativistic stress, heat current and charge/matter current.

From the expressions (3.137), (3.138), (3.139), (3.140), we infer that the forms  $r_i$ ,  $k_i$  (and thus  $Q_i$ ) have weight d, while  $n_i$  and the Galilean stress  $\Sigma_{ij}$  have weight d-1. The Weyl condition<sup>53</sup> (3.63) now reads  $\varepsilon = dp - \Sigma$ . The stress being considered as a correction to perfect fluids, absent at global thermodynamic equilibrium, this condition splits into the conformal equation of state

$$\varepsilon = dp, \tag{3.166}$$

accompanied with the Weyl-invariance requirement

$$\Sigma \equiv \Sigma_{ij} a^{ij} = 0. \tag{3.167}$$

Other thermodynamic observables like  $e, T, \mu$  or h have all weight 1, and s is weight zero.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>This sort of Weyl-covariant derivative is insensitive to the fluid velocity and is thus better suited for discussing hydrodynamic-frame invariance. Its relativistic ascendent is a Weyl connection  $A^Z$  constructed, as explained generally in footnote 16, with the vector field  $u_Z = e_{\hat{t}}$  defined in (3.3) (and used in section 3.2), which has norm  $-c^2$  in the Zermelo background (2.46). This connection exists irrespective of the fluid velocity:  $A^Z = \frac{\theta^w}{d} \Omega dt$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>We saw in section 3.1 that  $\Pi_{ij}$  has weight d-1,  $P_i$  and  $\Pi_i$  weight d, and  $\Pi$  weight d+1; similarly  $\rho$  is weight-d and  $N_i$  weight d-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>Notice in passing that the Weyl-invariance requirement (3.63) determined from the effective action, is also the large-*c* expression of the relativistic condition  $T_{\mu}^{\ \mu} = 0$  discussed at the end of section 2.1, obtained using (2.64) with (3.134), (3.135) and (3.136).

It is important to stress that the above analysis is consistent because we have been systematically referring to fluids with microscopic massless degrees of freedom, and have thus used eqs. (3.132), (3.133), (3.134), (3.135), (3.136), (3.137), (3.138), (3.139), (3.140). Had one considered fluids with massive carriers, conflicts would have appeared in the conformal weights, as e.g. in eq. (3.102) setting a relationship among  $N^i$  and  $P^i$ , which in a Weyl-covariant system are expected to have different weights (d + 1 and d + 2).

Hydrodynamic equations (3.146) and (3.154) are recast as

$$\frac{1}{\Omega} \mathcal{D}_t \left( \varepsilon + \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) + \frac{r^i}{\Omega} \mathcal{D}_t \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} - \xi^v{}_{ij} \Sigma^{ij} + \hat{\nabla}_i \left( Q^i - \frac{v^i - w^i}{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) = 0,$$
(3.168)

$$\frac{\varrho T}{\Omega} \mathcal{D}_t s + \frac{1}{\Omega} \mathcal{D}_t \left( \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) + \frac{r^i}{\Omega} \mathcal{D}_t \frac{v_i - w_i}{\Omega} - \xi^v{}_{ij} \Sigma^{ij} - h \hat{\nabla}_i n^i + \hat{\nabla}_i \left( Q^i - \frac{v^i - w^i}{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\Omega} \right) = 0.$$
(3.169)

For more conventional conformal fluids with  $r^i = 0$  and no conserved charge we find

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{D}_t\varepsilon - \xi^v{}_{ij}\Sigma^{ij} + \hat{\nabla}_i Q^i = \frac{T}{\Omega}\mathcal{D}_t\sigma - \xi^v{}_{ij}\Sigma^{ij} + \hat{\nabla}_i Q^i = 0, \qquad (3.170)$$

which are Weyl-covariant of weight d + 2. The Euler (transverse) equation (3.153) remains unchanged and can be expressed in terms of the energy thanks to (3.166), or further using (A.18):

$$\frac{1}{d}\partial_i\varepsilon - \hat{\nabla}^j\Sigma_{ij} = \frac{1}{(d+1)}\partial_i(T\sigma) - \hat{\nabla}^j\Sigma_{ij} = 0.$$
(3.171)

It is Weyl-covariant of weight d + 1.

Besides expressing hydrodynamic equations for fluids based on massless microscopic constituents in a Galilean general-covariant fashion, our present analysis exhibits one class of physical fluids, where hydrodynamic-frame invariance survives the Galilean limit: the conformal fluids without any conserved charge. This is in contrast to the more general Galilean hydrodynamics studied in section 3.2, where hydrodynamic-frame invariance was only emerging in exotic fluids, where matter conservation was not fulfilled. Furthermore, under the physical assumption that the heat current remains of order 1 in the infinite-c limit ( $r_i = 0$  in (3.76)), the energy density is insensitive to the choice of fluid velocity (see (3.152)).

### Conformal isometries and conservation laws

There is not much we can add on conservation laws that has not yet been processed. Summarizing, the large-*c* expansion of the energy-momentum tensor (3.134), (3.135), (3.136), combined with the components (2.76), (2.77) in the presence of a conformal Killing field  $\xi$ , produces

$$\iota_{0r} = \kappa + O(1/c^2), \qquad i_{rk} = K_k + O(1/c^2)$$
(3.172)

with  $\kappa$  and  $K_k$  as in (3.58) and (3.59), defining a Galilean current. Using the Weylinvariance condition (3.63), the equations (3.163), (3.164), and the Galilean Killing equations (3.64), (3.66), the Galilean divergence (3.57) of this current turns out to satisfy (3.67). As usual, conservation demands a symmetry wider than a conformal isometry, for which  $\partial_t \xi^{\hat{i}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{i}} = 0.$ 

# 4 Carrollian fluid dynamics

# 4.1 Carroll structures and general Carrollian covariance

## Carrollian manifolds

Carroll structures are alternatives to Newton-Cartan spacetimes, introduced in [34–36]. They consist of a d + 1-dimensional manifold  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times S$  endowed with a degenerate metric and a vector field, which is the kernel of the metric. These manifolds are described in terms of fibre bundles<sup>54</sup> with one-dimensional fibre and a d-dimensional base S thought of as space, the fibre being time. The Carroll group [30, 31] emerges as the isometry group of flat Carrollian structures, but our framework is here more general with no assumption about isometries, but Carrollian diffeomorphisms instead; the Carrollian transformations are realized locally, in the tangent space. These diffeomorphisms have the virtue of preserving the time/space separation, as opposed to general diffeomorphisms.

For concreteness  $\mathcal{M}$  will be equipped with coordinates  $(t, \mathbf{x})$  and we will restrict to degenerate metrics of the form

$$d\ell^2 = a_{ij}(t, \mathbf{x}) dx^i dx^j, \quad i, j \dots \in \{1, \dots, d\}$$

$$(4.1)$$

with kernel generated by

$$\mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t, \tag{4.2}$$

which defines a *field of observers*. This coordinate system is adapted to the fiber/base splitting, which is in turn respected by Carrollian diffeomorphisms (2.80). It is also naturally reached in the Carrollian limit of a pseudo-Riemannian spacetime in Papapetrou-Randers gauge (2.79). The Carrollian structure naturally incorporates an *Ehresmann connection*, which is a background gauge field  $\mathbf{b} = b_i dx^i$ , appearing in the dual form of the kernel generator (4.2):

$$\theta^{\hat{t}} = \Omega \mathrm{d}t - b_i \mathrm{d}x^i, \tag{4.3}$$

the clock form. The scale factor  $\Omega$  and the gauge components  $b_i$  depend on t and x.

 $<sup>^{54}</sup>$ Carrollian structures were defined as "ambient structures" in refs. [39, 40]. Notice that we use equally the wording "manifolds," "spacetimes" and "structures." Mathematically the latter is more precise for it embraces the various attributes. Depending on these attributes, it can be even refined into *weak* or *strong* structure as we will see in the following.

Under Carrollian diffeomorphisms (2.80) (the Jacobian is defined in (2.81)), the transformation rules of the various geometric objects are as in (2.82), (2.83) as well as

$$\partial_t' = \frac{1}{J} \partial_t, \tag{4.4}$$

$$\partial'_{j} = J^{-1i}_{\ \ j} \left( \partial_{i} - \frac{j_{i}}{J} \partial_{t} \right), \tag{4.5}$$

$$\theta^{\hat{t}\prime} = \theta^{\hat{t}},\tag{4.6}$$

$$\hat{\partial}_i' = J^{-1j}_{\ i} \hat{\partial}_j, \tag{4.7}$$

where

$$\hat{\partial}_i = \partial_i + \frac{b_i}{\Omega} \partial_t, \tag{4.8}$$

are the vector fields dual to the forms  $dx^i$ , also spelled  $e_i$  in (2.105).

For Carrollian manifolds it is customary to say that space is absolute, whereas time isn't, as opposed to their dual relatives, the Newton-Cartan spacetimes. This is again somehow abusive, except when  $a_{ij}$  depends on space only, and it mostly refers to the form of the Jacobian (2.81). It is rooted to the properties of the primitive Carrollian manifold obtained as the  $c \to 0$  limit of Minkowski spacetime.

Carrollian tensors depend generically on time t and space **x**. They carry indices  $i, j, \ldots \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ , which are lowered and raised with  $a_{ij}$  and its inverse spatial cometric  $a^{ij}$ , and transform covariantly under Carrollian diffeomorphisms (2.80) with Jacobian  $J_i^j$  and  $J^{-1i}_j$  defined in (2.81). Following [29], we introduce a Levi-Civita-Carroll connection with coefficients

$$\hat{\gamma}_{jk}^{i} = \frac{a^{il}}{2} \left( \hat{\partial}_{j} a_{lk} + \hat{\partial}_{k} a_{lj} - \hat{\partial}_{l} a_{jk} \right).$$

$$(4.9)$$

This connection is not unique (see the already quoted literature [36, 40, 41]), but emerges naturally in the vanishing-*c* limit of a Levi-Civita connection in the Papapetrou-Randers coordinates (2.79). It defines a spatial Carrollian covariant derivative  $\hat{\nabla}_i$  with tensorial transformation properties under Carrollian diffeomorphisms (details on the transformation properties can be found in the appendix A.2 of ref. [29]).<sup>55</sup>

The Levi-Civita-Carroll connection is torsionless and metric-compatible:

$$\hat{t}^{k}_{\ ij} = 2\hat{\gamma}^{k}_{[ij]} = 0, \qquad \hat{\nabla}_{i}a_{jk} = 0.$$
 (4.10)

The vectors  $\hat{\partial}_i$  do not commute and define the Carrollian vorticity:

$$\left[\hat{\partial}_{i},\hat{\partial}_{j}\right] = \frac{2}{\Omega}\varpi_{ij}\partial_{t}, \qquad \varpi_{ij} = \partial_{[i}b_{j]} + b_{[i}\varphi_{j]} \tag{4.11}$$

with

$$\varphi_i = \frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t b_i + \partial_i \Omega \right), \tag{4.12}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Important remark: many symbols are common to the Galilean and Carrollian sides investigated in the present paper. The context should leave no room for confusion.

the Carrollian acceleration. Notice that

$$\mathrm{d}\theta^{\hat{t}} = \varphi_i \mathrm{d}x^i \wedge \theta^{\hat{t}} - \varpi_{ij} \mathrm{d}x^i \wedge \mathrm{d}x^j, \qquad (4.13)$$

so that vanishing Carrollian acceleration and vorticity are necessary and sufficient conditions for  $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  be closed and define a family of hypersurfaces inside  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{S}$  as  $\tau(t, \mathbf{x}) = \text{const.}$ , where locally  $\theta^{\hat{t}} = d\tau$ .

The ordinary time derivative operator  $\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t$  acts covariantly on Carrollian tensors. However, it is not metric-compatible because  $a_{ij}$  depends on time. Hence one defines a new Carrollian temporal covariant derivative by requiring covariance, i.e.  $\frac{1}{\Omega'}\hat{D}'_t = \frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t$ , and

$$\hat{D}_t a_{jk} = 0. \tag{4.14}$$

This is achieved by introducing a temporal Carrollian connection

$$\hat{\gamma}_{ij} = \frac{1}{2\Omega} \partial_t a_{ij} = \xi_{ij} + \frac{1}{d} a_{ij} \theta, \qquad (4.15)$$

which is a genuine symmetric Carrollian tensor split into a traceless part, the Carrollian shear, and the trace, which is the Carrollian expansion:

$$\theta = \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t \ln \sqrt{a}. \tag{4.16}$$

The action of  $\hat{D}_t$  on scalars is  $\partial_t$ 

$$\hat{D}_t \Phi = \partial_t \Phi, \tag{4.17}$$

whereas on vectors or forms it is defined as

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t V^i = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t V^i + \hat{\gamma}^i_{\ j} V^j, \qquad \frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t V_i = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t V_i - \hat{\gamma}^j_i V_j.$$
(4.18)

Leibniz rule generalizes the latter to any tensor and allows to demonstrate the property (4.14).

The commutators of Carrollian covariant spatial derivatives define further Carrollian tensors ( $\Phi$  and  $V^i$  are a Carrollian scalar and a Carrollian vector):<sup>56</sup>

$$\left[\hat{\nabla}_{i},\hat{\nabla}_{j}\right]\Phi = \varpi_{ij}\frac{2}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\Phi,\tag{4.19}$$

$$\left[\hat{\nabla}_{k},\hat{\nabla}_{l}\right]V^{i} = \left(\hat{\partial}_{k}\hat{\gamma}_{lj}^{i} - \hat{\partial}_{l}\hat{\gamma}_{kj}^{i} + \hat{\gamma}_{km}^{i}\hat{\gamma}_{lj}^{m} - \hat{\gamma}_{lm}^{i}\hat{\gamma}_{kj}^{m}\right)V^{j} + \left[\hat{\partial}_{k},\hat{\partial}_{l}\right]V^{i}$$
(4.20)

$$=\hat{R}^{i}{}_{jkl}V^{j}+\varpi_{kl}\frac{2}{\Omega}\hat{D}_{t}V^{i}.$$
(4.21)

Similarly, time and space derivatives do not commute:

$$\left[\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t,\hat{\nabla}_i\right]V^j = \varphi_i\left(\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t + \theta\right)V^j - \hat{\gamma}^j_{\ k}V^k\right) - \hat{\gamma}^k_i\hat{\nabla}_kV^j - d\hat{r}^j_{\ ik}V^k \tag{4.22}$$

<sup>56</sup>In [29] an alternative tensor was defined as  $\hat{r}^{i}_{\ jkl} = \hat{R}^{i}_{\ jkl} + 2\hat{\gamma}^{i}_{\ j}\varpi_{kl}$  with  $\left[\hat{\nabla}_{k}, \hat{\nabla}_{l}\right]V^{i} = \hat{r}^{i}_{\ jkl}V^{j} + \varpi_{kl}\frac{2}{\Omega}\partial_{t}V^{i}$ .

with<sup>57</sup>

$$\hat{r}^{j}_{\ ik} = \frac{1}{d} \left( \theta \varphi_{i} \delta^{j}_{k} + \hat{\nabla}_{i} \hat{\gamma}^{j}_{\ k} - \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t} \hat{\gamma}^{j}_{\ ik} \right)$$
(4.23)

and

$$\hat{r}^{j}_{\ jk} = \hat{r}_{k} = \frac{1}{d} \left( \hat{\nabla}_{j} \hat{\gamma}^{j}_{\ k} - \hat{\partial}_{k} \theta \right), \qquad (4.24)$$

further Carrollian curvature tensors.

### Carrollian dynamics and Carrollian diffeomorphisms

Consider now a dynamical system on a Carrollian manifold  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times S$  described with an (effective) action  $S = \int dt d^d x \sqrt{a} \Omega \mathscr{L}$ , functional of  $a_{ij}$ ,  $\Omega$  and  $b_i$ . The associated Carrollian momenta, which replace the corresponding relativistic energy-momentum tensor (2.7) are now (see [79, 90])<sup>58</sup>

$$\Pi^{ij} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{a}\Omega} \frac{\delta S}{\delta a_{ij}},\tag{4.25}$$

$$\Pi^{i} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}\Omega} \frac{\delta S}{\delta b_{i}},\tag{4.26}$$

$$\Pi = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \left( \frac{\delta S}{\delta \Omega} + \frac{b_i}{\Omega} \frac{\delta S}{\delta b_i} \right), \qquad (4.27)$$

with  $\frac{\delta S}{\delta \Omega} = -\sqrt{a} (\Pi + b_i \Pi^i)$ . These are the energy-stress tensor, the energy current and the energy density.

Diffeomorphisms are generated by vector fields as in (2.71)

$$\xi = \xi^t \partial_t + \xi^i \partial_i = \left(\xi^t - \xi^i \frac{b_i}{\Omega}\right) \partial_t + \xi^i \left(\partial_i + \frac{b_i}{\Omega}\partial_t\right) = \xi^{\hat{t}} \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t + \xi^i \hat{\partial}_i.$$
(4.28)

Carrollian diffeomorphisms (2.80) are restricted to  $\xi^i = \xi^i(\mathbf{x})$ . As usual, the variation under diffeomorphisms is implemented through the Lie derivative and we find the following:

$$-\delta_{\xi}a_{ij} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi}a_{ij} = 2\hat{\nabla}_{(i}\xi^{k}a_{j)k} + 2\xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}_{ij} - 2b_{(i}a_{j)k}\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\xi^{k}, \qquad (4.29)$$

where the last term drops for Carrollian diffeomorphisms. Furthermore

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_i \xi^i\right) \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = \mu \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}},\tag{4.30}$$

and (the form  $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  is defined in (4.3))

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\theta^{\hat{t}} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_i\xi^i\right)\theta^{\hat{t}} + \left(\left(\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j\varpi_{ji}\right)\mathrm{d}x^i.$$
(4.31)

From the latter we infer

$$-\delta_{\xi}\ln\Omega = \frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\Omega = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_{i}\xi^{i}, -\delta_{\xi}b_{i} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi}b_{i} = b_{i}\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_{j}\xi^{j}\right) - \left(\left(\hat{\partial}_{i} - \varphi_{i}\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^{j}\varpi_{ji}\right).$$

$$(4.32)$$

<sup>57</sup>Notice that  $\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t\hat{\gamma}^j_{ik} = (\hat{\nabla}_i + \varphi_i)\hat{\gamma}^j_{\ k} + (\hat{\nabla}_k + \varphi_k)\hat{\gamma}^j_{\ i} - (\hat{\nabla}^j + \varphi^j)\hat{\gamma}_{ik}$  is a Carrollian tensor, even though  $\hat{\gamma}_{ik}^{j}$  is not. <sup>58</sup>The fluid energy density  $\Pi$  was spelled  $e_{\rm e}$  in [29].

We can now move to the variation of the action under Carrollian diffeomorphisms:

$$\delta_{\xi}S = \int \mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}^{d}x\sqrt{a}\,\Omega\left(\frac{1}{2}\Pi^{ij}\delta_{\xi}a_{ij} + \Pi^{i}\delta_{\xi}b_{i} - \frac{1}{\Omega}\left(\Pi + b_{i}\Pi^{i}\right)\delta_{\xi}\Omega\right).\tag{4.33}$$

Using (4.29) and (4.32) with  $\xi^i = \xi^i(\mathbf{x})$ , we obtain (indices are here lowered with  $a_{ij}$ )

$$\delta_{\xi}S = \int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \Omega \left\{ -\xi^{\hat{t}} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t} + \theta \right) \Pi + \left( \hat{\nabla}_{i} + 2\varphi_{i} \right) \Pi^{i} + \Pi^{ij} \hat{\gamma}_{ij} \right] \right. \\ \left. + \xi^{i} \left[ \left( \hat{\nabla}_{j} + \varphi_{j} \right) \Pi^{j}{}_{i} + 2\Pi^{j} \varpi_{ji} + \Pi \varphi_{i} \right] \right\} \\ \left. + \int dt d^{d}x \left\{ \partial_{t} \left[ \sqrt{a} \left( \xi^{\hat{t}} \left( \Pi + b_{i} \Pi^{i} \right) - \xi^{j} b_{i} \Pi^{i}{}_{j} \right) \right] \right. \\ \left. + \partial_{i} \left[ \sqrt{a} \Omega \left( \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi^{i} - \xi^{j} \Pi^{i}{}_{j} \right) \right] \right\}.$$

$$(4.34)$$

Ignoring the boundary terms (last two lines of (4.34)),  $\delta_{\xi}S = 0$  implies that the Carrollian momenta defined previously in (4.25), (4.26), (4.27) are Carrollian-covariant, and leads to two equations. The energy equation is simple because  $\xi^{\hat{t}}$  depends on t and  $\mathbf{x}$ :

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\Pi + \left(\hat{\nabla}_i + 2\varphi_i\right)\Pi^i + \Pi^{ij}\hat{\gamma}_{ij} = 0.$$
(4.35)

The momentum equation calls for a careful treatment. Indeed,  $\xi^i$  is a function of **x** only, hence the factor in brackets in the second line of (4.34) needs not vanish, but rather

$$\left(\hat{\nabla}_{j} + \varphi_{j}\right) \Pi^{j}{}_{i} + 2\Pi^{j} \varpi_{ji} + \Pi \varphi_{i} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t} + \theta\right) P_{i}$$

$$(4.36)$$

because  $\sqrt{a} \Omega \xi^i \left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t + \theta\right) P_i = \partial_t \left(\sqrt{a} \xi^i P_i\right)$ , which is a boundary term and vanishes inside the integral.

The new vector  $P_i$ , which we will refer to as *momentum*, is not defined directly through a variation of the action with respect to some conjugate variable. It is however inescapable, and this can be verified whenever a microscopic action is available in terms of fundamental fields leading to full-fledged equations of motion. In this instance, eqs. (4.35) and (4.36) must be obeyed on-shell, and this procedure determines the momentum  $P_i$  (for a Carrollian scalar field see [103]).

A plethora of comments and comparison to the existing literature is appropriate at this point. The Carrollian equations at hand, which are ultimately the Carrollian fluid equations, have been the source of confusion or misinterpretation, and unfortunately this is not fading.

As a first and minor remark, the term in the right-hand side of (4.36) was missing in [79, 90].<sup>59</sup> More importantly, it has been claimed that both vectors, the energy current  $\Pi_i$  and the momentum  $P_i$ , should vanish [74, 77]. Systems where this happens are not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>More precisely, eq. (4.36) here is in disagreement with eq. (2.30) in [79] resulting from the invariance of the action under Carrollian diffeomorphisms. It agrees however with eq. (4.4) in the same reference, reached via a vanishing-c limiting procedure (see also our eq. (4.81)).

excluded, but there is no principle that demands a priori such a property — as no reason exist for the Galilean energy current and momentum to vanish.<sup>60</sup>

Another feature of the above equations (4.35) and (4.36) is their superficial resemblance to eqs. (3.42) and (3.41). This is superficial because when coming to the genuine fluid equations, the various momenta are expressed in terms of kinematical and physical parameters, which are different in the two instances (e.g. there is no "velocity" in Carrollian dynamics see next section for details on the Carrollian fluids). But even at the superficial level, the resemblance is alleviated by the symmetries, which are undoubtedly distinct: Carrollian versus Galilean. Nonetheless, confusion has settled for good in the literature around the membrane paradigm, which was originally carefully stated [91], but has drifted in time giving an overwhelming importance to Navier-Stokes equations, which are Galilean par excellence, for the description of phenomena occurring in the vicinity of black-hole horizons, which call for Carrollian physics (ref. [92] is a good example of abuse). Recently, efforts were made to clarify this issue [70, 71].

#### A U(1) local invariance and conservation law

If the action on the Carrollian manifold is further invariant under a local U(1) associated with a gauge field  $B = B(t, \mathbf{x})dt + B_i(t, \mathbf{x})dx^i$  as in (3.43), then a further conservation is available. This sort of conservation is not as useful as it was in the Galilean framework. Indeed, the thermodynamic law (A.2) that sets the relationship between a conserved charge and the energy (see also the discussion in section 3.3) is invalidated here by the vanishing-climit, and plays no subsequent role in the fluid dynamics.

The conjugate momenta are again the *charge density* and the *charge current*:

$$\varrho = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \left( \frac{\delta S}{\delta B} - \frac{b_i}{\Omega} \frac{\delta S}{\delta B_i} \right), \tag{4.37}$$

$$N^{i} = \frac{1}{\Omega\sqrt{a}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta B_{i}} \tag{4.38}$$

with  $\frac{\delta S}{\delta B} = \sqrt{a} \left( \varrho + b_i N^i \right)$ . The gauge variation of the action is here:

$$\delta_{\Lambda}S = \int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \left( \left( \varrho + b_{i}N^{i} \right) \delta_{\Lambda}B + \Omega N^{i} \delta_{\Lambda}B_{i} \right)$$

$$= -\int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \left( \left( \varrho + b_{i}N^{i} \right) \partial_{t}\Lambda + \Omega N^{i} \partial_{i}\Lambda \right)$$

$$= \int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \Omega \Lambda \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t}\varrho + \theta \varrho + \left( \hat{\nabla}_{i} + \varphi_{i} \right) N^{i} \right)$$

$$- \int dt d^{d}x \left\{ \partial_{t} \left( \sqrt{a} \Lambda \left( \varrho + b_{i}N^{i} \right) \right) + \partial_{i} \left( \sqrt{a} \Lambda \Omega N^{i} \right) \right\}.$$

$$(4.39)$$

Invariance of S leads to a Carrollian continuity equation:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\varrho + \left(\hat{\nabla}_i + \varphi_i\right)N^i = 0.$$
(4.41)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>As an aside comment, in flat as in AdS holography, the momentum  $P_i$  of the boundary fluid is mapped onto the bulk angular-momentum aspect [28], and this is not expected to vanish. From a different perspective, as already mentioned, microscopic systems such as the Carrollian scalar field exhibit non-vanishing  $\Pi_i$  and  $P_i$  [79, 103].

Using Stokes and Gauss theorems (see also footnote 33) and the Carrollian continuity equation (4.41) we find

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}^{d}x \,\Omega \sqrt{a} \left( \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t} + \theta \right) \varrho + \left( \hat{\nabla}_{i} + \varphi_{i} \right) N^{i} \right) = \oint_{\partial \mathcal{W}} \sqrt{a} \,\varrho \mathrm{d}x^{1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{d} \\ - \oint_{\partial \mathcal{W}} \sqrt{a} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \mathrm{d}x^{1} \wedge \ldots \wedge N^{i} \theta^{\hat{t}} \wedge \ldots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{d},$$

$$(4.42)$$

where  $\mathcal{W} \subset \mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}$  and  $N^i \theta^{\hat{t}}$  ( $\theta^{\hat{t}}$  given in (4.3)) is the *i*th factor in the exterior product of the last term. Assuming a good behaviour for the fields, a conserved charge exists and can be expressed as an integral over an arbitrary space-like hypersurface  $\Sigma_d$  of  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}$ . This conserved charge is identical to the relativistic Papapetrou-Randers result obtained e.g. in (2.110). As for the Galilean instance, it is suitable to chose  $\Sigma_d \equiv \mathbb{S}$  i.e. a constant-*t* hypersurface, and the charge then reads:<sup>61</sup>

$$Q_N = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{a} \left( \varrho + b_i N^i \right). \tag{4.43}$$

Following the Galilean steps, time-independence reveals by replacing S in (4.43) with  $\mathcal{V} \subset S$ , where the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{V}$  does not depend on t, for convenience. Using (4.41), the time evolution of the matter/charge content of  $\mathcal{V}$  is the following:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathrm{d}^{d}x \sqrt{a} \left( \varrho + b_{i} N^{i} \right) = -\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathrm{d}^{d}x \,\partial_{i} \left( \sqrt{a} \,\Omega N^{i} \right) = -\int_{\partial \mathcal{V}} \Omega \star \mathbf{N}. \tag{4.44}$$

If  $\mathcal{V}$  is extended to the whole S the time dependence fades and we find that  $Q_N$  is conserved.

#### Isometries, conservation and non-conservation

Isometries of Carrollian spacetimes are generated by Killing fields of the Carrollian type (4.28), required to obey

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} a_{ij} = 0, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\xi} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} = 0, \tag{4.45}$$

because the metric (4.1) and the field of observers (4.2) are the fundamental geometric data in the spacetimes at hand (see refs. [34–36, 45]). For Carrollian diffeomorphisms ( $\xi^i \equiv \xi^i$  is only **x**-dependent), eqs. (4.29) and (4.30) lead to

$$\hat{\nabla}_{(i}\xi^{k}a_{j)k} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}_{ij} = 0, \qquad \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_{i}\xi^{i} = 0.$$

$$(4.46)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>It should be noticed that the presence of  $b_i$  apparently breaks the manifest covariance, since according to (2.83) the form of the integrand is respected only by coordinate transformations such that t' = t'(t) i.e. a subset of Carrollian diffeomorphisms. This is actually innocuous, and merely translates a feature of the hypersurface chosen for computing the charge, which is otherwise an absolute constant, as emphasized in footnote 9 for the relativistic case, and further discussed in section 3.1 within the Galilean framework. If the clock form is closed (see eq. (4.13)), locally  $\theta^{\hat{t}} = d\tau$  and one may alternatively choose the integration hypersurface  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  as  $\tau(t, \mathbf{x})$  kept constant. In this instance, we obtain  $Q_N = \int_{\Sigma_{\tau}} d^d x \sqrt{a} \rho$ . Nevertheless, all choices of space-like hypersurface  $\Sigma_d$  lead to the same charge.

These equations refer to the invariance of a weak Carroll structure [35] and possess an infinite set of solutions. As for the Newton-Cartan case discussed in section 3.1, strong Carroll structures are further equipped with a torsionless metric-compatible connection, which is also required to be invariant under Carrollian isometries. This constricts the solution space of (4.46). Observe however that one does not demand the Ehresmann be invariant, hence for a Carrollian Killing field  $\xi$ , using (4.46) inside (4.31) we obtain:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\theta^{\hat{t}} = \left( \left( \hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i \right) \xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j \varpi_{ji} \right) \mathrm{d}x^i.$$
(4.47)

The case of a Carroll spacetime with  $a^{ij} = \delta^{ij}$ ,  $\Omega = 1$  and constant  $b_i$  (standard flat Carroll spacetime with our connection) provides a nice illustration of the above. Equations (4.46) possess an infinite number of solutions:

$$\xi = \left(\Omega_i^{\ j} x^i + X^j\right) \partial_j + f(\mathbf{x}) \partial_t \tag{4.48}$$

with constant and antisymmetric  $\Omega_{ij} = \Omega_i^{\ k} \delta_{kj}$  generating the rotations in  $\mathfrak{so}(d)$ , constant  $X^j$  for the space translations, and an arbitrary function of space  $f(\mathbf{x})$ . The latter is only linear if the connection of the strong Carroll structure is required to remain invariant under  $\xi$ :  $f = T - B_i x^i$ , T generating time translations and  $B_i$  being the Carroll boosts. The total number of solutions is now (d+2)(d+1)/2, which is the dimension of the Carroll algebra  $\operatorname{carr}(d+1)$ . Besides, we find that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\theta^{\hat{t}} = -\left(B_i + \Omega_i^{\ j}b_j\right) \mathrm{d}x^i \neq 0, \tag{4.49}$$

exhibiting a constant shift in the Ehresmann connection.

We can now handle the conservation law that would take the Carrollian form (4.41) with a Carrollian scalar  $\kappa$  and a Carrollian vector  $K^i$  determined from the components  $\xi^{\hat{t}}$ and  $\xi^{\hat{i}}$  of a Carrollian Killing, and from the Carrollian momenta, i.e. the energy density  $\Pi$ , the energy current  $\Pi^i$  and the energy-stress tensor  $\Pi^{ij}$  defined in eqs. (4.25), (4.26), (4.27), as well as the momentum  $P^i$ , and satisfying the conservation equations (4.36) and (4.35). If such a conservation exists, the Carrollian scalar

$$\mathscr{K} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\kappa + \left(\hat{\nabla}_i + \varphi_i\right)K^i \tag{4.50}$$

shall vanish on-shell. In fine,  $\kappa$  and  $K^i$  are disclosed in the on-shell boundary terms of  $\delta_{\xi}S$  (see (4.34)) — or likewise, inherited from the relativistic-current components (2.107), (2.108), (2.109):<sup>62</sup>

$$\kappa = \xi^i P_i - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi, \tag{4.51}$$

$$K^{i} = \xi^{j} \Pi_{j}^{\ i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi^{i}. \tag{4.52}$$

 $<sup>^{62}</sup>$ We anticipate here section 4.3, where eqs. (4.133) are obtained as a small-*c* expansions of (2.108) and (2.109), leading to (4.134), which includes (4.51) and (4.52).

The scalar  $\mathcal{K}$  can be determined using the conservation equations (4.36) and (4.35):

$$\mathscr{K} = -\Pi\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_i\xi^{\hat{t}}\right) - \Pi^i\left(\left(\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j\varpi_{ji}\right) + \Pi^i{}_j\left(\hat{\nabla}_i\xi^j + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}_i{}^j\right)$$
(4.53)

$$= -\Pi^{i} \left( \left( \hat{\partial}_{i} - \varphi_{i} \right) \xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^{j} \varpi_{ji} \right).$$

$$(4.54)$$

We have obtained (4.54) from (4.53) thanks to the Killing equations (4.46). This latter result shows that in Carroll structures, a Killing field does not guarantee an on-shell conservation law for Carrollian dynamics.<sup>63</sup>

The above result is expected as in the Galilean case, where a similar non-conservation was proven: the energy current  $\Pi^i$  is conjugate to  $b_i$  (4.26) and  $b_i$  does transform under diffeomorphisms (see (4.32)), even when this diffeomorphism is an isometry. Nonetheless, eq. (4.54) infers that a conservation law exists for the subalgebra of Killing vectors such that  $\mathcal{L}_{\xi} \theta^{\hat{t}} = 0,^{64}$  in agreement with general Noether's theorem, for which isometry seems insufficient and a stronger symmetry required. Incidentally, one cannot exclude that the right-hand side of (4.54) originates from a boundary term (as for the corresponding Galilean equation (3.61)). Conservation would then occur — put differently (4.50) would vanish with effective Carrollian current  $\kappa'$  and  $K^{i'}$ , amended by the boundary-term contributions.

As we have emphasized slightly above, ordinary Carrollian boosts in flat Carroll structures  $(a_{ij} = \delta_{ij}, \Omega = 1, b_i \text{ constants})$  do not satisfy the extra condition  $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\theta^{\hat{t}} = 0$ (see (4.49)), and thus no conservation law is necessarily associated with them. This property was disregarded in refs. [74, 76, 77], where the authors took for granted that such a conservation should exist in the primitive sense i.e. with  $\mathcal{H} = 0$  in (4.54).<sup>65</sup> This assumption led to the conclusion that  $\Pi^i$  should always vanish, as we have already pointed out. A similar reasoning in the Galilean case (see (3.61)) amounts to stating that the fluid momentum  $P_i$ ought to vanish. This is a notoriously degenerate state, where either the fluid is absent, or motion is absent — global equilibrium is reached. Having no intuition for Carrollian fluids, we leave open a teensy possibility for a state with vanishing energy flux to make sense. Such a state is by no means a consequence of any spacetime symmetry though.<sup>66</sup> This feature will be recast at the end of section 4.3, where besides the Carrollian current (4.51), (4.52), more currents of the same sort appear, which may or may not be conserved as a consequence of the vanishing of a vector, be it the energy flux  $\Pi^i$  met here, or another vector emerging in the small-*c* expansion of the relativistic heat current.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>Credit should be given to the authors of [79] for observing this phenomenon in a quite general framework. <sup>64</sup>The Jacobi identity is used to show that the commutator of two  $\xi$ s obeying  $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\theta^{\hat{t}} = 0$ , satisfies the same condition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup>Notice that conservation might be valid with non-vanishing  $\mathcal{K}$ , if the latter is a generalized divergence. In flat space we find  $\mathcal{K} = \Pi^i \left( B_i + \Omega_i^{\ j} b_j \right)$  using eqs. (4.48) and (4.49). Under the assumption of *potential* flow (we borrow the Galilean language)  $\Pi_i = \hat{\partial}_i \phi + \partial_t \phi_i$  with  $\phi(t, \mathbf{x})$  and  $\phi_i(t, \mathbf{x})$  the potential functions so that  $\mathcal{K} = \hat{\partial}_i \phi U^i + \partial_t \phi_i U^i$  with  $U^i = B^i + \Omega^{ij} b_j$ . In this very specific instance, there is a conserved Carrollian current associated with boosts and rotations, and components  $\kappa - \phi_i U^i$  and  $K^i - \phi U^i$  making (4.50) vanish.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>Situations of this sort are not forbidden but are not demanded a priori. They may occur outside the realm of fluids. For instance, a Carrollian scalar field has always vanishing energy flux in its electric edition, and can be set to zero in magnetic some configurations [77, 79, 103]. However, this flux is generically non-zero in the magnetic version, although configurations do exist for which it vanishes.

#### Weyl invariance, conformal isometries, conservation and non-conservation

As for the Newton-Cartan spacetimes, Weyl transformations can be investigated in Carrollian manifolds. They act on their basic geometric data as

$$a_{ij} \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}^2} a_{ij}, \qquad \Omega \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}} \Omega, \qquad b_i \to \frac{1}{\mathscr{B}} b_i,$$

$$(4.55)$$

where  $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}(t, \mathbf{x})$  is an arbitrary function. The Carrollian momenta  $\Pi^{ij}$ ,  $\Pi^i$  and  $\Pi$  defined in (4.25), (4.26) and (4.27) inherit conformal weights d+3, d+2 and d+1 when the effective action is presumed Weyl-invariant. The momentum  $P^i$  appearing in (4.36) has also weight d+2, and in the matter sector, assuming the gauge field B and  $B_i$  be weight-zero, we conclude from (4.37) and (4.38) that the density  $\varrho$  and the matter current  $N^i$  have weights d and d+1.

Requiring Weyl invariance for the effective action  $\delta_{\mathcal{B}}S = 0$ , expression (4.33) implies that

$$\Pi_i^{\ i} = \Pi. \tag{4.56}$$

In order to implement elegantly Weyl covariance, the appropriate covariant derivatives will be introduced in section 4.2 for time and space, dubbed Weyl-Carroll. For the moment, we wish to circumscribe our discussion and adapt to Carroll the pattern discussed in section 3.1 for Newton-Cartan spacetimes, Weyl-invariant dynamics and conformal isometries. This will lead to the same conclusion as above: a conformal Killing field does not always provide a conservation law in Weyl-invariant Carrollian dynamics.

Following [33-36, 45] a conformal isometry is generated by a vector field  $\xi$  satisfying

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} a_{ij} = \lambda a_{ij}, \tag{4.57}$$

where

$$\lambda(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{2}{d} \left( \hat{\nabla}_i \xi^i + \theta \xi^{\hat{t}} \right).$$
(4.58)

The extra condition imposed for reaching an operational definition of conformal Killing vectors is again (3.66) i.e.  $2\mu + \lambda = 0$  with (see (4.30))

$$\mu(t, \mathbf{x}) = -\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_i \xi^i\right).$$
(4.59)

A dynamical exponent z, here equal to 1, can also be defined (see footnote 38), and the distinction of weak versus strong Carroll structures supplements the discussion on the web of conformal Killing fields.

Assuming the existence of a conformal isometry, the conservation equations (4.35) and (4.36) can be used for computing the Carrolian scalar  $\mathcal{K}$  (4.50) with (4.51), (4.52) and (4.56):

$$\mathscr{K} = \Pi\left(\frac{\lambda}{2} + \mu\right) - \Pi^{i}\left(\left(\hat{\partial}_{i} - \varphi_{i}\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^{j}\varpi_{ji}\right).$$
(4.60)

The defining equation (3.66) for conformal Killing vectors on Carrollian spacetimes expectedly arises in (4.60), but is insufficient to ensure  $\mathcal{K} = 0$ . As anticipated, a plain

conformal Killing field does not generically provide a conservation law in Weyl-invariant Carrollian dynamics.

The same conclusion has been reached for Galilean spacetimes in section 3.1. It will be further investigated from the small-c viewpoint in the following paragraphs, and finally in appendix D.2.

As an example, let us again consider the standard flat Carroll spacetime  $(a^{ij} = \delta^{ij}, \Omega = 1 \text{ and constant } b_i)$ . Equations (4.57) and (3.66) possess an infinite number of solutions, which for a strong Carroll structure read [35, 36, 45]:

$$\xi = Y^{j}(\mathbf{x})\partial_{j} + \left(T(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{t}{d}\partial_{i}Y^{i}\right)\partial_{t}$$
(4.61)

with  $T(\mathbf{x})$  an arbitrary function generating the supertranslations and  $Y^i(\mathbf{x})\partial_j$  being conformal Killing fields of Euclidean *d*-dimensional space, generating  $\mathfrak{so}(d+1,1)$ . This is the conformal Carroll algebra  $\mathfrak{ccarr}(d+1) \equiv \mathfrak{so}(d+1,1) \oplus \mathfrak{supertranslations}$ , also known as  $\mathrm{BMS}_{d+2}$  (for Bondi-van der Burg-Metzner-Sachs) [35, 36].<sup>67</sup> We also find how the clock form behaves:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\theta^{\hat{t}} = \left(\partial_i \left(T - Y^j b_j\right) + \frac{b_i}{d} \partial_j Y^j + \frac{t}{d} \partial_i \partial_j Y^j\right) \mathrm{d}x^i.$$
(4.62)

The associated current is not conserved since  $\mathscr{K}$  in (4.60) does not generically vanish,<sup>68</sup> unless  $\partial_j Y^j = C_0$  and  $T = T_0 + Y^j b_j - \frac{C_0}{d} b_i x^i$ , thus linear in  $x^i$  ( $C_0$  and  $T_0$  are constants). This excludes the *d* special conformal transformations of  $\mathfrak{so}(d+1,1)$  and leaves the super-translations with the time translation as unique freedom, leading to a symmetry subgroup of finite dimension  $\frac{d^2}{2} + \frac{d}{2} + 2$ .

One should stress again that generally,  $\Pi^i \left( \left( \hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i \right) \xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j \varpi_{ji} \right)$  with  $\xi$  a conformal Killing field of a Carrollian manifold  $\mathcal{M}$ , might be a boundary term possibly leading to a conserved Carrollian current. This needs however to be appreciated case-by-case and not premised.

# 4.2 Carrollian hydrodynamics from relativistic fluids — I

#### The small-c expansion

Following the pattern introduced in [29], we will now study the vanishing-c limit of relativistic hydrodynamics on a pseudo-Riemannian manifold, in Papapetrou-Randers coordinates. As for the Galilean case, all c-dependence in the geometry is explicit. In particular, the fluid velocity is parameterized with  $\beta^i$  introduced in (2.85), and for small c we obtain:

$$v^{i} = c^{2}\Omega\beta^{i} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^{4}\right). \tag{4.63}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup>In the presence of a dynamical exponent defined via  $2\mu + z\lambda = 0$  (in this case the Carrollian structure is not inherited from the Carrollian limit of a pseudo-Riemannian spacetime), the algebra exhibits a level N = 2/z:  $\operatorname{ccarr}_N(d+1)$ . Strictly speaking  $\operatorname{ccarr}(d+1) \equiv \operatorname{ccarr}_2(d+1)$  is  $\operatorname{BMS}_{d+2}$  for d = 1, 2 only, because for higher d the BMS algebra is finite-dimensional, whereas  $\operatorname{ccarr}_N(d+1)$  is not. Infinite-dimensional extensions of the BMS algebra have been nevertheless presented in the literature (see e.g. [99] for a recent account and further references).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>For general Carrollian fluids it has no a priori reason to vanish, and no Noether current exists. Nonetheless, one finds explicit dynamics where these currents are enforced (see e.g. [98] for the scalar electrodynamics), and where the full conformal Carroll group is realized in terms of the associated conserved charges.

The fluid velocity vanishes at zero c — this is not a surprise — but a kinematical parameter with dimensions of an inverse velocity is bound to remain in as a Carrollian-fluid variable. The full fluid congruence then reads:

$$u_0 = -c\Omega + \mathcal{O}\left(c^3\right), \qquad u^i = c^2\beta^i + \mathcal{O}\left(c^4\right), \qquad (4.64)$$

whereas the expansion and the shear behave as

$$\Theta = \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t \ln \sqrt{a} + O\left(c^2\right) = \theta + O\left(c^2\right), \qquad (4.65)$$

$$\sigma^{ij} = -\frac{1}{\Omega} \left( \frac{1}{2} \partial_t a^{ij} + \frac{1}{d} a^{ij} \partial_t \ln \sqrt{a} \right) + \mathcal{O} \left( c^2 \right) = \xi^{ij} + \mathcal{O} \left( c^2 \right)$$
(4.66)

with  $\xi^{ij}$  and  $\theta$  defined for a Carrollian manifold in (4.15) and (4.16).

In order to go on with the fluid equations, we should handle the behaviour of the energy-momentum tensor at small c. This includes  $\varepsilon$ ,  $p q^i$  and  $\tau^{ij}$ . The matter current  $j^i$ , if present, plays no role since no relationship amongst  $\varepsilon$  and  $\rho$  survives in the Carrollian limit. In the absence of thermodynamic or transport hints for the behaviour of these quantities, we will consider an ansatz motivated by the Carrollian fluids emerging in flat holography [28]. The simplest is

$$\varepsilon = \eta + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right),\tag{4.67}$$

$$p = \varpi + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right),\tag{4.68}$$

$$q^{i} = Q^{i} + c^{2}\pi^{i} + O\left(c^{4}\right),$$
(4.69)

$$\tau^{ij} = -\Xi^{ij} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right). \tag{4.70}$$

This follows the pattern of the Galilean counterpart (3.75) and (3.76), except that the energy is now of order 1, as for the case of a massless-carrier Galilean fluid. In section 4.3 we will consider a Laurent expansion with order- $1/c^2$  terms, as required in flat-holography fluids.

Although a conserved current is not essential in the discussion, we present it for completeness with the following ansatz

$$\varrho_0 = \chi + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right), \qquad j^k = n^k + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right). \tag{4.71}$$

We recall that  $\rho_0$  is the proper density i.e. the density measured by an observer with velocity  $u^{\mu}$ . We could consider a fiducial observer, who would play here the role of  $u_Z$  in Zermelo frame:

$$u_{\rm PR} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t. \tag{4.72}$$

This observer is not geodesic (unless  $\partial_t$  it is a Killing field), but this is of secondary importance since inertial frames play no role in the Carrollian limit. For this observer, the fluid density is  $-\frac{1}{c^2}J_{\mu}u_{\rm PR}^{\mu} = \frac{c}{\Omega}J_0$ , which coincides with  $\varrho_{0\rm r}$  given in (2.103).

# Carrollian momenta and hydrodynamic equations

With the data (4.67), (4.68), (4.69), (4.70), the invariant pieces of the relativistic energymomentum tensor defined in (2.97), (2.100), (2.101) and (2.102) read:

$$q_{\rm r}^{i} = \Pi^{i} + c^{2} P^{i} + O\left(c^{4}\right),$$
(4.73)

$$\varepsilon_{\rm r} = \Pi + O\left(c^2\right),$$
(4.74)

$$p_{\rm r}a^{ij} + \tau_{\rm r}^{ij} = \Pi^{ij} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right) \tag{4.75}$$

with

$$\Pi = \eta + 2\beta_i Q^i, \qquad \Pi^i = Q^i, \qquad \Pi^{ij} = Q^i \beta^j + \beta^i Q^j + \varpi a^{ij} - \Xi^{ij}, \qquad (4.76)$$

and

$$P^{i} = \pi^{i} + \beta^{i} \left( \eta + \varpi + \beta_{k} Q^{k} \right) - \beta_{k} \Xi^{ki} + \frac{\beta^{2}}{2} Q^{i}.$$

$$(4.77)$$

Equations (2.1) with the energy-momentum tensor at hand demand the following expressions

$$\frac{c}{\Omega} \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu}_{\ 0} = \mathcal{E} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right), \tag{4.78}$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu i} = \frac{1}{c^2} \left\{ \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t + \theta\right) \Pi^i + \Pi^j \hat{\gamma}_j^i \right\} + \mathscr{G}^i + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right)$$
(4.79)

be zero with

$$\mathscr{E} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t + \theta\right)\Pi - \left(\hat{\nabla}_i + 2\varphi_i\right)\Pi^i - \Pi^{ij}\hat{\gamma}_{ij},\tag{4.80}$$

$$\mathscr{G}_{j} = \left(\hat{\nabla}_{i} + \varphi_{i}\right)\Pi^{i}{}_{j} + 2\Pi^{i}\varpi_{ij} + \Pi\varphi_{j} + \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_{t} + \theta\right)P_{j} + P^{i}\hat{\gamma}_{ij}.$$
(4.81)

Hence, we recover the Carrollian momenta conservation equations (4.35) and (4.36) (notice the use of the Carrollian time covariant derivative (4.18)) augmented with an extra equation on the energy current

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t + \theta\right)\Pi^i + \Pi^j \hat{\gamma}_j^i = 0.$$
(4.82)

The whole Carrollian scheme of the present section, and eq. (4.82) in particular, resonate with the discussion made on the Galilean side, section 3.3. This equation is indeed absent when working directly in the framework of a Carrollian manifold with Carrollian diffeomorphisms, as in section 4.1. It is in fact a boundary term that could not be retrieved by a variational principle — as the Carrollian momentum  $P^i$  appeared to be necessary but undetermined. Getting the Carrollian dynamics as a zero-*c* limit of relativistic hydrodynamics is richer.

On the one hand, equation (4.82) emerges as a vestige of the original full-diffeomorphism relativistic invariance,<sup>69</sup> and is the dual of the Galilean constraint equation (3.122) —

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>Precise statements on this reminiscence of full diffeomorphisms are illusive. In particular, no central extension can accompany the Carrollian contraction. According to ref. [84], the prerequisite for this to occur is the existence of an absolute time i.e. Galilean or Aristotelian frameworks.

remember that time and space play dual roles in the two limits considered here, interchanging, among others, momentum and energy current. On the other hand, the momentum  $P^i$ is no longer undetermined, and stands for the subleading term of the relativistic heat current (4.73), expressed explicitly in terms of the kinematical and "thermodynamictransport" observables —  $\beta^i$  and  $\eta$ ,  $\varpi$ ,  $Q^i$ ,  $\pi^i$ ,  $\Xi^{ij}$  in (4.77).

This last observation calls for a comparison with the existing literature. At the first place it should be accepted that the very concept of spacetime energy-momentum tensor is loose in Carrollian (and Galilean) physics. This was clearly emphasized in the early work [79], where the role of Carrollian momenta as a necessary replacement to the energymomentum tensor was proposed. It is stated again here, and one should moreover avoid the latent confusion amongst momenta (or energy-momentum tensor, if any) as a response of the system to geometry disturbances, and Noetherian currents, which are generically absent as no isometries have been assumed. Next, it is clear that nothing requires the vanishing of neither the energy flux  $\Pi^i$ , nor the momentum  $P^i$ , irrespective of the approach — Carrollian conservation or zero-c limit. This has been undermined in [74, 76, 77]. Finally, the momenta are expressed in terms of an "inverse velocity"  $\beta^i$  and not a velocity  $v^i$ , since no velocity is compatible with Carrollian physics due to the shrinking of the light cone. It should be added that no matter density enters the momenta because no relationship exists any longer between energy and mass. Equation (A.2) is obsolete in the Carrollian limit, and it is fair to admit that Carrollian thermodynamics remains in limbo — as pointed out in appendix A. This is sometimes overlooked.

From a more abstract viewpoint, a relation between energy and some other charge (possibly, but not necessarily the mass) might appear only if a conservation exists that defines this charge, independently of the conservation involving the energy. Such a conservation may or may not be present for the relativistic fluids, and is emergent in the Galilean limit. For the Carrollian case, if a U(1) conservation law of the type (2.2) is available in the ascendent theory, we find, after inserting (4.71) inside (2.103) and (2.104):

$$\varrho_{0r} = \varrho + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right),$$
(4.83)

$$j_{\rm r}^i = N^i + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right),\tag{4.84}$$

with

$$\varrho = \chi + \beta_i n^i, \qquad N^i = n^i,$$
(4.85)

the matter Carrollian momenta explicitly determined in terms of  $\beta^i$ . We can now compute the divergence of (2.4) in the Papapetrou-Randers background (2.79). The result is

$$\nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = \mathcal{J} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^{2}\right) \tag{4.86}$$

with

$$\mathcal{F} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\varrho + \left(\hat{\nabla}_j + \varphi_j\right)N^j,\tag{4.87}$$

and demanding the conservation, we recover the Carrollian continuity equation (4.41).

## Hydrodynamic-frame invariance

We discussed hydrodynamic-frame invariance in the framework of relativistic fluids, where it states that the relativistic fluid equations remain invariant under arbitrary unimodular transformations of the velocity field u, performed together with transformations of the energy density, pressure, heat current and stress tensor — see e.g. (2.92), (2.93) and (2.94).<sup>70</sup> The question we want now to answer is again whether this invariance survives the Carrollian limit.

From the experience we have acquired in the Galilean section, answering requires a careful analysis, and the output depends on several options. Assumptions are made about the small-c behaviour of the various observables (see (4.67), (4.68), (4.69), and (4.70)) and this behaviour may not be stable under Carrollian hydrodynamic-frame transformations. As opposed to the Galilean situation, there is no physical intuition that can argue in favour or against. There are however concrete results from flat holography [26, 27] suggesting that Carrollian hydrodynamic-frame invariance should hold as a local boundary symmetry, translating in a bulk diffeomorphism transformation.

As for the Galilean case, the operators entering (4.80), (4.81) and (4.82) are velocityindependent, and the momenta  $P_i$ ,  $\Pi$ ,  $\Pi_i$  and  $\Pi_{ij}$  appear as coefficients in the expansion of the hydrodynamic-frame-invariant relativistic momenta (4.73), (4.74) and (4.75). In order to conclude about hydrodynamic-frame invariance, we must investigate the stability of the scaling properties encoded in (4.67), (4.68), (4.69) and (4.70), using the transformation rules set in the Papapetrou-Randers frame (2.92), (2.93) and (2.94). We find the following:

$$\delta\eta = -2\delta\beta_i Q^i,\tag{4.88}$$

$$]\delta Q^i = 0, \tag{4.89}$$

$$\delta \pi^{i} = \delta \beta_{j} \left( \Xi^{ij} - (\eta + \varpi) a^{ij} + \beta^{i} Q^{j} \right), \qquad (4.90)$$

$$\delta\left(\Xi^{ij} - \varpi a^{ij}\right) = \delta\beta_k \left(Q^i a^{jk} + Q^j a^{ik}\right).$$
(4.91)

Remarkably, under the frame transformations at hand, the Carrollian densities and fluxes defined in (4.76) and (4.77) are invariant:

$$\delta \Pi = 0, \qquad \delta \Pi^{i} = 0, \qquad \delta \Pi^{ij} = 0, \qquad \delta P^{i} = 0. \tag{4.92}$$

Contrary to the Galilean massive case (section 3.2), but similarly to the Galilean massless case (section 3.4), the energy-momentum-tensor dynamics and the current dynamics are decoupled here. This decoupling holds in particular for hydrodynamic-frame invariance, and we are invited to iterate the above course for matter dynamics. For matter, the transformation rules in Papapetrou-Randers frame are (2.95) and (2.96), whereas the invariant relativistic momenta (4.83), (4.84) should be used in conjunction with the small-c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup>In the Papapetrou-Randers frame, the local unimodular transformations (2.28) are captured by  $\beta^i \rightarrow \beta^i + \delta\beta^i(t, \mathbf{x})$  (see eqs. (2.51)), (2.85), (2.87)) parameterized as  $\delta\beta^i = B^i - c^2 B^j \beta_j \beta^i + \Omega^{ij} \beta_j$ . Infinitesimal Lorentz boosts are associated with  $B^i(t, \mathbf{x})$ , while infinitesimal rotations go along with the antisymmetric  $\Omega^{ij}(t, \mathbf{x})$ . In the Carrollian limit, the general transformation, which captures Carrollian boosts and rotations, reads:  $\delta\beta^i = B^i + \Omega^{ij}\beta_j$ .

behaviour (4.71). The output is now

$$\delta\chi = -\delta\beta_i n^i, \tag{4.93}$$

$$\delta n^i = 0. \tag{4.94}$$

Using (4.85), one shows that

$$\delta \varrho = 0, \quad \delta N^i = 0. \tag{4.95}$$

This result demonstrates the invariance of (4.87). In conclusion, matter dynamics is hydrodynamic-frame-invariant, establishing thereby that Carrollian fluid dynamics is hydrodynamic-frame invariant.

#### Weyl-invariant Carrollian fluids

Carrollian fluids are fundamental ingredients of flat holography, where they appear in their Weyl-invariant version [28]. On a Papapetrou-Randers frame, Weyl transformations generated by  $\mathfrak{B}(t, \mathbf{x})$  act as they do on the fundamental data of a Carrollian spacetime, eqs. (4.55). The Weyl-invariance condition (4.56) is here reached as the zero-*c* limit of the relativistic Weyl-invariance condition  $T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = 0$  discussed at the end of section 2.1, using (2.98), (4.73), (4.74) and (4.75). For Carrollian fluids, the various Carrollian momenta (4.76), (4.77), (4.85) are expressed in terms of fluid variables such as the inverse velocity  $\beta^i$ , the energy density  $\eta$ , the pressure  $\varpi$  as well as  $Q_i$ ,  $\pi_i$  and  $\Xi_{ij}$ . Their conformal weights are<sup>71</sup> 1, d + 1, d + 1, d, d and d - 1. Similarly the weights of  $\chi$  and  $n^i$  are d and d + 1. Condition (4.56) reads  $\eta = d\varpi - \Xi^i_i$ , which is split as usual:

$$\eta = d\varpi, \quad \Xi^i_{\ i}. \tag{4.96}$$

The geometric tools necessary for handling Carrollian Weyl covariance were introduced in appendix A.2 of [29] and we summarize them here. We define *Weyl-Carroll* covariant time and space derivatives using  $\theta$  and  $\varphi_i$  defined in (4.16) and (4.12), which transform as connections

$$\theta \to \mathfrak{B}\theta - \frac{d}{\Omega}\partial_t \mathfrak{B}, \qquad \varphi_i \to \varphi_i - \hat{\partial}_i \ln \mathfrak{B},$$
(4.97)

as opposed to the Carrollian shear  $\xi_{ij}$  (4.15) and Carrollian vorticity  $\varpi_{ij}$  (4.11), which are Weyl-covariant of weight -1. The action of the Carrollian Weyl-covariant time derivative on a weight-w function  $\Phi$  is

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t\Phi = \frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t\Phi + \frac{w}{d}\theta\Phi = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t\Phi + \frac{w}{d}\theta\Phi, \qquad (4.98)$$

and this is a scalar of weight w + 1. On a weight-w vector, the action is

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t V^l = \frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t V^l + \frac{w-1}{d}\theta V^l = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t V^l + \frac{w}{d}\theta V^l + \xi^l_{\ i} V^i.$$
(4.99)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>We mentioned in section 4.1 that  $\Pi^{ij}$ ,  $\Pi^i$ ,  $\Pi^i$  and  $\Pi$  have conformal weights d + 3, d + 2, d + 2 and d + 1, whereas the density  $\rho$  and the matter current  $N^i$  have weights d and d + 1.

These are the components of a Carrollian vector of weight w + 1. Similarly for any tensor by Leibniz rule and in particular we find:

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t a_{kl} = 0. \tag{4.100}$$

For a weight-w scalar function  $\Phi$ , we introduce the space Weyl-covariant Carrollian derivative

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_j \Phi = \hat{\partial}_j \Phi + w \varphi_j \Phi, \qquad (4.101)$$

which has the same conformal weight. Similarly, for a vector with weight-w components  $V^{l}$ :

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_j V^l = \hat{\nabla}_j V^l + (w-1)\varphi_j V^l + \varphi^l V_j - \delta^l_j V^i \varphi_i.$$
(4.102)

The Weyl-Carroll spatial derivative does not modify the weight of the tensor it acts on. The action on any other tensor is obtained using the Leibniz rule, as in example for rank-two tensors:

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_j t_{kl} = \hat{\nabla}_j t_{kl} + (w+2)\varphi_j t_{kl} + \varphi_k t_{jl} + \varphi_l t_{kj} - a_{jl} t_{ki} \varphi^i - a_{jk} t_{il} \varphi^i.$$
(4.103)

Moreover, it is metric-compatible:

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_j a_{kl} = 0. \tag{4.104}$$

Time and space Weyl-Carroll covariant derivatives do not commute. Their commutators allow to define further geometric tensors such as the Weyl-Carroll curvature (spatial and mixed space-time), which do also emerge in the small-c expansion of the relativistic Weyl curvature tensors introduced in (2.41), (2.42), (2.43), and evaluated in a Papapetrou-Randers background. More information is available in the already quoted reference [29].

With these derivatives, Carrollian equations (4.35), (4.36) and equation (4.82) read for a conformal fluid:

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t\Pi + \hat{\mathcal{D}}_i\Pi^i + \Pi^{ij}\xi_{ij} = 0, \qquad (4.105)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_i \Pi^i{}_j + 2\Pi^i \varpi_{ij} + \left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \delta^i_j + \xi^i_j\right) P_i = 0, \qquad (4.106)$$

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \Pi_j + \Pi_i \xi^i_{\ j} = 0. \tag{4.107}$$

These equations are Weyl-covariant of weights d+2, d+1 and d+1 ( $P_i$  is weight-d). They are also manifestly hydrodynamic-frame invariant. Similarly, for the matter sector, (4.41) reads:

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \varrho + \hat{\mathcal{D}}_j N^j = 0, \qquad (4.108)$$

and is Weyl-covariant of weight d + 1 and hydrodynamic-frame invariant.

### 4.3 Carrollian hydrodynamics from relativistic fluids — II

### More degrees of freedom

The behaviours (4.67), (4.68), (4.69) and (4.70) of energy, pressure, heat current and stress tensor are required for matching the zero-*c* limit of hydrodynamic equations with the Carrollian momenta conservation, while preserving hydrodynamic-frame invariance. At the end of section 3.3, we contemplated exotic Galilean situations involving more degrees of freedom and obeying extended systems of fluid equations reached at infinite *c*, such as (3.125). Although of limited use in the non-relativistic framework, this sort of extensions play a pivotal role when studying Carrollian fluids in flat holography, were more divergent terms appear to be needed [28]. It is worth elaborating in this direction in the spirit of [29], and consider in particular<sup>72</sup>

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\zeta}{c^2} + \eta + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right),\tag{4.109}$$

$$p = \frac{\phi}{c^2} + \varpi + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right),\tag{4.110}$$

$$q^{i} = \frac{\psi^{i}}{c^{2}} + Q^{i} + c^{2}\pi^{i} + O\left(c^{4}\right), \qquad (4.111)$$

$$\tau^{ij} = -\frac{\Sigma^{ij}}{c^2} - \Xi^{ij} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right).$$
(4.112)

We can at the same time extend the matter sector with

$$\varrho_0 = \frac{\omega}{c^2} + \chi + O(c^2), \qquad j^k = \frac{m^i}{c^2} + n^k + O(c^2).$$
(4.113)

With the new scalings, the expansion of the energy-momentum tensor components (2.100), (2.101), (2.102) is now

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{\rm r} = \frac{\tilde{\Pi}}{c^2} + \Pi + {\rm O}\left(c^2\right), \\ q_{\rm r}^i = \frac{\tilde{\Pi}^i}{c^2} + \Pi^i + c^2 P^i + {\rm O}\left(c^4\right), \\ p_{\rm r} a^{ij} + \tau_{\rm r}^{ij} = \frac{\tilde{\Pi}^{ij}}{c^2} + \Pi^{ij} + {\rm O}\left(c^2\right). \end{cases}$$
(4.114)

The Carrollian momenta are displayed in (B.1). Similarly, the matter current (eqs. (2.103) and (2.104)) exhibits the following:

$$\rho_{0r} = \frac{\tilde{\rho}}{c^2} + \rho + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right), \qquad j_r^k = \frac{\tilde{N}^k}{c^2} + N^k + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right)$$
(4.115)

with  $\tilde{\varrho}$ ,  $\varrho$ ,  $\tilde{N}^k$  and  $N^k$  given in (B.2).

Using the above expansions in the relativistic divergence of the energy-momentum tensor on Papapetrou-Randers background (2.79) one obtains

$$\frac{c}{\Omega} \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu}_{\ 0} = \frac{\mathscr{F}}{c^2} + \mathscr{E} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right), \qquad (4.116)$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu i} = \frac{\mathfrak{X}^{i}}{c^{4}} + \frac{\mathscr{H}^{i}}{c^{2}} + \mathscr{G}^{i} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^{2}\right), \qquad (4.117)$$

 $^{72}$ In holographic Carrollian fluids, one keeps terms up to order  $^{1/c^4}$ . The pattern is the same.

while the divergence of the matter current reads:

$$\nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{c^2} + \mathcal{J} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right). \tag{4.118}$$

In these expressions,  $\mathcal{C}$ ,  $\mathcal{C}_j$  and  $\mathcal{J}$  are given in (4.80), (4.81) and (4.87), whereas the new expressions are

$$\mathcal{F} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_t + \theta\right)\tilde{\Pi} - \left(\hat{\nabla}_i + 2\varphi_i\right)\tilde{\Pi}^i - \tilde{\Pi}^{ij}\hat{\gamma}_{ij},\tag{4.119}$$

$$\mathscr{H}_{j} = \left(\hat{\nabla}_{i} + \varphi_{i}\right)\tilde{\Pi}^{i}{}_{j} + 2\tilde{\Pi}^{i}\varpi_{ij} + \tilde{\Pi}\varphi_{j} + \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_{t} + \theta\right)\Pi_{j} + \Pi^{i}\hat{\gamma}_{ij}, \qquad (4.120)$$

$$\mathfrak{X}_{j} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{D}_{t} + \theta\right)\tilde{\Pi}_{j} + \tilde{\Pi}^{i}\hat{\gamma}_{ij},\tag{4.121}$$

and

$$\mathcal{N} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\tilde{\varrho} + \left(\hat{\nabla}_j + \varphi_j\right)\tilde{N}^j.$$
(4.122)

At zero c, the Carrollian energy and momenta equations are thus  $\mathscr{C} = \mathscr{F} = \mathscr{G}_j = \mathscr{H}_j = \mathfrak{X}_j = 0$ , and similarly  $\mathscr{J} = \mathscr{N} = 0$  describe the matter sector. All these equations are invariant under hydrodynamic-frame transformations because the differential operators are geometric and thus invariant, and because the momenta  $\tilde{\Pi}$ ,  $\Pi$ ,  $\tilde{\Pi}^i$ ,  $\Pi^i$ ,  $P^i$ ,  $\tilde{\Pi}^{ij}$ ,  $\Pi^{ij}$ ,  $\tilde{\varrho}$ ,  $\varrho$ ,  $\tilde{N}^i$ ,  $N^i$  also are, as shown in appendix B.

### Weyl-invariant Carrollian fluids

For the system under investigation, the use of an effective action is not convenient, as it would require a complete set of variables conjugate to the momenta  $\Pi$ ,  $\Pi^i$ ,  $\Pi^{ij}$  and  $\tilde{\Pi}$ ,  $\tilde{\Pi}^i$ ,  $\tilde{\Pi}^{ij}$ , which is bigger than  $a_{ij}$ ,  $b_i$  and  $\Omega$ . Weyl invariance is here easier to impose as a zero-climit of  $T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = 0$  discussed at the end of section 2.1, using (2.98) with (4.114):

$$T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = \frac{1}{c^2} \left( \tilde{\Pi}_i^{\ i} - \tilde{\Pi} \right) + \Pi_i^{\ i} - \Pi + \mathcal{O}\left( c^2 \right) = 0, \tag{4.123}$$

leading to

$$\tilde{\Pi}_i^{\ i} = \tilde{\Pi}, \qquad \Pi_i^{\ i} = \Pi. \tag{4.124}$$

These conditions can be recast in terms of Carrollian-fluid observables using the explicit expressions of the momenta (B.1). Splitting them again à la (2.45), into global-equilibrium equations of state plus conditions for the dynamical irreversible components, we find the following:

$$\zeta = d\phi, \quad \Sigma^{i}{}_{i} = 0, \quad \eta = d\varpi, \quad \Xi^{i}{}_{i} = \beta_{i}\beta_{j}\Sigma^{ij}. \tag{4.125}$$

The conformal weights of  $\tilde{\Pi}$ ,  $\tilde{\Pi}^{i}$ ,  $\tilde{\Pi}^{ij}$  match those of  $\Pi$ ,  $\Pi^{i}$ ,  $\Pi^{ij}$ ; those of the extra variables  $\zeta$ ,  $\phi$ ,  $\psi_i$  and  $\Sigma_{ij}$  are d + 1, d + 1, d and d - 1, while for  $\omega$  and  $m^i$  we find d and d + 1.

Finally, using (4.124), the equations  $\mathscr{C} = \mathscr{F} = \mathscr{G}_j = \mathscr{H}_j = \mathfrak{X}_j = 0$  and  $\mathscr{J} = \mathscr{N} = 0$  become Weyl-covariant with

$$\mathcal{J} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \varrho + \hat{\mathcal{D}}_j N^j, \qquad (4.126)$$

$$\mathcal{N} = \frac{1}{\Omega} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \tilde{\varrho} + \hat{\mathcal{D}}_j \tilde{N}^j, \qquad (4.127)$$

and

$$\mathscr{E} = -\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \Pi - \hat{\mathcal{D}}_i \Pi^i - \Pi^{ij} \xi_{ij}, \qquad (4.128)$$

$$\mathscr{F} = -\frac{1}{\Omega}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_t\tilde{\Pi} - \hat{\mathcal{D}}_i\tilde{\Pi}^i - \tilde{\Pi}^{ij}\xi_{ij}, \qquad (4.129)$$

$$\mathscr{G}_{j} = \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{i} \Pi^{i}{}_{j} + 2\Pi^{i} \varpi_{ij} + \left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{t} \delta^{i}_{j} + \xi^{i}{}_{j}\right) P_{i}, \qquad (4.130)$$

$$\mathscr{H}_{j} = \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{i} \tilde{\Pi}^{i}{}_{j} + 2\tilde{\Pi}^{i} \varpi_{ij} + \left(\frac{1}{\Omega} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{t} \delta^{i}_{j} + \xi^{i}{}_{j}\right) \Pi_{i}, \qquad (4.131)$$

$$\mathfrak{X}_j = \frac{1}{\Omega} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_t \tilde{\Pi}_j + \tilde{\Pi}_i \xi^i{}_j.$$
(4.132)

These equations are the seed for flat holography, see [25–28]. They are covariant under Carrollian diffeomorphisms, covariant under Weyl rescalings and invariant under hydrodynamic-frame transformations, which are local Carroll transformations (Carroll boosts and rotations).

## Isometries and conformal isometries

As a final application of the above results on multiplication of degrees of freedom, we can insert the behaviour (4.114) inside the components (2.107), (2.108) and (2.109) of a relativistic conserved current resulting from the combination of the energy-momentum tensor with a Killing or a conformal Killing field. We obtain

$$-\frac{1}{c\Omega}I_0 = \iota_{0r} = \frac{\tilde{\kappa}}{c^4} + \frac{\kappa}{c^2} + \kappa + O\left(c^2\right), \qquad I^k = i_r^k = \frac{\tilde{K}^k}{c^2} + K^k + O\left(c^2\right)$$
(4.133)

with (remember that  $\xi^i \equiv \xi^{\hat{i}}$  is a function of **x** only for Carrollian diffeomorphisms)

$$\begin{cases} \kappa = \xi^{i} P_{i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi \\ \tilde{\kappa} = \xi^{i} \Pi_{i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \tilde{\Pi} \\ \tilde{\kappa} = \xi^{i} \tilde{\Pi}_{i} \\ K^{i} = \xi^{j} \Pi_{j}^{i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi^{i} \\ \tilde{K}^{i} = \xi^{j} \tilde{\Pi}_{j}^{i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \tilde{\Pi}^{i}, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.134)$$

where  $\kappa$  and  $K_i$  are precisely as anticipated in (4.51) and (4.52), and described in footnote 62. Inserting (4.133) in the relativistic divergence of the matter current  $I^{\mu}$  in Papapetrou-Randers background we recover a multiplication of (4.50) in the form

$$\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{K}}}{c^4} + \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{K}}}{c^2} + \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{O}\left(c^2\right)$$
(4.135)

with

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\tilde{\mathcal{K}}} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\tilde{\tilde{\kappa}} = 0\\ \tilde{\mathcal{K}} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\tilde{\kappa} + \left(\hat{\nabla}_i + \varphi_i\right)\tilde{K}^i = -\tilde{\Pi}^i\left(\left(\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j\varpi_{ji}\right)\\ \mathcal{K} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\kappa + \left(\hat{\nabla}_i + \varphi_i\right)K^i = -\Pi^i\left(\left(\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j\varpi_{ji}\right). \end{cases}$$
(4.136)

The last equalities are obtained owing to the Carrollian Killing (4.46) (or conformal Killing (3.66), (4.57), (4.58), (4.59)) conditions and the equations of motion  $\mathscr{C} = \mathscr{F} = \mathscr{G}_j = \mathscr{H}_j = \mathscr{X}_j = 0$  (see eqs. (4.128), (4.129), (4.130), (4.131), (4.132) — and (4.124) for the Weyl-covariant situation). One of the three currents is conserved as a consequence of the (conformal) isometry, whereas the other two are not.

The multiplication of degrees of freedom induced by the behaviour of the energymomentum tensor (4.114), triggers a multiplication of currents in the presence of an isometry (or a conformal isometry if the dynamics is Weyl-invariant) — here three, but possibly more if more terms are present in (4.114). These currents are generically nonconserved, as we already observed in section 4.1 for a single current (eqs. (4.54) or (4.60)), unless the symmetry is stronger than a Carrollian (conformal) isometry i.e. if  $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\theta^{\hat{t}} =$  $\left(\left(\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j \varpi_{ji}\right) dx^i = 0$ . Alternatively each of those currents may or may not be conserved, irrespective of the others, when an appropriate vector in the expansion of  $q_r^i$ vanishes, be it  $\Pi^i$  or  $\tilde{\Pi}^i$ , and this explains why  $\tilde{\tilde{\mathcal{K}}} = 0$  in the above paradigm, whereas  $\tilde{\mathcal{K}} \neq 0$  and  $\mathcal{K} \neq 0$ .

As we emphasized at the end of section 3.3 in the Galilean framework, i.e. for infinite c, it is puzzling that the conservation law  $\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = 0$  of a relativistic current  $I^{\mu} = \xi_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu}$  produced by a Killing vector  $\xi$  of a pseudo-Riemannian spacetime, similarly fails when the limit *c*-to-zero is taken. This is once again due to the nature of the Carrollian Killing fields; details are available in appendix D.2.

# 5 Aristotelian dynamics

### Aristotelian spacetimes

Aristotelian spacetimes were introduced in [80]. They are part of a rich web of geometric structures, which incorporate Newton-Cartan and Carroll, among others. Their defining feature is a manifold  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times S$  of dimension d + 1, endowed with a degenerate metric and a degenerate cometric. The first implies that there is a symmetric rank-two tensor acting on tangent-space elements

$$d\ell^{2} = \ell_{\mu\nu}(t, \mathbf{x}) dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}, \quad \mu, \nu \dots \in \{0, 1, \dots, d\}$$
(5.1)

with one-dimensional kernel, the field of observers

$$\mathbf{v} = v^{\mu}(t, \mathbf{x}) \,\partial_{\mu} :\quad \ell_{\mu\nu} v^{\mu} = 0. \tag{5.2}$$

The second translates into the existence of symmetric rank-two tensor acting on cotangentspace vectors:

$$\partial_m^2 = m^{\mu\nu}(t, \mathbf{x}) \,\partial_\mu \,\partial_\nu, \tag{5.3}$$

where

$$\mu = \mu_{\nu}(t, \mathbf{x}) \,\mathrm{d}x^{\nu} : \quad m^{\mu\nu} \mu_{\nu} = 0, \tag{5.4}$$

defines a clock form (one should say "anti-clock" because of the sign), such that

$$-v^{\mu}\mu_{\nu} + m^{\mu\lambda}\ell_{\lambda\nu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\nu}, \qquad v^{\nu}\mu_{\nu} = -1, \qquad m^{\mu\nu}\ell_{\mu\nu} = d.$$
 (5.5)

The topological structure  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times S$  provides here a genuine, vertical and horizontal foliation, as opposed to Carrollian manifolds, where it generally supports a fiber bundle over a *d*-dimensional basis, and to Newton-Cartan were the fibration is defined over a line. In other words, Aristotelian spacetimes lie in the intersection of Carrollian and Newton-Cartan geometries with trivial Ehresmann connection for the Carrollian and trivial field of observers for the Newton-Cartan.<sup>73</sup>

The vector v and the covector  $\mu$  are intrinsic geometric objects. Aristotelian transformations are meant to leave them invariant and respect the associated foliation. This forbids boosts, which is a characteristic feature of Aristotelian spacetimes translating into the absolute nature of time *and* space. In practice it allows to adopt a convenient choice:<sup>74</sup>

$$d\ell^2 = a_{ij} dx^i dx^j, \qquad \partial_m^2 = a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \tag{5.6}$$

with  $a^{ik}a_{kj} = \delta^i_j$  and

$$\upsilon = \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t, \qquad \mu = -\Omega \mathrm{d}t,$$
(5.7)

where  $a_{ij}$  and  $\Omega$  are functions of t and **x**. Aristotelian diffeomorphisms act as

$$t' = t'(t), \quad \mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}'(\mathbf{x}) \tag{5.8}$$

with Jacobian

$$J(t) = \frac{\partial t'}{\partial t}, \qquad J_j^i(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\partial x^{i\prime}}{\partial x^j}.$$
(5.9)

The transformations of the metric and kernel components are thus

$$a'_{ij} = a_{kl} J^{-1k}_{\ i} J^{-1l}_{\ j}, \qquad \Omega' = \frac{\Omega}{J}.$$
 (5.10)

Aristotelian manifolds can be equipped with covariant derivatives, which allow to obtain genuine tensors under Aristotelian diffeomorphisms (5.8). As for the various spacetimes met earlier, we will focus here on the simplest torsionless and metric-compatible space and time connections, which naturally appear in the conservation equations.

The spatial connection is the same as the one introduced for the Galilean manifolds in (3.8):

$$\gamma_{jk}^{i} = \frac{a^{il}}{2} \left( \partial_{j} a_{lk} + \partial_{k} a_{lj} - \partial_{l} a_{jk} \right).$$
(5.11)

The associated covariant derivative is spelled  $\nabla_i$  since it needs not be distinguished from the ordinary Levi-Civita derivative on a Riemannian *d*-dimensional manifold — it just depends on time here. It is torsionless, because  $\gamma_{jk}^i$  are symmetric and also obeys  $\nabla_i a_{jk} = 0.75$  Its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup>Our definition of Aristotelian manifolds is that of [80], also used in [74, 76]. In refs. [39, 40] "Aristotelian" is somewhat less restrictive. It is meant to be a Leibnizian structure and a Fröbenius-integrable distribution associated with the absolute clock form ( $\mu \wedge d\mu = 0$  obvious for (5.7)). The necessary extra ingredient to match the more conventional picture we use is the field of observers v (5.2) (or (5.7) in the concrete realization), as described in Props. A.5 and A.6 of [40].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>This is not the most general choice, as (3.1)-(3.2) and (4.1)-(4.2) were not the most general either for Newton-Cartan and Carrollian manifolds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup>For a more general discussion on compatible connections, see Props. A.17 and A.18 of [40].

Riemann, Ricci and scalar curvature tensors are defined as usual *d*-dimensional Levi-Civita curvature tensors would be, except that they are *t*-dependent.

The time derivative operator  $\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t$  is also promoted to an Aristotelian temporal metriccompatible covariant derivative

$$D_t a_{jk} = 0,$$
 (5.12)

using

$$\gamma_{ij} = \frac{1}{2\Omega} \partial_t a_{ij} = \xi_{ij} + \frac{1}{d} a_{ij} \theta.$$
(5.13)

We have introduced the familiar by now traceless shear tensor  $\xi_{ij}$  and expansion scalar  $\theta = \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t \ln \sqrt{a}$ , which can be completed with the acceleration form

$$\varphi_i = \partial_i \ln \Omega. \tag{5.14}$$

The action of  $D_t$  is as in the Carrollian case, eqs. (4.17) and (4.18):  $D_t \Phi = \partial_t \Phi$  and

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}D_tV^i = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_tV^i + \gamma^i_{\ j}V^j, \quad \frac{1}{\Omega}D_tV_i = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_tV_i - \gamma^j_iV_j \tag{5.15}$$

generalized using the Leibniz rule.

Time and space derivatives do not commute:

$$\left[\frac{1}{\Omega}D_t, \nabla_i\right]V^j = \varphi_i\left(\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}D_t + \theta\right)V^j - \gamma^j_k V^k\right) - \gamma^k_i \nabla_k V^j - dr^j_{\ ik} V^k \tag{5.16}$$

 $\mathrm{with}^{76}$ 

$$r^{j}_{\ ik} = \frac{1}{d} \left( \theta \varphi_{i} \delta^{j}_{k} + \nabla_{i} \gamma^{j}_{\ k} - \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t} \gamma^{j}_{ik} \right)$$
(5.17)

another Aristotelian curvature tensor, similar to the one introduced for our Carrollian connection.

# Dynamics from diffeomorphism invariance

Aristotelian fluids were introduced in [74], and mentioned as "self-dual" in [29]. They received further attention [76] amid a soaring interest for non-boost-invariant dynamics [81–83]. It is abusive though to call this "hydrodynamics" for two reasons. The first is shared with the Carrollian instance: a fluid is meant to assimilate a phenomenological description of a many-body system under local-equilibrium and slow-variation assumptions, and those assumptions are non controllable in the Carrollian or Aristotelian framework due the absence of a thermodynamic or kinetic theory — the elementary particle motion is forbidden in both cases. Additionally, as opposed to Galilean or Carrollian manifolds, Aristotelian cannot be obtained naturally as limits of pseudo-Riemannian spacetimes. Thus, no guide for the would-be Aristotelian fluid equations exists that could be based on a limiting procedure, and this is the second reason. The only safe way to reach a set of equations covariant under Aristotelian diffeomorphisms (5.8) is to require this diffeomorphism invariance at the level of an effective action, and study its conservation consequences for the conjugate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>Again  $\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t \gamma_{ik}^j = (\nabla_i + \varphi_i) \gamma_k^j + (\nabla_k + \varphi_k) \gamma_i^j - (\nabla^j + \varphi^j) \gamma_{ik}$  is an Aristotelian tensor, even though  $\gamma_{ik}^j$  is not.

Aristotelian momenta. The latter remain however agnostic on a decomposition in terms of kinematical (as  $v_i$  for Galilean,  $\beta^i$  for Carrollian) and kinetic (energy, pressure, heat and stress) variables.

Starting again with an action  $S = \int dt d^d x \sqrt{a} \Omega \mathscr{L}$  on  $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R} \times S$ , now functional of  $a_{ij}$ and  $\Omega$ , the Aristotelian momenta conjugate to those variables are

$$\Pi^{ij} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{a}\Omega} \frac{\delta S}{\delta a_{ij}},\tag{5.18}$$

$$\Pi = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \Omega}.$$
(5.19)

These are the *energy-stress tensor* and the *energy density*, and with those the variation of the action in the gravitational sector is

$$\delta S = -\int \mathrm{d}t\,\Omega \int \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{a} \left(\frac{1}{2}\Pi_{ij}\delta a^{ij} + \Pi\delta\ln\Omega\right). \tag{5.20}$$

Aristotelian diffeomorphisms (5.8) are generated by vector fields

$$\xi = \xi^t \partial_t + \xi^i \partial_i = \xi^{\hat{t}} \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_t + \xi^i \partial_i, \qquad (5.21)$$

where  $\xi^t = \xi^t(t)$  and  $\xi^i = \xi^i(\mathbf{x})$ . The variation under diffeomorphisms is implemented as usual with

$$-\delta_{\xi}a_{ij} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi}a_{ij} = 2\nabla_{(i}\xi^k a_{j)k} + 2\xi^{\hat{t}}\gamma_{ij}.$$
(5.22)

Now

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} \upsilon = \mu \upsilon, \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\xi} \mu = -\mu \mu \tag{5.23}$$

with

$$\mu(t, \mathbf{x}) = -\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_i \xi^i\right).$$
(5.24)

Thus

$$-\delta_{\xi}\ln\Omega = \frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{L}_{\xi}\Omega = -\mu.$$
(5.25)

Using (5.22) and (5.25) in (5.20) with  $\xi^i = \xi^i(\mathbf{x})$ , we obtain (indices are here lowered with  $a_{ij}$ )

$$\delta_{\xi}S = \int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \Omega \left\{ -\xi^{\hat{t}} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t} + \theta \right) \Pi + \Pi^{ij} \gamma_{ij} \right] + \xi^{i} \left[ (\nabla_{j} + \varphi_{j}) \Pi^{j}{}_{i} + \Pi\varphi_{i} \right] \right\} + \int dt d^{d}x \left\{ \partial_{t} \left[ \sqrt{a} \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi \right] - \partial_{i} \left[ \sqrt{a} \Omega \xi^{j} \Pi^{i}{}_{j} \right] \right\}.$$
(5.26)

The boundary terms (last line of (5.26)) are ignored and  $\delta_{\xi}S = 0$  implies that the momenta defined earlier in (5.18), (5.19) are Aristotelian-covariant. It leads to two equations: the energy equation

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\Pi + \Pi^{ij}\gamma_{ij} = -\left(\nabla_i + 2\varphi_i\right)\Pi^i,\tag{5.27}$$
and the momentum equation

$$\left(\nabla_{j} + \varphi_{j}\right) \Pi^{j}{}_{i} + \Pi\varphi_{i} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t} + \theta\right) P_{i}.$$
(5.28)

In these equations the energy current  $\Pi^i$  and the momentum  $P^i$  are undetermined. They arise because  $\xi^t$  depends on time and  $\xi^i$  on space, exclusively. As a consequence,  $\sqrt{a}\Omega\xi^{\hat{t}}(\nabla_i + 2\varphi_i)\Pi^i = \partial_i\left(\sqrt{a}\Omega\xi^{\hat{t}}\Pi^i\right)$  and  $\sqrt{a}\Omega\xi^i\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)P_i = \partial_t\left(\sqrt{a}\xi^iP_i\right)$ , which are boundary terms and vanish inside the integral.

Aristotelian dynamics stands at the intersection of Galilean and Carrollian. This is expected from first principles and can be verified by comparing eqs. (5.27) and (5.28) with  $(3.42)^{77}$  and (3.41) in the Galilean at  $w^i = 0$ , as well as (4.35) and (4.36) in the Carrollian  $b_i = 0$  instances. However, contrary to these, Aristotelian dynamics cannot be reached as a limit of relativistic hydrodynamics. No kinematical parameter such as  $v_i$  or  $\beta^i$  can be foreseen and no decomposition of the momenta à la (3.84), (3.89), (3.90), (3.91) or (4.76), (4.77). Finally, hydrodynamic-frame invariance cannot be argued or disputed.

The presence of a matter/charge sector can be treated as in the previous families of dynamics. We assume the existence of a gauge field  $B = B(t, \mathbf{x})dt + B_i(t, \mathbf{x})dx^i$  associated with a local U(1) transformation as in (3.43), and the conjugate momenta

$$\varrho = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta B},\tag{5.29}$$

$$N^{i} = \frac{1}{\Omega\sqrt{a}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta B_{i}} \tag{5.30}$$

are the charge density and the charge current. The gauge variation

$$\delta_{\Lambda}S = \int dt d^{d}x \sqrt{a} \left( \varrho \delta_{\Lambda}B + \Omega N^{i} \delta_{\Lambda}B_{i} \right)$$
  
= 
$$\int dt d^{d}x \left\{ \sqrt{a} \Omega \Lambda \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \partial_{t}\varrho + \theta \varrho + (\nabla_{i} + \varphi_{i}) N^{i} \right) - \partial_{t} \left( \sqrt{a} \Lambda \varrho \right) - \partial_{i} \left( \sqrt{a} \Lambda \Omega N^{i} \right) \right\}$$
(5.31)

is assumed to vanish, and this leads to

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\varrho + \left(\nabla_i + \varphi_i\right)N^i = 0.$$
(5.32)

In integrated form, thanks to Stokes and Gauss theorems, this conservation reads ( $\mathcal{V} \subset S$ , a constant-time section, and  $\partial \mathcal{V}$  does not depend on time):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{a} \,\varrho = -\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathrm{d}^d x \,\partial_i \left(\sqrt{a} \,\Omega N^i\right) = -\int_{\partial \mathcal{V}} \Omega \star \mathbf{N} \tag{5.33}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup>Notice that a term of the type  $2\varphi_i \Pi^i$  would also have been present in this Galilean energy equation if we had considered a torsionfull Newton-Cartan spacetime, with  $\Omega = \Omega(t, \mathbf{x})$ , as we assume in the present Aristotelian case.

with the conserved charge defined as an integral over the entire space S:

$$Q_N = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{a} \,\varrho. \tag{5.34}$$

As for the Galilean or the Carrollian situations discussed in sections 3.1 and 4.1, one can chose any space-like hypersurface  $\Sigma_d$  for the determination of the charge:

$$Q_N = \int_{\Sigma_d} \sqrt{a} \, \varrho \, \mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^d + \int_{\Sigma_d} \sqrt{a} \sum_{i=1}^d \mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge N^i \mu \wedge \ldots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^d, \tag{5.35}$$

with the clock form  $\mu$  given in (5.7), and  $N^i \mu$  at the *i*th position in the last exterior product.

#### Weyl invariance

Weyl invariance can also be present in Aristotelian dynamics. The reasoning is familiar, starting from  $\delta_{\mathcal{B}}S = 0$ , we are lead to the condition

$$\Pi_i^{\ i} = \Pi. \tag{5.36}$$

The geometric tools for handling Weyl covariance are similar to those introduced in the previous sections. The connections are  $\theta$  and  $\varphi_i$  (see eqs. (5.13) and (5.14)) with

$$\theta \to \mathfrak{B}\theta - \frac{d}{\Omega}\partial_t \mathfrak{B}, \qquad \varphi_i \to \varphi_i - \partial_i \ln \mathfrak{B}.$$
 (5.37)

The action of the Aristotelian Weyl-covariant time derivative on any tensor increases its weight by one unit. On a weight-w function  $\Phi$  it is

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{D}_t\Phi = \frac{1}{\Omega}D_t\Phi + \frac{w}{d}\theta\Phi = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t\Phi + \frac{w}{d}\theta\Phi, \qquad (5.38)$$

while on a weight-w vector, we find using (5.15)

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{D}_t V^l = \frac{1}{\Omega}D_t V^l + \frac{w-1}{d}\theta V^l = \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t V^l + \frac{w}{d}\theta V^l + \xi^l_i V^i.$$
(5.39)

Similarly for any tensor by Leibniz rule and in particular we find  $\mathcal{D}_t a_{kl} = 0$ .

A spatial Aristotelian-Weyl-covariant derivative can also be introduced, and does not alter the conformal weight. For a weight-w scalar function  $\Phi$  it acts as

$$\mathcal{D}_j \Phi = \partial_j \Phi + w \varphi_j \Phi; \tag{5.40}$$

for a vector we find

$$\mathcal{D}_j V^l = \nabla_j V^l + (w-1)\varphi_j V^l + \varphi^l V_j - \delta^l_j V^i \varphi_i.$$
(5.41)

The action on any other tensor is obtained using the Leibniz rule, and in particular  $D_j a_{kl} = 0.$ 

Time and space Aristotelian-Weyl covariant derivatives do not commute and curvature tensors follow, which resemble those already quoted for the Carrollian or Galilean cases. We will not elaborate on this subject here, in particular because all these connections can be generalized and studied in a more abstract geometric framework, as for example in [39, 40].

With the above tools, Aristotelian equations (5.27) and (5.28) read, under the assumption of conformal dynamics (5.36):

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{D}_t\Pi + \mathcal{D}_i\Pi^i + \Pi^{ij}\xi_{ij} = 0, \qquad (5.42)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{i}\Pi^{i}{}_{j} + \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{D}_{t}\delta^{i}{}_{j} + \xi^{i}{}_{j}\right)P_{i} = 0.$$
(5.43)

These equations are Weyl-covariant of weights d + 2 and d + 1 ( $\Pi$  and  $\Pi_{j}^{i}$  have weight d + 1, whereas  $\Pi_{i}$  and  $P_{i}$  are weight-d). Similarly, for the matter sector, (5.32) reads:

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\mathcal{D}_t \varrho + \mathcal{D}_j N^j = 0, \qquad (5.44)$$

and is Weyl-covariant of weight d + 1.

## Isometries, conformal isometries and conservation laws

Isometries of Aristotelian spacetimes are generated by vectors fields (5.21) required to satisfy

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} a_{ij} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\xi} \mu = 0. \tag{5.45}$$

The latter lead to a set of Killing equations for  $\xi^{\hat{t}}(t)$  and  $\xi^{i}(\mathbf{x})$ :

$$\nabla_{(i}\xi^{k}a_{j)k} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\gamma_{ij} = 0, \qquad \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_{i}\xi^{i} = 0.$$
(5.46)

For conformal isometries, the generators must satisfy

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi} a_{ij} = \lambda a_{ij} \tag{5.47}$$

where  $\lambda$  is obtained by tracing the latter:

$$\lambda(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{2}{d} \left( \nabla_i \xi^i + \theta \xi^{\hat{t}} \right).$$
(5.48)

As for the previous Galilean and Carrollian cases, the requirement (5.47) must be supplemented with the usual extra condition (3.66)  $2\mu + \lambda = 0$ , in order to reach a well-defined set of conformal generators —  $\mu(t, \mathbf{x})$  is displayed in (5.24).

In the presence of isometries or conformal isometries, we can define an Aristotelian current  $\kappa$  and  $K^i$  (as  $\rho$  and  $N^i$  in (5.29), (5.30)), following the previous definitions in Newton-Cartan ((3.58) and (3.59)) or Carrollian spacetimes ((4.51) and (4.52)) — see also the boundary terms in  $\delta_{\xi}S$  (5.26) evaluated on-shell:

$$\kappa = \xi^{i} P_{i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi, \qquad K^{i} = \xi^{j} \Pi_{j}^{\ i} - \xi^{\hat{t}} \Pi^{i}.$$
(5.49)

Going on-shell and using the Killing equations, or the conformal Killing equations when the system is Weyl-invariant i.e. when (5.36) is satisfied, we find:

$$\mathscr{K} = \left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t + \theta\right)\kappa + (\nabla_i + \varphi_i)K^i = 0.$$
(5.50)

Consequently, on Aristotelian structures, a (conformal) Killing field always supports an on-shell conservation law for (Weyl-invariant) Aristotelian dynamics.

#### 6 Conclusions

Hydrodynamic equations for Galilean and Carrollian fluids on arbitrary backgrounds were displayed in ref. [29]. The present work augments these achievements and points towards an extensive set of features: (i) the fluid momenta conjugate to the geometric variables that define the spacetime and their role in the dynamics; (ii) the inclusion of a matter conserved current and its potential interplay with the energy and momentum through thermodynamics; (iii) the hydrodynamic-frame invariance; (iv) the consequence of isometries in terms of conservation. For this purpose, two distinct and complementary approaches have been pursued.

The first relies on local symmetries, primarily diffeomorphism invariance, but also local Weyl and U(1) gauge invariance. The energy and momenta are defined through geometry and are conserved as a consequence of diffeomorphism invariance. They are different for the relativistic, Galilean or Carrollian theories, and it should be stressed that only the relativistic theory has an energy-momentum tensor  $T_{\mu\nu}$  with zero general-covariant divergence. In Galilean dynamics there is an energy-stress tensor  $\Pi_{ij}$ , a momentum  $P_i$  and an energy density  $\Pi$ , obeying a set of conservation equations, necessarily involving an extra variable, the energy flux  $\Pi_i$ , which is not conjugate to any available geometric piece of data. Similarly, Carrollian dynamics goes through with an energy-stress tensor  $\Pi^{ij}$ , an energy flux  $\Pi^i$  and an energy density  $\Pi$ , whereas the momentum  $P^i$  comes now aside.

The second approach consists in working within an appropriate coordinate system of the relativistic theory, and reach the Galilean or Carrollian dynamics in the infinite or zero speed-of-light limit. This method does not allow to retrieve Aristotelian dynamics, which is neither a large-c nor a small-c limit, but offers the possibility to capture more degrees of freedom by keeping overleading terms in the Laurent expansions. It is also better suited for unravelling the subtleties in the contraction of the relativistic group of invariance, as the persistence in the limit of a supplementary equation, absent in the direct approach. This is for instance the continuity equation in the Galilean framework or a similar conservation equation in the Carrollian, which betray that the relativistic diffeomorphism group valid before the limit is bigger than the actual Galilean or Carrollian groups. Finally, only when considering a limit from a relativistic system, can we express the various momenta in terms of the relevant kinematical and thermodynamic variables. This is how the velocity appears in the Galilean limit, whereas the inverse velocity arises as the relevant observable for Carrollian fluids — particularly important for the latter, where the we have no handle or hint from thermodynamics. The kinematical observables play a pivotal role in the further analysis of hydrodynamic-frame invariance.

The energy-momentum variables entering the dynamical equations are variations of some effective action with respect to geometric data. These *are not* any sort of Nœtherian currents, which have no reason to exist since no isometry is assumed. Furthermore, even when isometries are present, Nœtherian conservations appear only in relativistic dynamics. In Galilean and Carrollian systems, conserved currents cannot be designed on the basis of an isometry, unless the latter obeys an extra condition. This unexpected result should be viewed as one of our main accomplishments. It jeopardizes Nœtherian descriptions

of Galilean or Carrollian hydrodynamics on isometric backgrounds, and calls for extra attention when studying charges in the framework of flat holography.

Focusing specifically on Galilean hydrodynamics, a few words should be devoted to the extra conserved matter current introduced in the relativistic theory. As shown in [29], this current is not necessary for recovering the continuity equation in the Galilean limit. Additionally, its associated matter density defines the rest contribution to the energy density, and their relationship is dictated by thermodynamics. This is how the chemical potential, absent in [29] enters the dynamics. Most importantly, in the limiting process, this current contributes to the Galilean heat current, as much as the relativistic heat current does, confirming that both Eckart and Landau-Lifshitz hydrodynamic-frame choices are viable. This brings us to a central theme of the present work: the hydrodynamic-frame invariance in the Galilean limit.

The fluid velocity in the relativistic system is merely a book-keeping device. The effect of modifying it by local Lorentz transformations propagates on the various observables (heat current, stress tensor, thermodynamic variables) so as to keep the energy-momentum tensor, the matter current and the entropy current invariant. When considering a limit on the speed of light, the expansion of the observables matters on the possible preservation of the hydrodynamic-frame invariance. Using the standard behaviour dictated by the physical transport coefficients, this invariance does not survive in the Navier-Stokes equations. This is not a surprise because the velocity and the matter density of a Galilean fluid are measurable observables, protected by a symmetry supported by the conservation of mass — itself a consequence of a central extension of the Galilean group emerging in a Poincaré-group contraction. Adopting an alternative behaviour, with overleading terms in the heat current saves the hydrodynamic-frame invariance at the expense of altering the continuity equation. The resulting dynamics is reminiscent of diffusion processes or superfluids, where indeed all species are not simultaneously conserved.

Fluids based on massless energy carriers are revealed as an exception to this Galilean scheme. For these fluids, with or without a charge conservation, the behaviour of the heat current, possibly but not necessarily with exotic terms, is compatible with Galilean hydrodynamic-frame invariance. It should be emphasized that this holds irrespective of Weyl invariance, which is not even a priori assumed. The deep reason of this feature is rather the absence of a rest term in the energy density, behaving like  $c^2$  — and thereupon, the inexistence of mass conservation, usually in conflict with hydrodynamic-frame invariance.

Although to some extent dual to Galilean, Carrollian fluids exhibit different features. As opposed to the Galilean case, we have no inkling on what thermodynamics for these systems is, due to the absence of motion and thus of kinetic theory. For the same reasons, the energy density cannot be decomposed into rest plus kinetic contributions. Therefore, if a conserved charge exists, it decouples from the hydrodynamic equations. More importantly, no transport theory is available that would serve as a guide for the behaviour of the physical observables (heat current and the stress tensor) when the speed of light gets extinct. Instead, Carrollian fluids have been recognized as holographic duals of asymptotically flat spacetimes — their unique successful application so far — and this gives a handle on the terms to keep in the small-c expansion. With those, hydrodynamic-frame invariance is maintained in the Carrollian limit, reflecting holographically residual bulk diffeomorphisms.

Aristotelian dynamics was the last subject treated in this context. As we stressed earlier, only the geometric method is applicable, based on Aristotelian diffeomorphisms. The set of equations reached in this way appears as the intersection of Galilean (with torsion though) and Carrollian dynamics. The reduction of the light cone onto points, the degenerate nature of motion and the impossibility to bridge this theory with the relativistic theory through a limit.<sup>78</sup> leaves little room for a more in-depth discussion in terms of fluids.

All this summarizes our achievements, their relationships and the general context. This activity, mostly based on classical physics and differential geometry, is part of a palette of timely developments. The subject of hydrodynamic-frame invariance has been treated here in a kinematic fashion, ignoring the entropy current and the constitutive relations. This latter facet has come back in the forefront [11-19] (see also [63, 64]), and further investigation of these physical features is certainly desirable in light of our more formal results. In particular, certain aspects of the photon fluid deserve some attention, even at an anecdotic level [93] with the notorious Planck-Ott paradox: *does a moving body appear cool?* According to Israël about this paradox [5] "*it is not yet quite dead*," and one indeed finds articles where it is still debated [94]. On a less frivolous tone, relativistic and Galilean hydrodynamics can be studied using Boltzmann equation, and this should also apply to Carrollian fluids. More ambitiously, one may even try to root Boltzmann equation inside field theory, which in turn would require mastering Galilean or Carrollian fields on general curved spacetimes. At the classical level, some results are available [63–65, 79, 95–98, 100–103], but the quantum theory remains elusive — see e.g. [104].

Besides the caveats plaguing hydrodynamic-frame invariance in relation with causality or stability and rooted in the constitutive relations, this local gauge symmetry does also disclose global issues. Local velocity transformations may leave the system with global distinctnesses. To handle them, one should be able to design charges associated with the energy and momenta, the matter current or the entropy current, possibly sensitive to global properties. For relativistic or Carrollian fluids, those charges can be handled holographically via a gravity dual, asymptotically anti-de Sitter or flat. They actually obey algebras, which depend on the chosen hydrodynamic frame [25–27]. Extensions and refinements to this analysis would be expedient.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank our colleagues G. Barnich, X. Bekaert, G. Bossard, A. Campoleoni, L. Ciambelli, L. Donnay, A. Fiorucci, L. Freidel, P. Gauduchon, M. Geiller, J. Gomis, E. Gourgoulhon, D. Grumiller, M. Henneaux, Y. Herfray, P. Horvathy, A. Kleinschmidt, C. Kopper, P. Kovtun, C. Lorcé, C. Markou, C. Marteau, G. Montambaux, N. Obers, B. Oblak, G. Oling, J. Rossell, R. Ruzziconi, S. Vandoren, M. Vilatte and C. Zwikel for rich scientific discussions. We are also grateful to the *IP2I de l'Université de Lyon*, the *Université libre de Bruxelles* and the *Université de Mons*, where presentations were made by us on these topics, triggering fecund exchanges. Tasos Petkou and Marios Petropoulos have also often visited the *Ecole* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup>Notice that Aristotelian spacetimes are related to the infinite-mass limit introduced by Henri Bacry and Jean-Marc Lévy-Leblond in [84], as a mean to reach the static group by contraction of the Galilean group.

Polytechnique and the Aristotelian University of Thessaloniki, where parts of the present work were carried on. Finally, many thanks to the TU Wien and to the organizers of the Carroll Workshop held in Vienna in February 2022, where our results were previewed and refined, taking advantage of the inimitable emulation created during this event. The work of A. C. Petkou was supported by the Hellenic Foundation for Research and Innovation (H.F.R.I.) under the First Call for H.F.R.I. Research Projects to support Faculty members and Researchers and the procurement of high-cost research equipment grant (MIS 1524, Project Number: 96048). The work of D. Rivera-Betancour was funded by Becas Chile (ANID) Scholarship No. 72200301.

# A A primer on thermodynamics

### **Relativistic thermodynamics**

We remind here the usual observables of global-equilibrium thermodynamics. These are supposed to make sense also in local-equilibrium thermodynamics, as for fluids where the absence of short wave-length modes is assumed. In this case they depend on time and space and refer to measurements performed by an observer comoving with respect to the fluid. Matter conservation is generically (but not necessarily) akin to the existence of massive carriers in conserved number.

- The temperature T.
- The mass density  $\rho_0$  per unit proper volume.
- The entropy per unit proper volume  $\sigma$ , and the entropy per unit mass s (specific entropy):

$$\sigma = s\varrho_0. \tag{A.1}$$

• The relativistic internal energy density per unit proper volume  $\varepsilon$ , which contains the rest mass, and the specific energy per unit mass e:

$$\varepsilon = \left(e + c^2\right)\varrho_0. \tag{A.2}$$

• The pressure p and the relativistic enthalpy w per unit proper volume:

$$w = \varepsilon + p. \tag{A.3}$$

• The relativistic chemical potential per unit mass (specific chemical potential)  $\mu_0$ . This contains the rest-mass contribution, as opposed to  $\mu$ :

$$\mu_0 = \mu + c^2. \tag{A.4}$$

These quantities obey the grand-potential equation, sometimes referred to as the Gibbs-Duhem equation:

$$w = T\sigma + \mu_0 \varrho_0 \Leftrightarrow p = Ts\varrho_0 + \mu\varrho_0 - e\varrho_0. \tag{A.5}$$

The energy density is a functional of two thermodynamic variables:  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon (\sigma, \rho_0)$ . The first law of thermodynamics reads:

$$d\varepsilon = Td\sigma + \mu_0 d\varrho_0 \Leftrightarrow de = Tds - pd\left(\frac{1}{\varrho_0}\right).$$
(A.6)

The Gibbs-Duhem equation allows to exhibit the dependence of the enthalpy per unit proper volume  $w = w(\sigma, p, \rho_0)$ 

$$\mathrm{d}w = T\mathrm{d}\sigma + \mathrm{d}p + \mu_0\mathrm{d}\varrho_0,\tag{A.7}$$

whereas a double Legendre transformation on  $\varepsilon$  infers the dependence of the grand potential  $p = p(T, \mu_0)$ 

$$dp = \sigma dT + \varrho_0 d\mu_0 = s \varrho_0 dT + \varrho_0 d\mu.$$
(A.8)

We would like to mention the situations where no massive degrees of freedom are present in the microscopic theory.<sup>79</sup> A gas of photons is the prime example but other instances exist in condensed matter, in particular when fermions are involved, as in graphene (see e.g. [89]). In the latter case, as opposed to the gas of photons, there is a conserved quantity. So  $\rho_0$  is non-vanishing, but it *is not* a mass density;  $\varepsilon = e\rho_0$  and  $\mu_0 = \mu$ , without rest-mass contribution. These systems can be conformally invariant, and in that case the dependence  $p = p(T, \mu)$  is

$$p = T^D f\left(\frac{\mu}{T}\right) \tag{A.9}$$

in D = d + 1 spacetime dimensions.<sup>80</sup>

Coming back to a system with massless carriers and no conserved charge, as for the gas of photons, the above thermodynamic relationships simplify by setting  $\mu = 0$  and dropping the rest-mass terms. Specific quantities are no longer significant in this instance. Fluid dynamics of such systems does not involve any conserved current.<sup>81</sup> The basic laws are summarized as follows:

$$w = \Im \sigma$$
  

$$dw = T d\sigma + dp$$
  

$$d\varepsilon = T d\sigma$$
  

$$dp = \sigma dT,$$
  
(A.10)

and when the system is furthermore conformal,  $p \propto T^D$ .

Several conserved charges might exist simultaneously in a thermodynamic system. They would each be associated with a density and a chemical potential. Only one, if any, would however enter the energy density (A.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>This happens effectively in the usual ultra-relativistic limit, meant to be relevant microscopically at high temperature or high pressure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>The precise bearing between conformal invariance, absence of mass and existence of conserved currents is subtle and tight to the microscopic theory.

 $<sup>^{81}</sup>$ This instance was discussed in the precise framework of relativistic fluid dynamics in [86] section 134, footnote 1 and exercise 2. The general thermodynamic aspects are presented in greater detail in [105] section 60.

## Non-relativistic limit

The thermodynamic variables introduced earlier in the relativistic theory such as  $\rho_0$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\mu$  etc. are referring to a comoving observer. Measurements performed by another observer, be this an inertial observer in special relativity or some fiducial observer in a general gravitational background, are more relevant for the Galilean framework, but are not equal and should be spelled stricto sensu with some distinctive index. Their differences, however, are of order  $1/c^2$  and vanish in the infinite-*c* limit. In order to avoid inflation in notation, we will keep the same symbols, *e*, *T*, *p*, *s*,  $\mu$ , with the exception of  $\rho_0$ , which becomes  $\rho$  for the fiducial observer. The  $1/c^2$  corrections amongst  $\rho_0$  and  $\rho$  (see (3.74)) play no role in thermodynamics, but are indispensable in recovering Navier-Stokes equations as the Galilean limit of the relativistic hydrodynamic equations.

In non-relativistic thermodynamics, it is customary to introduce the specific volume (not to be confused with the velocity)

$$v = \frac{1}{\varrho},\tag{A.11}$$

as well as specific enthalpy h = h(s, p) as<sup>82</sup>

$$h = e + pv, \tag{A.12}$$

which also enters in

$$\mu = h - Ts. \tag{A.13}$$

Using these definitions and the various relativistic laws mentioned above, we find the standard expressions:

$$\mathrm{d}h = T\mathrm{d}s + v\mathrm{d}p,\tag{A.14}$$

$$d(e\varrho) = \varrho T ds + h d\varrho, \tag{A.15}$$

$$de = Tds - pdv, \tag{A.16}$$

$$d\mu = -sdT + vdp. \tag{A.17}$$

Before closing this section, let us quote that Galilean thermodynamics can accommodate fluids with massless energy carriers, as long as the macroscopic velocity is small compared to c — although at the microscopic level the dynamics is ultra-relativistic. Again, a conserved current may or may not exist. In case such a current is available,  $\rho$  is the charge density with<sup>83</sup>  $\varepsilon = e\rho$  the internal energy density and  $\mu$  the chemical potential. The basic relationships are now

$$w = p + \varepsilon = T\sigma + \mu\varrho \Leftrightarrow p = Ts\varrho + \mu\varrho - e\varrho, \tag{A.18}$$

and

$$dw = Td\sigma + dp + \mu d\varrho$$
  

$$d\varepsilon = Td\sigma + \mu d\varrho$$
  

$$dp = \sigma dT + \varrho d\mu.$$
  
(A.19)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>This is spelled  $w_{\rm nr}$  in footnote 1, section 134 of [86].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup>Notice the distinction:  $\varepsilon = \lim_{c \to \infty} \varepsilon = e\varrho$ ,  $\sigma = \lim_{c \to \infty} \sigma = s\varrho$ . In order to avoid multiplication of symbols, we keep  $w = h\varrho$ , p and  $\mu$  both for the relativistic quantities and for their Galilean limits.

Equations (A.11), (A.12), (A.13), (A.14), (A.15), (A.16), (A.17) remain also valid, together with (A.9) in case of conformal invariance.

If no conserved charge is present, the chemical potential vanishes (as does  $d\mu$ ) and the relevant equations are expressed with w,  $\varepsilon$  and  $\sigma$  rather that  $h\varrho$ ,  $e\varrho$  or  $s\varrho$ .

#### Carrollian thermodynamics

Carrollian thermodynamics is poorly understood. In most parts of this work dealing with the fluid equations, we have kept the energy density  $\varepsilon$  and the pressure p unaltered in the limit of vanishing velocity of light. Neither have we introduced any temperature, nor discussed an entropy equation, and when a conserved current was assumed (as eluded in [85]), no relationship was established or set among energy and conserved-charge densities. This is minimalistic by default. Indeed, the shrinking of the light cone and the absence of particle motion or signal propagation, raise fundamental questions regarding the origin and even the definition — of energy, pressure, entropy, temperature and thermalization processes. Even the kinematic parameter of the fluid is an inverse velocity, which could point towards the dynamics of instantonic space-filling branes, as mentioned in [29]. Obviously, this sort of objects are tachyonic — like those introduced later in [77] — and we feel uneasy advocating any sort of kinetic theory for setting up thermodynamic laws and deviations from equilibrium.

# **B** Carrollian momenta and hydrodynamic-frame invariance

In section 4.3 we obtained the Carrollian fluid equations under  $c^2$ -scaling assumptions involving more degrees of freedom than the standard ones treated in section 4.2: (4.109), (4.110), (4.111) and (4.112) for the relativistic energy  $\varepsilon$ , pressure p, heat current  $q^i$  and stress tensor  $\tau^{ij}$ , and similarly for the matter sector with the matter density  $\rho_0$  and the non-perfect current  $j^i$  in (4.113). These equations involve the Carrollian momenta  $\Pi$ ,  $\Pi$ ,  $\Pi^i$ ,  $\Pi^i$ ,  $P^i$ ,  $\Pi^{ij}$ ,  $\Pi^{ij}$ ,  $\tilde{\rho}$ ,  $\rho$ ,  $\tilde{N}^i$ ,  $N^i$ , which have the following expressions in terms of the observables entering the already quoted c-expansions:

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\Pi}^{i} = \psi^{i} \\ \Pi^{i} = Q^{i} - \beta_{j} \left( \Sigma^{ij} - \phi a^{ij} \right) + \beta^{i} \left( \zeta + \beta_{j} \psi^{j} \right) + \frac{\beta^{2}}{2} \psi^{i} \\ P^{i} = \pi^{i} - \beta_{j} \left( \Xi^{ij} - \varpi a^{ij} \right) + \beta^{i} \left( \eta + \beta_{j} Q^{j} \right) + \frac{\beta^{2}}{2} \left( Q^{i} + \frac{3\beta^{2}}{4} \psi^{i} \right) + \beta^{i} \beta^{2} \left( \zeta + \phi + \frac{1}{2} \beta_{j} \psi^{j} \right) \\ \tilde{\Pi} = \zeta + 2\beta_{i} \psi^{i} \\ \Pi = \eta + 2\beta_{i} Q^{i} - \beta_{i} \beta_{j} \left( \Sigma^{ij} - \phi a^{ij} \right) + \beta^{2} \left( \zeta + \beta_{i} \psi^{i} \right) \\ \tilde{\Pi}^{ij} = \psi^{i} \beta^{j} + \beta^{i} \psi^{j} + \phi a^{ij} - \Sigma^{ij} \\ \Pi^{ij} = Q^{i} \beta^{j} + \beta^{i} Q^{j} + \varpi a^{ij} - \Xi^{ij} + \beta^{i} \beta^{j} \left( \zeta + \phi \right) + \frac{\beta^{2}}{2} \left( \psi^{i} \beta^{j} + \beta^{i} \psi^{j} \right), \end{cases}$$
(B.1)

and

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{N}^{j} = m^{j} \\ N^{j} = n^{j} + \beta^{j} \omega \\ \tilde{\varrho} = \omega + \beta_{k} m^{k} \\ \varrho = \chi + \beta_{k} n^{k} + \frac{\beta^{2}}{2} \omega. \end{cases}$$
(B.2)

The aim of the present appendix is to show that these are hydrodynamic-frame-invariant.

Although hydrodynamic-frame invariance is built-in for the relativistic momenta (2.100), (2.101), (2.102), (2.103) and (2.104), it is not guaranteed to persist in the vanishing-c limit because it can be incompatible with the presumed small-c behaviour of the physical observables. This happens in the Galilean (infinite-c) limit, as we have witnessed in section 3.2 for the ordinary i.e. with  $n^i = 0$  non-relativistic fluids, because  $\delta n^i \propto \delta v^i$  (see eq. (3.113)). Here it turns out to hold and in order to prove that we use the relativistic transformation rules (2.92), (2.93), (2.94), (2.95) and (2.96) in the Papapetrou-Randers frame (2.79). Using (4.109), (4.110), (4.111), (4.112) and (4.113), and expanding we find

$$\begin{cases} \delta m^{j} = 0\\ \delta n^{j} = -\delta \beta^{j} \omega + \delta \beta_{k} m^{k} \beta^{j}\\ \delta \omega = -\delta \beta_{k} m^{k}\\ \delta \chi = -\delta \beta_{k} \left( n^{k} + \frac{\beta^{2}}{2} m^{k} \right), \end{cases}$$
(B.3)

and

$$\begin{cases} \delta\psi^{i} = 0\\ \delta Q^{i} = \delta\beta_{j} \left(\Sigma^{ij} - \phi a^{ij}\right) - \delta\beta^{i}\zeta + \delta\beta_{j}\psi^{j}\beta^{i}\\ \delta\pi^{i} = \delta\beta_{j} \left(\Xi^{ij} - (\eta + \varpi)a^{ij}\right) + \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}}{2}\delta\beta_{j} \left(\Sigma^{ij} - (\zeta + \phi)a^{ij}\right) + \delta\beta_{j}\beta^{i} \left(\beta^{j}(\zeta + \phi) + Q^{j}\right)\\ + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}\beta^{i}\delta\beta^{j}\psi^{j}\\ \delta\zeta = -2\delta\beta_{i}\psi^{i}\\ \delta\eta = -2\delta\beta_{i} \left(Q^{i} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}}{2}\psi^{i}\right)\\ \delta\Sigma^{ij} - \delta\phi a^{ij} = \psi^{i}\delta\beta^{j} + \psi^{j}\delta\beta^{i}\\ \delta\Xi^{ij} - \delta\varpi a^{ij} = Q^{i}\delta\beta^{j} + Q^{j}\delta\beta^{i} + \delta\beta_{k} \left(\Sigma^{ki}\beta^{j} + \Sigma^{kj}\beta^{i}\right) + \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}}{2} \left(\psi^{i}\delta\beta^{j} + \psi^{j}\delta\beta^{i}\right)\\ + \delta\beta_{k}\beta^{k} \left(\psi^{i}\beta^{j} + \psi^{j}\beta^{i}\right) + \beta^{i}\beta^{j}\delta\phi. \end{cases}$$
(B.4)

It is straightforward to show that the variations of all momenta (B.1) and (B.2) vanish.

## C Free motion

Our results on the failure of conservation laws associated with some Galilean or Carrollian (conformal) Killing vector fields are generic and rooted to the nature of the underlying

geometries. The same phenomenon occurs when studying free-particle motion in Newton-Cartan spacetimes, or instantonic branes on Carrollian structures (see [29] for motivations on the latter paradigm). For concreteness we will illustrate here the former case.

The stage is set with an action

$$S[\mathbf{x}] = \int_{\mathcal{C}} \mathrm{d}t \,\Omega(t) \,\mathcal{L}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}),\tag{C.1}$$

where  $L = \Omega \mathscr{L}$  is the Lagrangian — as opposed to the Lagrangian density. The generalized Lagrange momenta are

$$p_i = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \frac{v^i}{\Omega}} \tag{C.2}$$

and the energy  $E = \Omega \mathcal{E}$  with

$$\mathscr{C} = \frac{p_i v^i}{\Omega} - \mathscr{L}. \tag{C.3}$$

The equations of motion are Euler-Langrange

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\dot{p}_i - \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial x^i} = 0. \tag{C.4}$$

The dot stands for the total derivative along the trajectory, which can act also as  $\partial_t + v^i \partial_i$ on *any* tensor, and should not be confused with d/dt defined in (3.24) unless they act on scalars (cf. ordinary vs. covariant spatial derivative).

Consider Galilean diffeomorphisms generated by

$$\xi = \xi^t \partial_t + \xi^i \partial_i, \tag{C.5}$$

where  $\xi^t = \xi^t(t)$  and

$$\xi^{\hat{t}} = \xi^t \Omega, \qquad \xi^{\hat{i}} = \xi^i - \xi^t w^i, \qquad \xi_{\hat{t}} = -c^2 \xi^{\hat{t}}, \qquad \xi_{\hat{i}} = a_{ij} \xi^{\hat{j}} = \xi_i.$$
 (C.6)

Their effect on the dynamical variables is

$$\begin{cases} t \to t + \xi^t \\ x^i \to x^i + \xi^i \\ v^i \to v^i + \partial_t \xi^i + v^j \partial_j \xi^i - v^i \partial_t \xi^t. \end{cases}$$
(C.7)

On the one hand, the invariance of the action is characterized as follows:

$$\delta S = 0 \Leftrightarrow \Omega \delta \mathscr{L} + \mathscr{L} \partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}t}, \tag{C.8}$$

where  $\phi = \phi(t, \mathbf{x})$  is an arbitrary function, that needs not be zero. On the other hand, one can determine the on-shell variation of the Lagrangian density:

$$\delta \mathscr{L} = -\frac{\mathscr{L}}{\Omega} \partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( p_i \xi^i - \mathscr{E} \xi^{\hat{t}} \right).$$
(C.9)

The simplest of Nœther's theorems states that

$$\delta S = 0 \Leftrightarrow p_i \xi^i - \mathscr{E} \xi^{\hat{t}} - \phi = \text{constant of motion.}$$
(C.10)

Suppose now that the motion is free on a Newton-Cartan spacetime featured by  $a^{ij}$ ,  $w^i$ and  $\Omega$ . The Lagrangian density is

$$\mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{2\Omega^2} a_{ij} \left( v^i - w^i \right) \left( v^j - w^j \right) \tag{C.11}$$

with

$$p_i = \frac{1}{\Omega} (v_i - w_i). \tag{C.12}$$

Euler-Lagrange equations read:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + p^{j}\hat{\nabla}_{j}\right)p_{i} + p_{j}\hat{\gamma}^{wj}{}_{i} = 0.$$
(C.13)

As an aside remark, the latter equation is the infinite-c limit of the spatial component of the geodesic equation  $u^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}u_i = 0$ , in a Zermelo background. The time component  $u^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}u^0 = 0$  leads to

$$\frac{1}{2\Omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}p_i p^i}{\mathrm{d}t} + p_i p_j \hat{\gamma}^{wij} = 0, \qquad (C.14)$$

which is the energy equation, obtained by contracting (C.13) with  $p^i$ .

We can now compute the generic variation of (C.11) under Galilean diffeomorphisms acting as (C.7). We obtain the following:

$$\delta \mathscr{L} = p_i p_j \left( \hat{\nabla}^{(i} \xi^{\hat{j})} + \xi^{\hat{t}} \hat{\gamma}^{wij} \right) - p_i p^i \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D} \xi^{\hat{t}}}{dt} + p_i \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D} \xi^{\hat{t}}}{dt} - \hat{\gamma}^{wi}{}_j \xi^{\hat{j}} \right).$$
(C.15)

If  $\xi$  is a Killing field it satisfies (3.53), the first two terms drop and

$$\delta \mathscr{L} = p_i \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{\mathrm{D}} \xi^{\hat{\imath}}}{\mathrm{d}t} - \hat{\gamma}^{w_i}{}_j \xi^{\hat{\jmath}} \right) \tag{C.16}$$

does not vanish, exactly as in the Galilean fluid dynamics in the presence of an isometry. This betrays the break down of conservation, unless the right-hand side of eq. (C.16) happens to be of the form (C.9), in which case Noether's theorem applies in its version (C.10).

As already emphasized repeatedly, this pattern works the same way in all situations we have met, involving Galilean or Carrollian dynamics. In flat spacetimes (either Galilean or Carrollian) boosts belong invariably to the class of isometries with non-vanishing Lagrangian variation (see (3.56) and (4.49)). There is not much we could extract from this in fluid dynamics (except for the case of flat-space potential flows, see footnotes 37 and 65), but for Galilean free-particle motion on flat spacetime ( $a_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$ ,  $\Omega = 1$ ,  $w^i$  constants) the situation is simpler. We find indeed:

$$\delta \mathscr{L} = \left(\dot{x}^{i} - w^{i}\right) \left(V_{i} + w^{k} \Omega_{ki}\right) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(x^{i} V_{i} - w^{i} V_{i} t + w^{k} x^{i} \Omega_{ki}\right).$$
(C.17)

In this particular case, (C.10) applies and gives the general constant of motion as (see also (3.55))

$$V_i\left(\dot{x}^i t - x^i\right) - \frac{T}{2}\left(\dot{\mathbf{x}}^2 - \mathbf{w}^2\right) + X_i\left(\dot{x}^i - w^i\right) + \Omega_{ij}x^i \dot{x}^j.$$
(C.18)

The boosts  $V^i$  do not generate any useful first integral (the initial position  $x_0^i$ ), as opposed to time translation T, space translations  $X^i$  and rotations  $\Omega_{ij}$ , which lead to energy, momentum and angular momentum conservations.

## D From conservation to potential non-conservation

## D.1 Galilean law from infinite speed of light

Our starting point is a pseudo-Riemannian spacetime in Zermelo frame (2.46)

$$ds^{2} = -\Omega^{2}c^{2}dt^{2} + a_{ij}\left(dx^{i} - w^{i}dt\right)\left(dx^{j} - w^{j}dt\right)$$
(D.1)

with an energy-momentum tensor  $T^{\mu\nu}$  obeying  $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$ , and a vector field

$$\xi = \xi^t \partial_t + \xi^i \partial_i = \xi^t \mathbf{e}_{\hat{t}} + \xi^{\hat{i}} \mathbf{e}_{\hat{i}}, \tag{D.2}$$

where the frame and coframe are defined as in (2.72), and

$$\xi^{\hat{t}} = \xi^t \Omega, \qquad \xi^{\hat{i}} = \xi^i - \xi^t w^i, \qquad \xi_{\hat{t}} = -c^2 \xi^{\hat{t}}, \qquad \xi_{\hat{i}} = a_{ij} \xi^{\hat{j}} = \xi_i.$$
 (D.3)

We define a current as in (2.13),  $I_{\mu} = T_{\mu\nu}\xi^{\nu}$ , and compute its on-shell divergence, using eqs. (2.63):

$$\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}T_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{\mathrm{r}}}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathrm{D}}\xi^{\hat{t}}}{\mathrm{d}t} + (p_{\mathrm{r}}a_{ij} + \tau_{\mathrm{r}ij})\left(\hat{\nabla}^{i}\xi^{\hat{j}} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}^{wij}\right) + \frac{1}{c^{2}}q_{\mathrm{r}i}\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathrm{D}}\xi^{\hat{i}}}{\mathrm{d}t} - \hat{\gamma}^{wi}{}_{j}\xi^{\hat{j}} - c^{2}a^{ij}\partial_{j}\xi^{\hat{t}}\right).$$
(D.4)

This result is relativistic, expressed with Galilean derivatives though. It vanishes iff

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}\xi^{\hat{t}}}{dt} = 0\\ \hat{\nabla}^{(i}\xi^{\hat{j})} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}^{wij} = 0\\ \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}\xi^{\hat{i}}}{dt} - \hat{\gamma}^{wi}{}_{j}\xi^{\hat{j}} - c^{2}a^{ij}\partial_{j}\xi^{\hat{t}} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(D.5)

which are simply the conditions for  $\xi$  be a Killing field of the pseudo-Riemannian manifold.

We would like now to consider the infinite-*c* limit of (D.4). At the first place, we must provide the bahaviour of  $\varepsilon_{\rm r}$ ,  $q_{\rm ri}$  and  $p_{\rm r}a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij}$  for large *c*. This is typically of the form  $(3.120)^{84}$ 

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{\rm r} = \Pi + O(1/c^2) \\ q_{\rm ri} = c^2 P_i + \Pi_i + O(1/c^2) \\ p_{\rm r} a_{ij} + \tau_{\rm rij} = \Pi_{ij} + O(1/c^2) , \end{cases}$$
(D.6)

and (D.4) becomes:

$$\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = -\frac{\Pi}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}\xi^{\hat{t}}}{dt} + \Pi_{ij}\left(\hat{\nabla}^{i}\xi^{\hat{j}} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}^{wij}\right) + \left(P_{i} + \frac{\Pi_{i}}{c^{2}}\right)\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}\xi^{\hat{i}}}{dt} - \hat{\gamma}^{wi}{}_{j}\xi^{\hat{j}} - c^{2}a^{ij}\partial_{j}\xi^{\hat{t}}\right) + O\left(\frac{1}{c^{2}}\right).$$
(D.7)

 $<sup>^{84}</sup>$ More general behaviours have appeared in (3.86), (3.87), (3.88), or in (3.124). These choices wouldn't change our present argument though.

For this expression to remain finite at infinite c, we must impose that<sup>85</sup>

$$\partial_j \xi^t = 0, \tag{D.8}$$

which is the requirement that  $\xi$  generates a Galilean diffeomorphism. Conservation holds in the limit if expression (D.7) vanishes, which is again a threefold condition:

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\dot{D}\xi^t}{dt} = 0, \tag{D.9}$$

$$\hat{\nabla}^{(i}\xi^{\hat{j})} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}^{wij} = 0, \qquad (D.10)$$

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{\mathbf{D}}\xi^{\hat{\imath}}}{\mathrm{d}t} - \hat{\gamma}^{wi}{}_{j}\xi^{\hat{\jmath}} = 0.$$
(D.11)

Equations (D.9) and (D.10) are nothing but (3.53) i.e. the definition of a Galilean Killing field. Equation (D.11) is an extra condition, absent for generic Galilean isometries. The latter *do not guarantee the existence of a conserved Galilean current*. The break down of the conservation is read off in

$$\lim_{c \to \infty} \nabla_{\mu} I^{\mu} = P_i \left( \frac{1}{\Omega} \frac{\hat{D}\xi^{\hat{i}}}{dt} - \hat{\gamma}^{wi}{}_j \xi^{\hat{j}} \right) = \frac{P_i}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{i}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{i}} \right), \tag{D.12}$$

which agrees with (3.61) or (3.130). As stressed in section 3.1, the failure might be only apparent, if the term  $\frac{P_i}{\Omega} \left( \partial_t \xi^{\hat{i}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{w}} \xi^{\hat{i}} \right)$  turns out to be a boundary term, that would then contribute the Galilean current.

## D.2 Carrollian law from zero speed of light

We will here consider pseudo-Riemannian spacetime in Papapetrou-Randers frame (2.79)

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -c^2 \left(\Omega \mathrm{d}t - b_i \mathrm{d}x^i\right)^2 + a_{ij} \mathrm{d}x^i \mathrm{d}x^j. \tag{D.13}$$

We assume a conserved energy-momentum tensor  $T^{\mu\nu}$  and a vector field as in (D.2) with

$$\xi^{\hat{t}} = \xi^t \Omega - \xi^i b_i, \quad \xi^{\hat{i}} = \xi^i, \quad \xi_{\hat{t}} = -c^2 \xi^{\hat{t}}, \quad \xi_{\hat{i}} = a_{ij} \xi^{\hat{j}} = \xi_i + \xi_{\hat{t}} b_i.$$
(D.14)

The frame and coframe are defined in (2.105).

We now compute the on-shell divergence of the current (2.13)  $I_{\mu} = T_{\mu\nu}\xi^{\nu}$ , using eqs. (2.97):

$$\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}T^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = -\varepsilon_{r}\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_{i}\xi^{i}\right) + \left(p_{r}a^{ij} + \tau_{r}^{ij}\right)\left(\hat{\nabla}_{i}\xi_{\hat{j}} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}_{ij}\right) - q_{r}^{i}\left(\left(\hat{\partial}_{i} - \varphi_{i}\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^{j}\varpi_{ji} - \frac{1}{c^{2}\Omega}a_{ij}\partial_{t}\xi^{j}\right).$$
(D.15)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup>Following the discussion on section 3.3, one may refine the limiting procedure for the Killing fields, and reach the Galilean diffeomorphisms as  $\xi^{\hat{t}}(t, \mathbf{x}) = \xi^{\hat{t}}_{G}(t) + \frac{1}{c^2}\nu(t, \mathbf{x}) + O\left(\frac{1}{c^4}\right)$ . This would alter eq. (D.11) as  $\frac{1}{\Omega}\frac{\hat{D}\xi_i}{dt} - \hat{\gamma}^{wj}_{\ i}\xi_j - \partial_i\nu = 0$ . Similarly the arbitrary function  $\nu(t, \mathbf{x})$  would also appear in the large-*c* expansions of eqs. (2.76) and (2.77), altering the Galilean currents (3.129). Ultimately, this would have no incidence on our conclusions about the interplay between Galilean isometries and conservation. It may nevertheless provide a complementary view on the large-*c* contraction of the relativistic diffeomorphisms, possibly in line with the approach followed in ref. [106], where a further duality relationship has been established among leading Galilean and subleading Carrollian contributions (see footnote 87), and vice-versa.

Although expressed with Carrollian derivatives, this is relativistic and vanishes iff

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_i \xi^i = 0\\ \hat{\nabla}_{i}(\xi_{\hat{j})} + \xi^{\hat{t}} \hat{\gamma}_{ij} = 0\\ (\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i) \xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j \varpi_{ji} - \frac{1}{c^2\Omega} a_{ij} \partial_t \xi^j = 0. \end{cases}$$
(D.16)

These conditions define a Killing field  $\xi$  on a pseudo-Riemannian manifold.

We would like now to consider the zero-*c* limit of (D.15). We must provide the bahaviour of  $\varepsilon_{\rm r}$ ,  $q_{\rm r}^i$  and  $p_{\rm r}a^{ij} + \tau_{\rm r}^{ij}$  for small *c*, which is typically of the form (4.73), (4.74), (4.75)<sup>86</sup>

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{\rm r} = \Pi + O(c^2) \\ q_{\rm r}^i = \Pi^i + c^2 P^i + O(c^4) \\ p_{\rm r} a^{ij} + \tau_{\rm r}^{ij} = \Pi^{ij} + O(c^2) . \end{cases}$$
(D.17)

Equation (D.15) reads now:

$$\nabla_{\mu}I^{\mu} = -\Pi\left(\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_{t}\xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_{i}\xi^{i}\right) + \Pi^{ij}\left(\hat{\nabla}_{i}\xi_{\hat{j}} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}_{ij}\right) - \left(\Pi^{i} + c^{2}P^{i}\right)\left(\left(\hat{\partial}_{i} - \varphi_{i}\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^{j}\varpi_{ji} - \frac{1}{c^{2}\Omega}a_{ij}\partial_{t}\xi^{j}\right) + O\left(c^{2}\right).$$
(D.18)

Finiteness at zero c, demands<sup>87</sup>

$$\partial_t \xi^i = 0, \tag{D.19}$$

hence  $\xi$  generates a Carrollian diffeomorphism. Conservation holds in the limit if expression (D.18) vanishes. This is occurs if

$$\frac{1}{\Omega}\partial_t \xi^{\hat{t}} + \varphi_i \xi^i = 0, \qquad (D.20)$$

$$\hat{\nabla}_{(i}\xi_{\hat{j})} + \xi^{\hat{t}}\hat{\gamma}_{ij} = 0, \qquad (D.21)$$

$$\left(\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i\right)\xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^j \varpi_{ji} = 0. \tag{D.22}$$

Equations (D.20) and (D.21) are as in (4.46) i.e. the definition of a Carrollian Killing field. Equation (D.22) is an extra condition, absent for generic Carrollian isometries, which therefore *do not guarantee the existence of a conserved Carrollian current*. The disruption to the conservation is measured as

$$\lim_{c \to 0} \nabla_{\mu} I^{\mu} = -\Pi^{i} \left( \left( \hat{\partial}_{i} - \varphi_{i} \right) \xi^{\hat{t}} - 2\xi^{j} \varpi_{ji} \right), \tag{D.23}$$

in agreement with (4.54) or (4.136).

 $<sup>^{86}{\</sup>rm More}$  general behaviours have appeared in (4.114). The latter wouldn't change our present conclusions though.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Mirroring footnote 85, an option is to set  $\xi^i(t, \mathbf{x}) = \xi^i_{\rm C}(\mathbf{x}) + c^2 \nu^i(t, \mathbf{x}) + O(c^4)$ . With this, eq. (D.22) becomes  $(\hat{\partial}_i - \varphi_i) \xi^i - 2\xi^j_{\rm C} \varpi_{ji} - \frac{1}{\Omega} a_{ij} \partial_t \nu^j = 0$ , and further work would be necessary on eqs. (2.108), (2.109) and (4.134), that would not alter our final conclusions, but could shed light on the small-*c* contraction of general diffeomorphisms.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP<sup>3</sup> supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

### References

- L.D. Landau et E.M. Lifchitz, *Physique Théorique. VI*, Mécanique des fluides, Editions Mir, Moscow, Russia (1969).
- [2] C. Eckart, The Thermodynamics of irreversible processes. III. Relativistic theory of the simple fluid, Phys. Rev. 58 (1940) 919 [INSPIRE].
- [3] R.C. Tolman, *Relativity, thermodynamics and cosmology*, Clarendon Press, Oxford, U.K. (1934).
- [4] J.L. Synge, *The relativistic gas*, North Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (1957).
- [5] W. Israël, Thermodynamics of relativistic systems, Physica A 106 (1981) 204.
- [6] W. Israël, Covariant fluid mechanics and thermodynamics: an introduction, in Relativistic Fluid Dynamics, A.M. Anile and Y. Choquet-Bruhat editions, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany (1989), pp 152-210 [DOI].
- [7] T. Kambe, *Elementary fluid dynamics*, World Scientific, Singapore (2007) [DOI].
- [8] L. Rezzolla and O. Zanotti, *Relativistic hydrodynamics*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K. (2013) [ISBN: 9780198807599].
- [9] P. Romatschke, New Developments in Relativistic Viscous Hydrodynamics, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E 19 (2010) 1 [arXiv:0902.3663] [INSPIRE].
- [10] P. Kovtun, Lectures on hydrodynamic fluctuations in relativistic theories, J. Phys. A 45 (2012) 473001 [arXiv:1205.5040] [INSPIRE].
- [11] F.S. Bemfica, M.M. Disconzi and J. Noronha, Causality and existence of solutions of relativistic viscous fluid dynamics with gravity, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 104064
   [arXiv:1708.06255] [INSPIRE].
- S. Grozdanov, P.K. Kovtun, A.O. Starinets and P. Tadić, Convergence of the Gradient Expansion in Hydrodynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 251601 [arXiv:1904.01018]
   [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Grozdanov, P.K. Kovtun, A.O. Starinets and P. Tadić, The complex life of hydrodynamic modes, JHEP 11 (2019) 097 [arXiv:1904.12862] [INSPIRE].
- P. Kovtun, First-order relativistic hydrodynamics is stable, JHEP 10 (2019) 034
   [arXiv:1907.08191] [INSPIRE].
- [15] F.S. Bemfica, F.S. Bemfica, M.M. Disconzi, M.M. Disconzi, J. Noronha and J. Noronha, Nonlinear Causality of General First-Order Relativistic Viscous Hydrodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 104020 [Erratum ibid. 105 (2022) 069902] [arXiv:1907.12695] [INSPIRE].
- [16] R.E. Hoult and P. Kovtun, Stable and causal relativistic Navier-Stokes equations, JHEP 06 (2020) 067 [arXiv:2004.04102] [INSPIRE].
- [17] F.S. Bemfica, M.M. Disconzi and J. Noronha, First-Order General-Relativistic Viscous Fluid Dynamics, Phys. Rev. X 12 (2022) 021044 [arXiv:2009.11388] [INSPIRE].

- T. Dore, L. Gavassino, D. Montenegro, M. Shokri and G. Torrieri, Fluctuating relativistic dissipative hydrodynamics as a gauge theory, Annals Phys. 442 (2022) 168902
   [arXiv:2109.06389] [INSPIRE].
- [19] R.E. Hoult and P. Kovtun, Causal first-order hydrodynamics from kinetic theory and holography, arXiv:2112.14042 [INSPIRE].
- [20] W. Israël, Relativistic kinetic theory of a simple gas, J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963) 1163.
- [21] C. Marle, Sur l'établissement des équations de l'hydrodynamique des fluides relativistes dissipatifs — I. L'équation de Boltzmann relativiste, Ann. Henri Poincare A 10 (1969) 67. [http://www.numdam.org/item/AIHPA\_1969\_10\_1\_67\_0.pdf].
- [22] C. Marle, Sur l'établissement des équations de l'hydrodynamique des fluides relativistes dissipatifs — II. Méthodes de résolution approchée de l'équation de Boltzmann relativiste, Ann. Henri Poincare A 10 (1969) 127
   [http://www.numdam.org/item/AIHPA 1969 10 2 127 0.pdf].
- [23] S.R. de Groot, W.A. van Leeuwen and C.G. van Weert, *Relativistic kinetic theory*, North Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (1980) [INSPIRE].
- [24] R. Ruzziconi, Asymptotic Symmetries in the Gauge Fixing Approach and the BMS Group, PoS Modave2019 (2020) 003 [arXiv:1910.08367] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Campoleoni, L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, P.M. Petropoulos and K. Siampos, *Two-dimensional fluids and their holographic duals*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 946 (2019) 114692 [arXiv:1812.04019] [INSPIRE].
- [26] L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, P.M. Petropoulos and R. Ruzziconi, Gauges in Three-Dimensional Gravity and Holographic Fluids, JHEP 11 (2020) 092 [arXiv:2006.10082] [INSPIRE].
- [27] L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, P.M. Petropoulos and R. Ruzziconi, Fefferman-Graham and Bondi Gauges in the Fluid/Gravity Correspondence, PoS CORFU2019 (2020) 154
   [arXiv:2006.10083] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, A.C. Petkou, P.M. Petropoulos and K. Siampos, Flat holography and Carrollian fluids, JHEP 07 (2018) 165 [arXiv:1802.06809] [INSPIRE].
- [29] L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, A.C. Petkou, P.M. Petropoulos and K. Siampos, Covariant Galilean versus Carrollian hydrodynamics from relativistic fluids, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 165001 [arXiv:1802.05286] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J.-M. Lévy-Leblond, Une nouvelle limite non-relativiste du groupe de Poincaré, Ann. Henri Poincare 3 (1965) 1 [https://eudml.org/doc/75509].
- [31] N.D. Sen Gupta, On an analogue of the Galilei group, Nuovo Cim. A 44 (1966) 512.
- [32] M. Henneaux, Geometry of zero-signature space-times, Bull. Soc. Math. Belg. **31** (1979) 47 [INSPIRE].
- [33] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P. Horvathy, Celestial mechanics, conformal structures and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 3907 [hep-th/0512188] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons, P.A. Horvathy and P.M. Zhang, Carroll versus Newton and Galilei: two dual non-Einsteinian concepts of time, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 085016 [arXiv:1402.0657] [INSPIRE].
- [35] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P.A. Horvathy, Conformal Carroll groups and BMS symmetry, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 092001 [arXiv:1402.5894] [INSPIRE].

- [36] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P.A. Horvathy, Conformal Carroll groups, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 335204 [arXiv:1403.4213] [INSPIRE].
- [37] E. Cartan, Sur les variétés à connexion affine, et la théorie de la relativité généralisée (première partie), Annales Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. 40 (1923) 1.
- [38] C. Duval and P.A. Horvathy, Non-relativistic conformal symmetries and Newton-Cartan structures, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 465206 [arXiv:0904.0531] [INSPIRE].
- [39] X. Bekaert and K. Morand, Connections and dynamical trajectories in generalised Newton-Cartan gravity I. An intrinsic view, J. Math. Phys. 57 (2016) 022507 [arXiv:1412.8212] [INSPIRE].
- [40] X. Bekaert and K. Morand, Connections and dynamical trajectories in generalised Newton-Cartan gravity II. An ambient perspective, J. Math. Phys. 59 (2018) 072503
   [arXiv:1505.03739] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J. Hartong, Gauging the Carroll Algebra and Ultra-Relativistic Gravity, JHEP 08 (2015) 069 [arXiv:1505.05011] [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Festuccia, D. Hansen, J. Hartong and N.A. Obers, Torsional Newton-Cartan Geometry from the Noether Procedure, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 105023 [arXiv:1607.01926] [INSPIRE].
- [43] J. Figueroa-O'Farrill and S. Prohazka, Spatially isotropic homogeneous spacetimes, JHEP 01 (2019) 229 [arXiv:1809.01224] [INSPIRE].
- [44] K. Morand, Embedding Galilean and Carrollian geometries I. Gravitational waves, J. Math. Phys. 61 (2020) 082502 [arXiv:1811.12681] [INSPIRE].
- [45] L. Ciambelli, R.G. Leigh, C. Marteau and P.M. Petropoulos, Carroll Structures, Null Geometry and Conformal Isometries, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 046010 [arXiv:1905.02221]
   [INSPIRE].
- [46] Y. Herfray, Carrollian manifolds and null infinity: A view from Cartan geometry, arXiv:2112.09048 [INSPIRE].
- [47] A. Ashtekar, Geometry and Physics of Null Infinity, arXiv:1409.1800 [INSPIRE].
- [48] G. Barnich and C. Troessaert, Symmetries of asymptotically flat 4 dimensional spacetimes at null infinity revisited, Phys. Rev. Lett. **105** (2010) 111103 [arXiv:0909.2617] [INSPIRE].
- [49] E. Bergshoeff, J. Gomis and G. Longhi, Dynamics of Carroll Particles, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 205009 [arXiv:1405.2264] [INSPIRE].
- [50] B. Cardona, J. Gomis and J.M. Pons, Dynamics of Carroll Strings, JHEP 07 (2016) 050 [arXiv:1605.05483] [INSPIRE].
- [51] A. Bagchi, S. Chakrabortty and P. Parekh, Tensionless Strings from Worldsheet Symmetries, JHEP 01 (2016) 158 [arXiv:1507.04361] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Bagchi, Correspondence between Asymptotically Flat Spacetimes and Nonrelativistic Conformal Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 171601 [arXiv:1006.3354] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. Bagchi and R. Fareghbal, BMS/GCA Redux: Towards Flatspace Holography from Non-Relativistic Symmetries, JHEP 10 (2012) 092 [arXiv:1203.5795] [INSPIRE].
- [54] R. Fareghbal, A. Naseh and S. Rouhani, Aspects of Ultra-Relativistic Field Theories via Flat-space Holography, Phys. Lett. B 771 (2017) 189 [arXiv:1511.01774] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Bagchi, R. Basu, A. Kakkar and A. Mehra, Flat Holography: Aspects of the dual field theory, JHEP 12 (2016) 147 [arXiv:1609.06203] [INSPIRE].

- [56] W. Merbis and M. Riegler, Geometric actions and flat space holography, JHEP 02 (2020) 125 [arXiv:1912.08207] [INSPIRE].
- [57] M. Vinokur, A new formulation of the conservation equations of fluid dynamics, NASA-TM-X-62415, NASA Ames Research Center, Moffett Field, U.S.A. (1974).
- [58] L.M. Avis, A spacetime tensor formulation for continuum mechanics in general curvilinear, moving, and deforming coordinate systems, NASA-TR-R-462, NASA Langley Research Center, Hampton, U.S.A (1976).
- [59] R. Aris, Vectors, Tensors, and the Basic Equations of Fluid Mechanics, Courier Dover Publications, Mineola, U.S.A (1989) [ISBN: 9780486661100].
- [60] H.A. Carlson, G. Berkooz and J.L. Lumley, Direct numerical simulation of flow in a channel with complex, time-dependent wall geometries: a pseudospectral method, J. Comput. Phys. 121 (1995) 155.
- [61] H. Luo and T.R. Bewley, On the contravariant form of the Navier-Stokes equations in time-dependent curvilinear coordinate systems, J. Comput. Phys. 199 (2004) 355.
- [62] M. Charron, A. Zadra and C. Girard, Four-dimensional tensor equations for a classical fluid in an external gravitational field, Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. 140 (2014) 908.
- [63] K. Jensen, Aspects of hot Galilean field theory, JHEP 04 (2015) 123 [arXiv:1411.7024] [INSPIRE].
- [64] K. Jensen and A. Karch, Revisiting non-relativistic limits, JHEP 04 (2015) 155 [arXiv:1412.2738] [INSPIRE].
- [65] M. Geracie, K. Prabhu and M.M. Roberts, Fields and fluids on curved non-relativistic spacetimes, JHEP 08 (2015) 042 [arXiv:1503.02680] [INSPIRE].
- [66] J.D. Debus, M. Mendoza, S. Succi and H.J. Herrmann, Energy dissipation in flows through curved spaces, arXiv:1511.08031 [INSPIRE].
- [67] J. Armas, J. Hartong, E. Have, B.F. Nielsen and N.A. Obers, Newton-Cartan Submanifolds and Fluid Membranes, Phys. Rev. E 101 (2020) 062803 [arXiv:1912.01613] [INSPIRE].
- [68] M. Hassaine and P.A. Horvathy, Field dependent symmetries of a nonrelativistic fluid model, Annals Phys. 282 (2000) 218 [math-ph/9904022] [INSPIRE].
- [69] P.A. Horvathy and P.M. Zhang, Non-relativistic conformal symmetries in fluid mechanics, Eur. Phys. J. C 65 (2010) 607 [arXiv:0906.3594] [INSPIRE].
- [70] R.F. Penna, BMS invariance and the membrane paradigm, JHEP 03 (2016) 023
   [arXiv:1508.06577] [INSPIRE].
- [71] L. Donnay and C. Marteau, Carrollian Physics at the Black Hole Horizon, Class. Quant. Grav. 36 (2019) 165002 [arXiv:1903.09654] [INSPIRE].
- [72] R.F. Penna, Near-horizon BMS symmetries as fluid symmetries, JHEP 10 (2017) 049
   [arXiv:1703.07382] [INSPIRE].
- [73] R.F. Penna, BMS<sub>3</sub> invariant fluid dynamics at null infinity, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 044002 [arXiv:1708.08470] [INSPIRE].
- [74] J. de Boer, J. Hartong, N.A. Obers, W. Sybesma and S. Vandoren, Perfect Fluids, SciPost Phys. 5 (2018) 003 [arXiv:1710.04708] [INSPIRE].
- [75] N. Poovuttikul and W. Sybesma, First order non-Lorentzian fluids, entropy production and linear instabilities, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 065007 [arXiv:1911.00010] [INSPIRE].

- [76] J. de Boer, J. Hartong, E. Have, N.A. Obers and W. Sybesma, Non-Boost Invariant Fluid Dynamics, SciPost Phys. 9 (2020) 018 [arXiv:2004.10759] [INSPIRE].
- [77] J. de Boer, J. Hartong, N.A. Obers, W. Sybesma and S. Vandoren, Carroll Symmetry, Dark Energy and Inflation, Front. in Phys. 10 (2022) 810405 [arXiv:2110.02319] [INSPIRE].
- [78] G.W. Gibbons, C.A.R. Herdeiro, C.M. Warnick and M.C. Werner, Stationary Metrics and Optical Zermelo-Randers-Finsler Geometry, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 044022
   [arXiv:0811.2877] [INSPIRE].
- [79] L. Ciambelli and C. Marteau, Carrollian conservation laws and Ricci-flat gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 36 (2019) 085004 [arXiv:1810.11037] [INSPIRE].
- [80] R. Penrose, Structure of space-time, Battelle Rencontres 1967 lectures in mathematics and physics, Seattle U.S.A., July 16–31 1967 [C.M. DeWitt and J.A. Wheeler editions, Benjamin, U.S.A. (1968), pp 121–235] [INSPIRE].
- [81] J. Armas and A. Jain, Effective field theory for hydrodynamics without boosts, SciPost Phys. 11 (2021) 054 [arXiv:2010.15782] [INSPIRE].
- [82] N. Pinzani-Fokeeva and A. Yarom, Enstrophy without boost symmetry, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 136 [arXiv:2103.06840] [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Rajagopal and L. Thorlacius, Lifshitz hydrodynamics at generic z from a moving black brane, JHEP 07 (2021) 197 [arXiv:2104.10710] [INSPIRE].
- [84] H. Bacry and J. Levy-Leblond, Possible kinematics, J. Math. Phys. 9 (1968) 1605 [INSPIRE].
- [85] L. Ciambelli, A.C. Petkou, P.M. Petropoulos and K. Siampos, *The Robinson-Trautman spacetime and its holographic fluid*, *PoS* CORFU2016 (2017) 076 [arXiv:1707.02995] [INSPIRE].
- [86] L.D. Landau et E.M. Lifchitz, Physique Théorique. VI, Mécanique des fluides, Editions Mir, Moscow, Russia (1989).
- [87] C. Duval, On Galileian isometries, Class. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993) 2217 [arXiv:0903.1641] [INSPIRE].
- [88] E. Bergshoeff, J. Gomis, B. Rollier, J. Rosseel and T. ter Veldhuis, Carroll versus Galilei Gravity, JHEP 03 (2017) 165 [arXiv:1701.06156] [INSPIRE].
- [89] G. Montambaux, Generalized Stefan-Boltzmann law, Found. Phys. 48 (2018) 395 [arXiv:1610.05940].
- [90] V. Chandrasekaran, E.E. Flanagan, I. Shehzad and A.J. Speranza, Brown-York charges at null boundaries, JHEP 01 (2022) 029 [arXiv:2109.11567] [INSPIRE].
- [91] T. Damour, Quelques propriétés mécaniques, électromagnétiques, thermodynamiques et quantiques des trous noirs, Ph.D. Thesis, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris VI, France (1979).
- [92] I. Bredberg, C. Keeler, V. Lysov and A. Strominger, From Navier-Stokes To Einstein, JHEP 07 (2012) 146 [arXiv:1101.2451] [INSPIRE].
- [93] R.C. Tolman, On the Weight of Heat and Thermal Equilibrium in General Relativity, Phys. Rev. 35 (1930) 904 [INSPIRE].
- [94] L. Gavassino, The zeroth law of thermodynamics in special relativity, Found. Phys. 50 (2020) 1554 [arXiv:2005.06396] [INSPIRE].

- [95] M. Le Bellac and J.-M. Lévy-Leblond, Galilean electromagnetism, Nuovo Cim. B 14 (1973) 217.
- [96] J.-M. Souriau Galilean electrodynamics, CPT-85/PE-1831 (1985) [INSPIRE].
- [97] A. Bagchi, A. Mehra and P. Nandi, Field Theories with Conformal Carrollian Symmetry, JHEP 05 (2019) 108 [arXiv:1901.10147] [INSPIRE].
- [98] A. Bagchi, R. Basu, A. Mehra and P. Nandi, Field Theories on Null Manifolds, JHEP 02 (2020) 141 [arXiv:1912.09388] [INSPIRE].
- [99] A. Campoleoni, D. Francia and C. Heissenberg, On asymptotic symmetries in higher dimensions for any spin, JHEP 12 (2020) 129 [arXiv:2011.04420] [INSPIRE].
- [100] N. Gupta and N.V. Suryanarayana, Constructing Carrollian CFTs, JHEP 03 (2021) 194 [arXiv:2001.03056] [INSPIRE].
- [101] M. Henneaux and P. Salgado-ReboLledó, Carroll contractions of Lorentz-invariant theories, JHEP 11 (2021) 180 [arXiv:2109.06708] [INSPIRE].
- [102] B. Chen, R. Liu and Y.-f. Zheng, On Higher-dimensional Carrollian and Galilean Conformal Field Theories, arXiv:2112.10514 [INSPIRE].
- [103] D. Rivera-Betancour and M. Vilatte, *Revisiting the Carrollian Scalar Field*, arXiv:2207.01647 [INSPIRE].
- [104] J.-M. Lévy-Leblond, Galilean quantum field theories and a ghostless Lee model, Commun. Math. Phys. 4 (1967) 157..
- [105] L.D. Landau et E.M. Lifchitz, *Physique Théorique*. V, Physique statistique, Editions Mir, Moscow, Russia (1971).
- [106] J. Gomis and A. Kleinschmidt, Infinite-Dimensional Algebras as Extensions of Kinematic Algebras, Front. in Phys. 10 (2022) 892812 [arXiv:2202.05026] [INSPIRE].